Lake Deer Community Development District

Meeting Agenda

October 15, 2025

AGENDA

Lake Deer

Community Development District

219 E. Livingston St., Orlando, Florida 32801 Phone: 407-841-5524 – Fax: 407-839-1526

October 8, 2025

Board of Supervisors Meeting Lake Deer Community Development District

Dear Board Members:

A regular meeting of the Board of Supervisors of the Lake Deer Community Development District will be held Wednesday, October 15, 2025 at 11:00 AM at the Offices of PRIME Community Management, 375 Avenue A SE, Winter Haven, FL 33880.

Zoom Video Link: https://us06web.zoom.us/j/82629254883

Zoom Call-In Number: 1-646-876-9923 **Meeting ID:** 826 2925 4883

Following is the advance agenda for the meeting:

Board of Supervisors Meeting

- 1. Roll Call
- 2. Public Comment Period (Public Comments are limited to three (3) minutes each)
- 3. Approval of Minutes of the August 20, 2025 Board of Supervisors Meeting
- 4. Consideration of Resolution 2026-01 Amending the Fiscal Year 2025 Budget
- 5. Presentation of Memo Regarding Amendments to District Rules of Procedure
 - A. Consideration of Resolution 2026-02 Setting a Public Hearing on the Adoption of Amended and Restated Rules of Procedure for the District
- 6. Consideration of Resolution 2026-03 Spending Authorization Resolution
- 7. Consideration of Resolution 2026-04 Amending the Meeting Location for Fiscal Year 2026 Board Meetings
- 8. Consideration of Resolution 2026-05 Amending the Meeting Location for November 2025 Landowners' Election
- 9. Ratification of Agreement for Holiday Lighting
- 10. Staff Reports
 - A. Attorney
 - B. Engineer
 - i. Consideration of Work Authorization 2026-1 for Fiscal Year 2026 District Engineering Services from Dewberry
 - C. Field Manger's Report
 - D. District Manager's Report
 - i. Approval of Check Register
 - ii. Balance Sheet & Income Statement
- 11. Other Business
- 12. Supervisors Requests and Audience Comments
- 13. Adjournment

MINUTES

MINUTES OF MEETING LAKE DEER COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

The regular meeting of the Board of Supervisors of the Lake Deer Community Development District was held on **Wednesday**, **August 20**, **2025**, at 2:12 p.m. at the Offices of PRIME Community Management, 375 Avenue A SE, Winter Haven, Florida.

Present and constituting a quorum:

Bobbie Shockley Vice Chairperson Lindsey Roden Assistant Secretary Kristin Cassidy Assistant Secretary

Also present were:

Jill Burns District Manager, GMS

Meredith Hammock District Counsel, Kilinski van Wyk

Rey Malave by Zoom

Joey Duncan by Zoom

Chace Arrington by Zoom

District Engineer, Dewberry

District Engineer, Dewberry

District Engineer, Dewberry

Clayton Smith Field Manager, GMS

FIRST ORDER OF BUSINESS

Roll Call

Ms. Burns called the meeting to order and called the roll. Three Supervisors were present constituting a quorum.

SECOND ORDER OF BUSINESS Public Comment Period

Ms. Burns stated there were no members of the public present in person or joining via Zoom for comment and the next item followed.

THIRD ORDER OF BUSINESS Approval of Minutes of the July 8, 2025 Board of Supervisors Meeting

Ms. Burns presented the minutes from the July 8, 2025, Board of Supervisors meeting and asked for any questions, comments, or corrections. The Board had no changes and there was a motion of approval.

August 20, 2025 Lake Deer CDD

On MOTION by Ms. Shockley, seconded by Ms. Roden, with all in favor, the Minutes of the July 8, 2025 Board of Supervisors Meeting, were approved.

FOURTH ORDER OF BUSINESS

Consideration of Audit Services Engagement Letter for Fiscal Year 2025 Audit

Ms. Burns presented the engagement letter and stated that this was the renewal for the previously rewarded contract.

On MOTION by Ms. Roden, seconded by Ms. Shockley, with all in favor, the Audit Services Engagement Letter for Fiscal Year 2025 Audit, was approved.

FIFTH ORDER OF BUSINESS

Staff Reports

A. Attorney

Ms. Hammock reminded the Board about the deadline for their ethics training. She had nothing further for the Board and the next item followed.

B. Engineer

Mr. Malave had nothing for the Board and the next item followed.

C. Field Manager's Report

i. Consideration of Proposal for Midge Treatment

Mr. Smith presented the field manager's report which was provided in the agenda package for review. He summarized its contents for the Board. He presented a proposal for midge treatment totaling \$5,340 for monthly management at the ponds. After brief Board discussion there was a motion of approval.

On MOTION by Ms. Shockley, seconded by Ms. Roden, with all in favor, the Proposal for Midge Treatment, was approved.

August 20, 2025 Lake Deer CDD

D. District Managers Report

i. Approval of Amenity Policy Clarification Regarding Access Card Issuance

Ms. Burns noted that this is a clarification stating that residents will need to register for an amenity access card before receiving it instead of receiving it at closing which is how it is stated currently.

ii. Approval of the Check Register

Ms. Burns presented the check register which is included in the agenda package for review. She offered to answer any questions the Board may have. There being none, there was a motion of approval.

On MOTION by Ms. Roden, seconded by Ms. Shockley, with all in favor, the Check Register, was approved.

ii. Balance Sheet & Income Statement

Ms. Burns stated the financial statements were included in the agenda package for review. There is no action necessary from the Board.

SIXTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Other Business

There being no comments, the next item followed.

SEVENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Supervisors' Requests and Audience Comments

There being no comments, the next item followed.

EIGHTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Adjournment

Ms. Burns asked for a motion to adjourn the meeting.

On MOTION by Ms. Roden, seconded by Ms. Shockley, with all in favor, the meeting was adjourned.

Secretary/Assistant Secretary	Chairman/Vice Chairman

SECTION IV

RESOLUTION 2026-01

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF LAKE DEER COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT AMENDING THE FISCAL YEAR 2025 GENERAL BUDGET; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

WHEREAS, the Lake Deer Community Development District ("District") is a local unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, *Florida Statutes*, being situated entirely within Polk County, Florida; and

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the District ("**Board**") previously adopted a final General Fund Budget ("**Budget**") for the fiscal year beginning October 1, 2024, and ending September 30, 2025 ("**Fiscal Year 2025**"); and

WHEREAS, the Board desires to amend the Fiscal Year 2025 Budget to reflect changes to budgeted revenues and expenses approved during Fiscal Year 2025; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Chapters 189 and 190, *Florida Statutes*, the Board is authorized to amend the Fiscal Year 2025 Budget within sixty (60) days following the end of Fiscal Year 2025; and

WHEREAS, the Board finds that it is in the best interest of the District and its landowners to amend the Fiscal Year 2025 Budget to reflect the actual appropriations.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF LAKE DEER COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT:

SECTION 1. BUDGET AMENDMENT.

- **a.** The Board has reviewed the proposed amended Budget, copies of which are on file with the office of the District Manager and at the District's Records Office, and hereby approves certain amendments thereto, as shown in Section 2 below.
- **b.** The amended Budget attached hereto as **Exhibit A** and incorporated herein by reference as further amended by the Board is hereby adopted in accordance with the provisions of sections 190.008(2)(a) and 189.016(6), *Florida Statutes*; provided, however, that the comparative figures contained in the amended Budget as adopted by the Board (together, "**Adopted Annual Budget**") may be further revised as deemed necessary by the District Manager to further reflect actual revenues and expenditures for Fiscal Year 2025.
- c. The Adopted Annual Budget shall be maintained in the office of the District Manager and the District Records Office and identified as "The Adopted Budget for Lake Deer

Community Development District for the Fiscal Year Ending September 30, 2025, as amended and adopted by the Board of Supervisors effective October 8, 2025."

SECTION 2. APPROPRIATIONS. There is hereby appropriated out of the revenues of the District, the fiscal year beginning October 1, 2024, and ending September 30, 2025, the sums set forth below, to be raised by special assessments or otherwise, which sums are deemed by the Board to be necessary to defray all expenditures of the District during said budget year, to be divided and appropriated in the following fashion:

Secretary/Assistant Secretary	Chairperson, Board of Supervisors
ATTEST:	LAKE DEER COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT
PASSED AND ADOPTED this 1	5th day of October 2025.
SECTION 5. EFFECTIVE DAT	TE. This Resolution shall take effect upon adoption.
	The invalidity or unenforceability of any one or more et the validity or enforceability of the remaining portions
SECTION 3. CONFLICTS. All with this Resolution are, to the extent of so	l District resolutions or parts thereof in actual conflict uch conflict, superseded and repealed.
TOTAL ALL FUNDS	
DEBT SERVICE FUND (SERIES	
TOTAL GENERAL FUND	

Amended Fiscal Year 2025 Budget

Exhibit A:

EXHIBIT A: Amended Fiscal Year 2025 Budget

Lake Deer

Community Development District

Amended Budget FY 2025



Table of Contents

1-2	General Fund
-----	--------------

Lake Deer

Community Development District

Amended Budget General Fund

		Adopted				Amended		Projected
		Budget		Increase /		Budget	Thru	
Description		FY2025		(Decrease)		FY2025		9/30/25
Revenues								
Special Assessments - Tax Roll	\$	477,399	\$	1,839	\$	479,238	\$	479,238
Interest Income	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-
Carry Forward	\$	-	\$	59,382	\$	59,382	\$	59,382
Total Revenues	\$	477,399	\$	61,221	\$	538,620	\$	538,620
Expenditures:								
General & Administrative:								
Supervisor Fees	\$	12,000	\$	(9,200)	\$	2,800	\$	2,800
FICA Expense	\$	-	\$	153	\$	153	\$	153
Engineering	\$	12,500	\$	(4,984)	\$	7,516	\$	7,516
Attorney	\$	25,000	\$	(15,882)	\$	9,118	\$	9,118
Annual Audit	\$	6,000	\$	(200)	\$	5,800	\$	5,800
Assessment Administration	\$	5,250	\$	-	\$	5,250	\$	5,250
Arbitrage Rebate	\$	450	\$	-	\$	450	\$	450
Dissemination Agent	\$	5,565	\$	700	\$	6,265	\$	6,265
Trustee Fees	\$	4,500	\$	-	\$	4,500	\$	4,500
Management Fees	\$	42,500	\$	0	\$	42,500	\$	42,500
Information Technology	\$	1,890	\$	-	\$	1,890	\$	1,890
Website Maintenance	\$	1,260	\$	-	\$	1,260	\$	1,260
Postage & Delivery	\$	1,000	\$	439	\$	1,439	\$	1,439
Insurance General Liability	\$	6,429	\$	7	\$	6,435	\$	6,435
Printing & Binding	\$	500	\$	(496)	\$	4	\$	4
Legal Advertising	\$	2,500	\$	987	\$	3,487	\$	3,487
Administrative Contingency	\$	2,000	\$	(893)	\$	1,107	\$	1,107
Office Supplies	\$	625	\$	(598)		27	\$	27
Dues, Licenses & Subscriptions	\$	175	\$	-	\$	175	\$	175
Administrative Expenses	\$	130,144	\$	(29,968)	\$	100,175	\$	100,175
Operations & Maintenance								
Field Operations								
Property Insurance	\$	10,000	\$	(1,122)	\$	8.878	\$	8,878
Field Management	\$	15,000	\$	-	\$	15,000	\$	15,000
Landscape Maintenancce	\$	55,580	\$	28,804	\$	84,384	\$	84,384
Landscape Replacement	\$	10,000	\$	(2,325)		7,675	\$	7,675
Lake Maintenance	\$	12,600	\$	3,250		15,850	\$	15,850
Streetlights	\$	45,000	\$	(19,067)		25,933	\$	25,933
Electric	\$	3,500	\$	(3,195)		305	\$	305
Water & Sewer	\$	10,000	\$	18,907		28,907	\$	28,907
Sidewalk & Asphalt Maintenance	\$	2,500	\$	(2,500)		-	\$	-
Irrigation Repairs	\$	7,500	\$	(5,440)		2,060	\$	2,060
General Repairs & Maintenance	\$	15,000	\$	(7,562)		7,438	\$	7,438
Field Contingency	\$	7,500	\$	35,664	\$	43,164	\$	43,164
Total Operations & Maintenance	\$	194,180	\$	45,414	\$	239,594	\$	239,594
Total Opel ations & maintenance	3	174,100	Þ	73,414	Ψ	437,374	Þ	437,374

Lake Deer

Community Development District

Amended Budget General Fund

Description	Adopted Budget FY2025	Increase / (Decrease)	Amended Budget FY2025	Projected Thru 9/30/25
Amenity Expenditures				
Amenity - Electric	\$ 14,400	\$ 250	\$ 14,650	\$ 14,650
Amenity - Water	\$ 4,500	\$ 10,079	\$ 14,579	\$ 14,579
Playground Lease	\$ 36,375	\$ (9)	\$ 36,366	\$ 36,366
Internet	\$ 2,500	\$ (1,495)	\$ 1,005	\$ 1,005
Pest Control	\$ 1,300	\$ (290)	\$ 1,010	\$ 1,010
Janitorial Services	\$ 15,000	\$ (5,207)	\$ 9,793	\$ 9,793
Security Services	\$ 34,000	\$ (16,547)	\$ 17,453	\$ 17,453
Pool Maintenance	\$ 15,000	\$ 14,448	\$ 29,448	\$ 29,448
Amenity Management	\$ 12,500	\$ 0	\$ 12,500	\$ 12,500
Amenity Repairs & Maintenance	\$ 10,000	\$ (10,000)	\$ -	\$ -
Amenity Contingency	\$ 7,500	\$ (2,859)	\$ 4,641	\$ 4,641
Capital Outlay	\$ -	\$ 57,406	\$ 57,406	\$ 57,406
Total Amenity Expenditures	\$ 153,075	\$ 45,775	\$ 198,850	\$ 198,850
Total Expenditures	\$ 477,399	\$ 61,221	\$ 538,620	\$ 538,620
Other Financing Sources/(Uses):				
Other Financing Sources/(Uses)	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -
Total Other Financing Uses	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -
Total Expenditures & Other Financing Uses	\$ 477,399	\$ 61,221	\$ 538,620	\$ 538,620
Excess Revenues/(Expenditures)	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -

SECTION V



MEMORANDUM

To: Board of Supervisors; District Staff

From: Kilinski | Van Wyk PLLC

Date: September 1, 2025

Re: Updated Provisions of the District's Rules of Procedure

Please find attached to this memorandum an updated version of the previously adopted Rules of Procedure ("Rules"). Revisions were made to maintain consistency between the Rules and current Florida law, including statutory changes adopted in the 2025 Legislative Session, as well as to facilitate greater efficiency in the operation of the District. An explanation of each material change to the Rules is provided below. Minor formatting or proofreading changes are not summarized. Should you have any questions regarding the revisions to the Rules, please do not hesitate to contact your KVW attorney.

Business Hours

Language was added to Rules 1.0(3) and 3.11(1)(d) to clarify that the normal business hours of the District are 9:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m., Monday through Friday, excluding holidays.

Public Meetings, Hearings, and Workshops

Language was added to Rule 1.3(1)(d) to provide an earlier deadline for individuals to request accommodations for meeting participation. An individual requiring special accommodations to participate in the meeting, hearing, or workshop must contact the office of the District Manager at least three (3) business days prior to the scheduled meeting, hearing, or workshop.

Language was added to Rule 1.3(3) to provide examples of what may constitute "good cause" to amend a meeting agenda.

Language was added to Rule 1.3(6) to require that the notice for an emergency meeting include the specific reasons for the emergency meeting.

Notice of Rule Development

Rule 2.0(2) was revised to reflect the recent legislative change requiring the Notice of Rule Development to be published at least seven (7) days prior to the notice of rulemaking and thirty-five (35) days prior to the public hearing on the proposed rule. Rule 2.0(2) was also revised to require the Notice of Rule Development to include the following: (1) the grant of rulemaking authority for the proposed rule and the law being implemented; and (2) the proposed rule number.



Notices of Rulemaking

Rule 2.0(3) was also revised to reflect the recent legislative changes requiring the Notice of Rulemaking to include the following: (1) the proposed rule number; (2) the name, email address, and telephone number of the staff member who may be contacted regarding the intended action; and (3) the website where the statement of estimated regulatory costs may be viewed in its entirety, if applicable.

Rule 2.0(3) was further revised to require any material proposed to be incorporated by reference be available for inspection and copying by the public at the time of publication of the Notice of Rulemaking and to permit the Notice of Rulemaking to be delivered electronically to all persons named in the proposed rule or who have requested advance notice of rulemaking.

Petitions to Initiate Rulemaking

Rule 2.0(5) was revised to require the District's Board of Supervisors to initiate rulemaking proceedings within thirty (30) calendar days of receiving a petition to initiate rulemaking proceedings, in accordance with Florida Statutes.

Emergency Rule Adoption

Rule 2.0(8) was amended to permit the District's Board of Supervisors to adopt an emergency rule if it is necessitated by immediate danger to the public health, safety, or welfare, or if the Legislature authorizes the Board of Supervisors to adopt emergency rules. Notice of the emergency rules must include the Board of Supervisors' findings of immediate danger, necessity, and procedural fairness or a citation to the grant of emergency rulemaking authority.

Rule Variances

Rule 2.0(12)(a) was amended to include safety-related concerns as an example of a "substantial hardship" which could justify a rule variance.

Competitive Purchases

Rule 3.0(3) was revised to incorporate the recent legislative change that prohibits the District from penalizing a bidder for performing a larger volume of construction work for the District or rewarding a bidder for performing a smaller volume of construction work for the District on a public works project as defined in Section 255.0992, *Florida Statutes*. A public works project is defined as "an activity that is paid for with any local or state-appropriated funds and that consists of the construction, maintenance, repair, renovation, remodeling, or improvement of a building, road, street, sewer, storm drain, water system, site development, irrigation system, reclamation project, gas or electrical distribution system, gas or electrical substation, or other facility, project, or portion thereof owned in whole or in part by any political subdivision." A public works project does <u>not</u> include the provision of goods, services, or work incidental to the public works project, such as security services, janitorial services, landscape services, maintenance services, or any other services that do not require a construction contracting license or involve supplying or carrying construction materials for a public works project.



Auditor Selection Committee Notices

Rule 3.2(6) was revised to require seven (7) days' notice of Auditor Selection Committee meetings, in accordance with Florida Law regarding meeting notices.

Purchase of Insurance

Rule 3.3(2)(g) was amended to remove "geographic location" from the list of evaluation criteria for the purchase of insurance.

Construction Contract Bids

Rule 3.5(2)(e) was amended to clarify that mistakes in arithmetic extension of pricing may be corrected by the Board provided such corrections do not result in a material change to the bid amount or create an unfair advantage.

Emergency Construction Service Purchases

Rule 3.5(5) was amended to clarify the circumstances under which the District may undertake an emergency purchase of construction services.

Bid Protests

Rules 3.11(4) and (5) were amended to provide additional details regarding the required procedures for bid protests.

Facsimile Notices, Generally

Changes were made throughout the Rules to remove facsimile as a method of notice and to add electronic mail as an acceptable method of notice where permitted by law.

SECTION A

RESOLUTION 2026-02

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE LAKE DEER COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT TO DESIGNATE DATE, TIME AND PLACE OF PUBLIC HEARING AND AUTHORIZATION TO PUBLISH NOTICE OF SUCH HEARING FOR THE PURPOSE OF ADOPTING RESTATED RULES OF PROCEDURE; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE

WHEREAS, Lake Deer Community Development District (the "District") is a local unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, *Florida Statutes*, being situated entirely within Polk County, Florida; and

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the District (the "Board") is authorized by Section 190.011(5), *Florida Statutes*, to adopt rules and orders pursuant to Chapter 120, *Florida Statutes*; and

WHEREAS, the Board previously adopted *Rules of Procedure* to govern the operation and administration of the District and now wishes to set a public hearing to consider amendments thereto.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE LAKE DEER COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT:

SECTION 1. A Public Hearing will be held to adopt the District's Amended and Restated Rules of Procedure on Wednesday, December 17, 2025, at 11:00 AM, at Offices of PRIME Community Management, 375 Avenue A SE, Winter Haven, Florida 33880.

SECTION 2. The District Secretary is directed to publish notice of the hearing in accordance with Section 120.54, *Florida Statutes*.

SECTION 3. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption.

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 15th day of October 2025.

ATTEST:	LAKE DEER COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT
Secretary/Assistant Secretary	Chairperson, Board of Supervisors

Exhibit A: Proposed Amended and Restated Rules of Procedure

RULES OF PROCEDURE LAKE DEER COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

EFFECTIVE AS OF [DATE]

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Rule 1.0 General		2
<u>Rule 1.1</u>	Board of Supervisors; Officers and Voting.	3
<u>Rule 1.2</u>	District Offices; Public Information and Inspection of Records; Poservice Contract Requirements; Financial Disclosure Coordination	
<u>Rule 1.3</u>	Public Meetings, Hearings, and Workshops.	10
<u>Rule 1.4</u>	Internal Controls to Prevent Fraud, Waste and Abuse	15
Rule 2.0 Rulema	king Proceedings.	16
Rule 3.0 Compet	titive Purchase.	22
Rule 3.1	Procedure Under the Consultants' Competitive Negotiations Act.	27
<u>Rule 3.2</u>	Procedure Regarding Auditor Selection.	31
<u>Rule 3.3</u>	Purchase of Insurance.	35
<u>Rule 3.4</u>	Pre-qualification.	37
<u>Rule 3.5</u>	Construction Contracts, Not Design-Build.	43
<u>Rule 3.6</u>	Construction Contracts, Design-Build.	47
<u>Rule 3.7</u>	Payment and Performance Bonds.	52
<u>Rule 3.8</u>	Goods, Supplies, and Materials.	53
<u>Rule 3.9</u>	Maintenance Services.	57
<u>Rule 3.10</u>	Contractual Services.	60
Rule 3.11	Protests with Respect to Proceedings under Rules 3.1, 3.2, 3.3, 3.4, 3.6, 3.8, and 3.9.	
Rule 4.0 Effective	<u>re Date.</u>	64

Rule 1.0 General.

- (1) The Lake Deer Community Development District ("District") was created pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 190 of the Florida Statutes, and was established to provide for the ownership, operation, maintenance, and provision of various capital facilities and services within its jurisdiction. The purpose of these rules ("Rules") is to describe the general operations of the District.
- (2) Definitions located within any section of these Rules shall be applicable within all other sections, unless specifically stated to the contrary.
- (3) Unless specifically permitted by a written agreement with the District, the District does not accept documents filed by electronic mail or facsimile transmission. Filings are only accepted during normal business hours, which are 9:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m., Monday through Friday, excluding holidays.
- (4) A Rule of the District shall be effective upon adoption by affirmative vote of the District Board. After a Rule becomes effective, it may be repealed or amended only through the rulemaking procedures specified in these Rules. Notwithstanding, the District may immediately suspend the application of a Rule if the District determines that the Rule conflicts with Florida law. In the event that a Rule conflicts with Florida law and its application has not been suspended by the District, such Rule should be interpreted in the manner that best effectuates the intent of the Rule while also complying with Florida law. If the intent of the Rule absolutely cannot be effectuated while complying with Florida law, the Rule shall be automatically suspended.

Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. Law Implemented: §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat.

Rule 1.1 Board of Supervisors; Officers and Voting.

- (1) <u>Board of Supervisors.</u> The Board of Supervisors of the District ("Board") shall consist of five (5) members. Members of the Board ("Supervisors") appointed by ordinance or rule or elected by landowners must be citizens of the United States of America and residents of the State of Florida. Supervisors elected or appointed by the Board to elector seats must be citizens of the United States of America, residents of the State of Florida and of the District and registered to vote with the Supervisor of Elections of the county in which the District is located and for those elected, shall also be qualified to run by the Supervisor of Elections. The Board shall exercise the powers granted to the District under Florida law.
 - (a) Supervisors shall hold office for the term specified by Section 190.006 of the Florida Statutes. If, during the term of office, any Board member(s) vacates their office, the remaining member(s) of the Board shall fill the vacancies by appointment for the remainder of the term(s). If three or more vacancies exist at the same time, a quorum, as defined herein, shall not be required to appoint replacement Board members.
 - (b) Three (3) members of the Board shall constitute a quorum for the purposes of conducting business, exercising powers and all other purposes. A Board member shall be counted toward the quorum if physically present at the meeting, regardless of whether such Board member is prohibited from, or abstains from, participating in discussion or voting on a particular item.
 - (c) Action taken by the Board shall be upon a majority vote of the members present, unless otherwise provided in the Rules or required by law. Subject to Rule 1.3(10), a Board member participating in the Board meeting by teleconference or videoconference shall be entitled to vote and take all other action as though physically present.
 - (d) Unless otherwise provided for by an act of the Board, any one Board member may attend a mediation session on behalf of the Board. Any agreement resulting from such mediation session must be approved pursuant to subsection (1)(c) of this Rule.
- (2) <u>Officers.</u> At the first Board meeting held after each election where the newly elected members take office, the Board shall select a Chairperson, Vice-Chairperson, Secretary, Assistant Secretary, and Treasurer.
 - (a) The Chairperson must be a member of the Board. If the Chairperson resigns from that office or ceases to be a member of the Board, the Board shall select a Chairperson. The Chairperson serves at the pleasure of the Board. The Chairperson shall be authorized to execute resolutions and contracts on the District's behalf. The Chairperson shall convene and conduct all meetings of the Board. In the event the Chairperson is unable to attend a

meeting, the Vice-Chairperson shall convene and conduct the meeting. The Chairperson or Vice-Chairperson may delegate the responsibility of conducting the meeting to the District's manager ("District Manager") or District Counsel, in whole or in part.

- (b) The Vice-Chairperson shall be a member of the Board and shall have such duties and responsibilities as specifically designated by the Board from time to time. The Vice-Chairperson has the authority to execute resolutions and contracts on the District's behalf in the absence of the Chairperson. If the Vice-Chairperson resigns from office or ceases to be a member of the Board, the Board shall select a Vice-Chairperson. The Vice-Chairperson serves at the pleasure of the Board.
- (c) The Secretary of the Board serves at the pleasure of the Board and need not be a member of the Board. The Secretary shall be responsible for maintaining the minutes of Board meetings and may have other duties assigned by the Board from time to time. An employee of the District Manager may serve as Secretary. The Secretary shall be bonded by a reputable and qualified bonding company in at least the amount of one million dollars (\$1,000,000), or have in place a fidelity bond, employee theft insurance policy, or a comparable product in at least the amount of one million dollars (\$1,000,000) that names the District as an additional insured.
- (d) The Treasurer need not be a member of the Board but must be a resident of the State of Florida. The Treasurer shall perform duties described in Section 190.007(2) and (3) of the Florida Statutes, as well as those assigned by the Board from time to time. The Treasurer shall serve at the pleasure of the Board. The Treasurer shall either be bonded by a reputable and qualified bonding company in at least the amount of one million dollars (\$1,000,000), or have in place a fidelity bond, employee theft insurance policy, or a comparable product in at least the amount of one million dollars (\$1,000,000) that names the District as an additional insured.
- (e) In the event that both the Chairperson and Vice-Chairperson are absent from a Board meeting and a quorum is present, the Board may designate one of its members or a member of District staff to convene and conduct the meeting. In such circumstances, any of the Board members present are authorized to execute agreements, resolutions, and other documents approved by the Board at such meeting. In the event that the Chairperson and Vice-Chairperson are both unavailable to execute a document previously approved by the Board, the Secretary or any Assistant Secretary may execute such document.
- (f) The Board may assign additional duties to District officers from time to time, which include, but are not limited to, executing documents on behalf of the District.

- (g) The Chairperson, Vice-Chairperson, and any other person authorized by District Resolution may sign checks and warrants for the District, countersigned by the Treasurer or other persons authorized by the Board.
- (3) <u>Committees.</u> The Board may establish committees of the Board, either on a permanent or temporary basis, to perform specifically designated functions. Committees may include individuals who are not members of the Board. Such functions may include, but are not limited to, review of bids, proposals, and qualifications, contract negotiations, personnel matters, and budget preparation. Florida Open Meetings Laws apply to such Committees.
- (4) Record Book. The Board shall keep a permanent record book entitled "Record of Proceedings," in which shall be recorded minutes of all meetings, resolutions, proceedings, certificates, and corporate acts. The Records of Proceedings shall be located at a District office and shall be available for inspection by the public.
- (5) Meetings. For each fiscal year, the Board shall establish a schedule of regular meetings, which shall be published in a newspaper of general circulation in the county in which the District is located and filed with the local general-purpose governments within whose boundaries the District is located. All meetings of the Board and Committees serving an advisory function shall be open to the public in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 286 of the Florida Statutes.
- (6) Voting Conflict of Interest. The Board shall comply with Section 112.3143 of the Florida Statutes, so as to ensure the proper disclosure of conflicts of interest on matters coming before the Board for a vote. For the purposes of this section, "voting conflict of interest" shall be governed by the Florida Constitution and Chapters 112 and 190 of the Florida Statutes, as amended from time to time. Generally, a voting conflict exists when a Board member is called upon to vote on an item which would inure to the Board member's special private gain or loss or the Board member knows would inure to the special private gain or loss of a principal by whom the Board member is retained, the parent organization or subsidiary of a corporate principal, a business associate, or a relative including only a father, mother, son, daughter, husband, wife, brother, sister, father-in-law, mother-in-law, son-in-law, and daughter-in-law.
 - (a) When a Board member knows the member has a conflict of interest on a matter coming before the Board, the member should notify the Board's Secretary prior to participating in any discussion with the Board on the matter. The Board member shall publicly announce the conflict of interest at the meeting. This announcement shall appear in the minutes.

If the Board member was elected at a landowner's election or appointed to fill a vacancy of a seat last filled at a landowner's election, the Board member may vote or abstain from voting on the matter at issue. If the Board member was elected by electors residing within the District, the Board member is prohibited from voting on the matter at issue. In the event that the Board member intends to abstain or is prohibited from voting, such Board member shall not participate in the discussion on the item subject to the vote.

The Board's Secretary shall prepare a Memorandum of Voting Conflict (Form 8B) which shall then be signed by the Board member, filed with the Board's Secretary, and provided for attachment to the minutes of the meeting within fifteen (15) days of the meeting.

- (b) If a Board member inadvertently votes on a matter and later learns he or she has a conflict on the matter, the member shall immediately notify the Board's Secretary. Within fifteen (15) days of the notification, the member shall file the appropriate Memorandum of Voting Conflict, which will be attached to the minutes of the Board meeting during which the vote on the matter occurred. The Memorandum of Voting Conflict shall immediately be provided to other Board members and shall be read publicly at the next meeting held subsequent to the filing of the Memorandum of Voting Conflict. The Board member's vote is unaffected by this filing.
- (c) It is not a conflict of interest for a Board member, the District Manager, or an employee of the District to be a stockholder, officer or employee of a landowner or of an entity affiliated with a landowner.
- (d) In the event that a Board member elected at a landowner's election or appointed to fill a vacancy of a seat last filled at a landowner's election, has a continuing conflict of interest, such Board member is permitted to file a Memorandum of Voting Conflict at any time in which it shall state the nature of the continuing conflict. Only one such continuing Memorandum of Voting Conflict shall be required to be filed for each term the Board member is in office.

Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. Law Implemented: §§ 112.3143, 190.006, 190.007, Fla. Stat.

Rule 1.2 District Offices; Public Information and Inspection of Records; Policies; Service Contract Requirements; Financial Disclosure Coordination.

- (1) <u>District Offices.</u> Unless otherwise designated by the Board, the official District office shall be the District Manager's office identified by the District Manager. If the District Manager's office is not located within the county in which the District is located, the Board shall designate a local records office within such county which shall at a minimum contain, but not be limited to, the following documents:
 - (a) Agenda packages for prior twenty-four (24) months and next meeting;
 - (b) Official minutes of meetings, including adopted resolutions of the Board;
 - (c) Names and addresses of current Board members and District Manager, unless such addresses are protected from disclosure by law;
 - (d) Adopted engineer's reports;
 - (e) Adopted assessment methodologies/reports;
 - (f) Adopted disclosure of public financing;
 - (g) Limited Offering Memorandum for each financing undertaken by the District;
 - (h) Proceedings, certificates, bonds given by all employees, and any and all corporate acts;
 - (i) District policies and rules;
 - (j) Fiscal year end audits; and
 - (k) Adopted budget for the current fiscal year.

The District Manager shall ensure that each District records office contains the documents required by Florida law.

Qublic Records. District public records include, but are not limited to, all documents, papers, letters, maps, books, tapes, photographs, films, sound recordings, data processing software, or other material, regardless of the physical form, characteristics, or means of transmission, made or received in connection with the transaction of official business of the District. All District public records not otherwise restricted by law may be copied or inspected at the District Manager's office during regular business hours. Certain District records can also be inspected and copied at the District's local records office during regular business hours. All written public records requests shall be directed to the Secretary who by these rules

is appointed as the District's records custodian. Regardless of the form of the request, any Board member or staff member who receives a public records request shall immediately forward or communicate such request to the Secretary for coordination of a prompt response. The Secretary, after consulting with District Counsel as to the applicability of any exceptions under the public records laws, shall be responsible for responding to the public records request. At no time can the District be required to create records or summaries of records, or prepare opinions regarding District policies, in response to a public records request.

- (3) <u>Service Contracts.</u> Any contract for services, regardless of cost, shall include provisions required by law that require the contractor to comply with public records laws. The District Manager shall be responsible for initially enforcing all contract provisions related to a contractor's duty to comply with public records laws.
- **(4)** Fees; Copies. Copies of public records shall be made available to the requesting person at a charge of \$0.15 per page for one-sided copies and \$0.20 per page for two-sided copies if not more than 8 ½ by 14 inches. For copies of public records in excess of the sizes listed in this section and for outside duplication services, the charge shall be equal to the actual cost of reproduction. Certified copies of public records shall be made available at a charge of one dollar (\$1.00) per page. If the nature or volume of records requested requires extensive use of information technology resources or extensive clerical or supervisory assistance, the District may charge, in addition to the duplication charge, a special service charge that is based on the cost the District incurs to produce the records requested. This charge may include, but is not limited to, the cost of information technology resource, employee labor, and fees charged to the District by consultants employed in fulfilling the request. In cases where the special service charge is based in whole or in part on the costs incurred by the District due to employee labor, consultant fees, or other forms of labor, those portions of the charge shall be calculated based on the lowest labor cost of the individual(s) who is/are qualified to perform the labor, taking into account the nature ander volume of the public records to be inspected or copied. The charge may include the labor costs of supervisory and/or clerical staff whose assistance is required to complete the records request, in accordance with Florida law. For purposes of this Rule, the word "extensive" shall mean that it will take more than 15 minutes to locate, review for confidential information, copy and re-file the requested material. In cases where extensive personnel time is determined by the District to be necessary to safeguard original records being inspected, the special service charge provided for in this section shall apply. If the total fees, including but not limited to special service charges, are anticipated to exceed twenty-five dollars (\$25.00), then, prior to commencing work on the request, the District will inform the person making the public records request of the estimated cost, with the understanding that the final cost may vary from that estimate. If the person making the public records request decides to proceed with the request, payment of the estimated cost is required in advance. Should the person fail to pay the estimate, the District is under no duty to produce the requested records. After the request has been fulfilled, additional payments or credits may be

- due. The District is under no duty to produce records in response to future records requests if the person making the request owes the District for past unpaid duplication charges, special service charges, or other required payments or credits.
- (5) <u>Records Retention.</u> The Secretary of the District shall be responsible for retaining the District's records in accordance with applicable Florida law.
- (6) <u>Policies.</u> The Board may adopt policies related to the conduct of its business and the provision of services either by resolution or motion.
- Financial Disclosure Coordination. Unless specifically designated by Board resolution otherwise, the Secretary shall serve as the Financial Disclosure Coordinator ("Coordinator") for the District as required by the Florida Commission on Ethics ("Commission"). The Coordinator shall create, maintain and update a list of the names, e-mail addresses, physical addresses, and names of the agency of, and the office or position held by, all Supervisors and other persons required by Florida law to file a statement of financial interest due to theihis or her affiliation with the District ("Reporting Individual"). The Coordinator shall provide this list to the Commission by February 1 of each year, which list shall be current as of December 31 of the prior year. Each Supervisor and Reporting Individual shall promptly notify the Coordinator in writing if there are any changes to such person's name, e-mail address, or physical address. Each Supervisor and Reporting Individual shall promptly notify the Commission in the manner prescribed by the Commission if there are any changes to such person's e-mail address.

Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat.

Law Implemented: §§ 112.31446(3), 112.3145(8)(a)1., 119.07, 119.0701, 190.006, Fla. Stat.

Rule 1.3 Public Meetings, Hearings, and Workshops.

- (1) Notice. Except in emergencies, or as otherwise required by statute or these Rules, at least seven (7) days' public notice shall be given of any public meeting, hearing or workshop of the Board. Public notice shall be given by publication in a newspaper of general circulation in the District and in the county in which the District is located. "General circulation" means a publication that is printed and published at least once a week for the preceding year, offering at least 25% of its words in the English language, qualifies as a periodicals material for postal purposes in the county in which the District is located, is for sale to the public generally, is available to the public generally for the publication of official or other notices, and is customarily containing information of a public character or of interest or of value to the residents or owners of property in the county where published, or of interest or of value to the general public. The annual meeting notice required to be published by Section 189.015 of the Florida Statutes, shall be published in a newspaper not of limited subject matter, which is published at least five days a week, unless the only newspaper in the county is published less than five days a week, and shall satisfy the requirement to give at least seven (7) days' public notice stated herein. Each Notice shall state, as applicable:
 - (a) The date, time and place of the meeting, hearing or workshop;
 - (b) A brief description of the nature, subjects, and purposes of the meeting, hearing, or workshop;
 - (c) The District office address for the submission of requests for copies of the agenda, as well as a contact name and telephone number for verbal requests for copies of the agenda; and
 - (d) The following or substantially similar language: "Pursuant to provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act, any person requiring special accommodations to participate in this meeting/hearing/workshop is asked to advise the District Office at least forty-eight (48) hoursthree (3) business days before the meeting/hearing/workshop by contacting the District Manager at _______. If you are hearing or speech impaired, please contact the Florida Relay Service at 1 (800) 955-8770 or 1 (800) 955-8771, who can aid you in contacting the District Office."
 - (e) The following or substantially similar language: "A person who decides to appeal any decision made at the meeting/hearing/workshop with respect to any matter considered at the meeting/hearing/workshop is advised that person will need a record of the proceedings and that accordingly, the person may need to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made including the testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based."

(f) The following or substantially similar language: "The meeting [or hearing or workshop] may be continued in progress without additional notice to a time, date, and location stated on the record."

The date, time, and place of each meeting, hearing, or workshop of the Board shall additionally be posted on the District's website at least seven (7) days before each meeting, hearing, or workshop.

- (2) <u>Mistake.</u> In the event that a meeting is held under the incorrect assumption that notice required by law and these Rules has been given, the Board at its next properly noticed meeting shall cure such defect by considering the agenda items from the prior meeting individually and anew.
- (3) Agenda. The District Manager, under the guidance of District Counsel and the Vice-Chairperson, shall prepare an agenda meeting/hearing/workshop. The agenda and any meeting materials available in an electronic format, excluding any confidential and any confidential and exempt information, shall be available to the public at least seven days before the meeting/hearing/workshop, except in an emergency. Meeting materials shall be defined as, and limited to, the agenda, meeting minutes, resolutions, and agreements of the District that District staff deems necessary for Board approval ("Meeting Materials"). Inclusion of additional materials for Board consideration other than those defined herein as "meeting materials" shall not convert such materials into Meeting Materials. For good cause, which includes but is not limited to emergency situations, time-sensitive matters, or newly discovered information essential for Board consideration, the agenda may be changed after it is first made available for distribution, and additional materials may be added or provided under separate cover at the meeting. The requirement of good cause shall be liberally construed to allow the District to efficiently conduct business and to avoid the expenses associated with special meetings.

The District may, but is not required to, use the following format, or similar format, in preparing its agenda for its regular meetings:

Call to order
Roll call
Public comment
Organizational matters
Review of minutes
Specific items of old business
Specific items of new business
Staff reports

- (a) District Counsel
- (b) District Engineer
- (c) District Manager
 - 1. Financial Report

2. Approval of Expenditures Supervisor's requests and comments Public comment Adjournment

- (4) <u>Minutes.</u> The Secretary shall be responsible for preparing and keeping the minutes of each meeting of the Board. Minutes shall be corrected and approved by the Board at a subsequent meeting. The Secretary may work with other staff members in preparing draft minutes for the Board's consideration.
- (5) <u>Special Requests.</u> Persons wishing to receive, by mail, notices or agendas of meetings, may so advise the District Manager or Secretary at the District Office. Such persons shall furnish a mailing address in writing and shall be required to prepay the cost of the copying and postage.
- (6) Emergency Meetings. The Chairperson, or Vice-Chairperson if the Chairperson is unavailable, upon consultation with the District Manager and District Counsel, if available, may convene an emergency meeting of the Board without first having complied with sections (1) and (3) of this Rule, to act on emergency matters that may affect the public health, safety, or welfare. Whenever possible, the District Manager shall make reasonable efforts to provide public notice and notify all Board members of an emergency meeting twenty-four (24) hours in advance. Reasonable efforts may include telephone notification. Notice of the emergency meeting must be provided both before and after the meeting on the District's website, including the specific reasons for the emergency meeting. Whenever an emergency meeting is called, the District Manager shall be responsible for notifying at least one newspaper of general circulation in the District. After an emergency meeting, the Board shall publish in a newspaper of general circulation in the District, the time, date and place of the emergency meeting, the reasons why an emergency meeting was necessary, and a description of the action taken. Actions taken at an emergency meeting may be ratified by the Board at a regularly noticed meeting subsequently held.
- (7) Public Comment. The Board shall set aside a three (3) minutes per person, unless extended or reduced by the Chairperson based on the number of speakers and meeting agenda and other reasonable factors reasonable amount of time at each meeting for public comment and members of the public shall be permitted to provide comment on any proposition before the Board. The portion of the meeting generally reserved for public comment shall be identified in the agenda. Policies governing public comment may be adopted by the Board in accordance with Florida law.
- (8) <u>Budget Hearing.</u> Notice of hearing on the annual budget(s) shall be in accord with Section 190.008 of the Florida Statutes. Once adopted in accord with Section 190.008 of the Florida Statutes, the annual budget(s) may be amended from time to time by action of the Board. Approval of invoices by the Board in excess of the

funds allocated to a particular budgeted line item shall serve to amend the budgeted line item.

- (9) <u>Public Hearings.</u> Notice of required public hearings shall contain the information required by applicable Florida law and by these Rules applicable to meeting notices and shall be mailed and published as required by Florida law. The District Manager shall ensure that all such notices, whether mailed or published, contain the information required by Florida law and these Rules and are mailed and published as required by Florida law. Public hearings may be held during Board meetings when the agenda includes such public hearing.
- (10) Participation by Teleconference/Videoconference. District staff may participate in Board meetings by teleconference or videoconference. Board members may also participate in Board meetings by teleconference or videoconference if in the good judgment of the Board extraordinary circumstances exist; provided however, at least three Board members must be physically present at the meeting location to establish a quorum. Such extraordinary circumstances shall be presumed when a Board member participates by teleconference or videoconference, unless a majority of the Board members physically present determines that extraordinary circumstances do not exist. Extraordinary circumstances may include, but are not limited to, illness, family emergencies, or other significant schedule conflicts which prevent in-person meeting attendance.
- (11) <u>Board Authorization.</u> The District has not adopted Robert's Rules of Order. For each agenda item, there shall be discussion permitted among the Board members during the meeting. Unless such procedure is waived by the Board, approval or disapproval of resolutions and other proposed Board actions shall be in the form of a motion by one Board member, a second by another Board member, an opportunity for final board discussion and an affirmative vote by the majority of the Board members present. Any Board member, including the Chairperson, can make or second a motion.
- (12) <u>Continuances.</u> Any meeting or public hearing of the Board may be continued without re-notice or re-advertising provided that:
 - (a) The Board identifies on the record at the original meeting a reasonable need for a continuance;
 - (b) The continuance is to a specified date, time, and location publicly announced at the original meeting; and
 - (c) The public notice for the original meeting states that the meeting may be continued to a date and time and states that the date, time, and location of any continuance shall be publicly announced at the original meeting and posted at the District Office immediately following the original meeting.

- (13)Attorney-Client Sessions. An Attorney-Client Session is permitted when the District's attorneys deem it necessary to meet in private with the Board to discuss pending litigation to which the District is a party before a court or administrative agency or as may be authorized by law. The District's attorney must request such session at a public meeting. Prior to holding the Attorney-Client Session, the District must give reasonable public notice of the time and date of the session and the names of the persons anticipated to attend the session. The session must commence at an open meeting in which the Chairperson or Vice-Chairperson announces the commencement of the session, the estimated length of the session, and the names of the persons who will be attending the session. The discussion during the session is confined to settlement negotiations or strategy related to litigation expenses or as may be authorized by law. Only the Board, the District's attorneys (including outside counsel), the District Manager, and the court reporter may attend an Attorney-Client Session. During the session, no votes may be taken and no final decisions concerning settlement can be made. Upon the conclusion of the session, the public meeting is reopened, and the Chairperson or Vice-Chairperson must announce that the session has concluded. The session must be transcribed by a court-reporter and the transcript of the session filed with the District Secretary within a reasonable time after the session. The transcript shall not be available for public inspection until after the conclusion of the litigation.
- (14) <u>Security and Firesafety Board Discussions</u>. Portions of a meeting which relate to or would reveal a security or firesafety system plan or portion thereof made confidential and exempt by section 119.071(3)(a), Florida Statutes, are exempt from the public meeting requirements and other requirements of section 286.011, *Florida Statutes*, and section 24(b), Article 1 of the State Constitution. Should the Board wish to discuss such matters, members of the public shall be required to leave the meeting room during such discussion. Any records of the Board's discussion of such matters, including recordings or minutes, shall be maintained as confidential and exempt records in accordance with Florida law.

Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat.

Law Implemented: §§ 189.069(2)(a)16, 190.006, 190.007, 190.008, 286.0105, 286.011, 286.0113, 286.0114, Fla. Stat.

Rule 1.4 Internal Controls to Prevent Fraud, Waste and Abuse

- (1) <u>Internal Controls.</u> The District shall establish and maintain internal controls designed to:
 - (a) Prevent and detect "fraud," "waste" and "abuse" as those terms are defined in section 11.45(1), *Florida Statutes*; and
 - (b) Promote and encourage compliance with applicable laws, rules contracts, grant agreements, and best practices; and
 - (c) Support economical and efficient operations; and
 - (d) Ensure reliability of financial records and reports; and
 - (e) Safeguard assets.
- (2) Adoption. The internal controls to prevent fraud, waste and abuse shall be adopted and amended by the District in the same manner as District policies.

Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat.

Law Implemented: § 218.33(3), Fla. Stat.

Rule 2.0 Rulemaking Proceedings.

(1) Commencement of Proceedings. Proceedings held for adoption, amendment, or repeal of a District rule shall be conducted according to these Rules. Rulemaking proceedings shall be deemed to have been initiated upon publication of notice by the District. A "rule" is a District statement of general applicability that implements, interprets, or prescribes law or policy, or describes the procedure or practice requirements of the District ("Rule"). Nothing herein shall be construed as requiring the District to consider or adopt rules unless required by Chapter 190 of the Florida Statutes. Policies adopted by the District which do not consist of rates, fees, rentals or other monetary charges may be, but are not required to be, implemented through rulemaking proceedings.

(2) Notice of Rule Development.

- (a) Except when the intended action is the repeal of a Rule, the District shall provide notice of the development of a proposed rule by publication of a Notice of Rule Development in a newspaper of general circulation in the District before providing notice of a proposed rule as required by section (3) of this Rule. Consequently, the Notice of Rule Development shall be published at least twenty-nine (29) at least seven (7) days before the notice of rulemaking described in Section 2.0(3), infra., and at least thirty-five (35) days prior to the public hearing on the proposed rule. The Notice of Rule Development shall indicate the subject area to be addressed by rule development, provide a short, plain explanation of the purpose and effect of the proposed rule, cite the specific legal authority for the proposed rule grant of rulemaking authority for the proposed rule and law being implemented, include the proposed rule number, and include a statement of how a person may promptly obtain, without cost, a copy of any preliminary draft, if available.
- (b) All rules as drafted shall be consistent with Sections 120.54(1)(g) and 120.54(2)(b) of the Florida Statutes.

(3) Notice of Proceedings and Proposed Rules.

(a) Prior to the adoption, amendment, or repeal of any rule other than an emergency rule, the District shall give notice of its intended action, setting forthincluding: a short, plain explanation of the purpose and effect of the proposed action, the proposed rule number (if applicable), a reference to the specific rulemaking authority pursuant to which the rule is adopted, and a reference to the section or subsection of the Florida Statutes being implemented, interpreted, or made specific, and the name, e-mail address, and telephone number of the staff member who may be contacted regarding the intended action. The notice shall include a summary of the District's statement of the estimated regulatory costs and the website address where

the complete statement of estimated regulatory costs may be viewed, if such a statement has been prepared pursuant ton its entirety, if one has been prepared, based on the factors set forth in Section 120.541(2), of the Florida Statutes, and a statement that any person who wishes to provide the District with a lower cost regulatory alternative as provided by Section 120.541(1), must do so in writing within twenty-one (21) days after publication of the notice. The notice shall additionally include a statement that any affected person may request a public hearing by submitting a written request within twenty-one (21) days after the date of publication of the notice. Except when intended action is the repeal of a rule, the notice shall include a reference to both the date on which and the place where the Notice of Rule Development required by section (2) of this Rule appeared.

- (b) The notice shall be published in a newspaper of general circulation in the District and each county in which the District is located not less than twenty-eight (28) days prior to the intended action. The proposed rule <u>and any material proposed to be incorporated by reference</u> shall be available for inspection and copying by the public at the time of the publication of notice.
- (c) The notice shall be mailed, or delivered electronically to all persons named in the proposed rule and to all persons who, at least fourteen (14) days prior to such mailing publication of the notice, have made requests of the District for advance notice of its rulemaking proceedings. Any person may file a written request with the District Manager to receive notice by mail of District proceedings to adopt, amend, or repeal a rule. Such persons must furnish a mailing address and may be required to pay the cost of copying and mailing.
- (4) <u>Rule Development Workshops.</u> Whenever requested in writing by any affected person, the District must either conduct a rule development workshop prior to proposing rules for adoption or the Chairperson must explain in writing why a workshop is unnecessary. The District may initiate a rule development workshop but is not required to do so.
- (5) Petitions to Initiate Rulemaking. All Petitions to Initiate Rulemaking proceedings must contain the name, address, and telephone number of the petitioner, the specific action requested, the specific reason for adoption, amendment, or repeal, the date submitted, the text of the proposed rule, and the facts showing that the petitioner is regulated by the District or has a substantial interest in the rulemaking. Not later than sixty (60)thirty (30) calendar days following the date of filing a petition, the Board shall initiate rulemaking proceedings or deny the petition with a written statement of its reasons for the denial. If the petition is directed to an existing policy that the District has not formally adopted as a rule, the District may, in its discretion, notice and hold a public hearing on the petition to consider the comments of the public directed to the policy, its scope and application, and to consider whether the public interest is served adequately by the application of the policy on a case-by-

- case basis, as contrasted with its formal adoption as a rule. However, this section shall not be construed as requiring the District to adopt a rule to replace a policy.
- (6) <u>Rulemaking Materials.</u> After the publication of the notice referenced in section (3) of this Rule, the Board shall make available for public inspection and shall provide, upon request and payment of the cost of copies, the following materials:
 - (a) The text of the proposed rule, or any amendment or repeal of any existing rules;
 - (b) A detailed written statement of the facts and circumstances justifying the proposed rule;
 - (c) A copy of the statement of estimated regulatory costs if required by Section 120.541 of the Florida Statutes; and
 - (d) The published notice.
- (7) Hearing. The District may, or, upon the written request of any affected person received within twenty-one (21) days after the date of publication of the notice described in section (3) of this Rule, shall, provide a public hearing for the presentation of evidence, argument, and oral statements, within the reasonable conditions and limitations imposed by the District to avoid duplication, irrelevant comments, unnecessary delay, or disruption of the proceedings. The District shall publish notice of the public hearing in a newspaper of general circulation within the District either in the text of the notice described in section (3) of this Rule or in a separate publication at least seven (7) days before the scheduled public hearing. The notice shall specify the date, time, and location of the public hearing, and the name, address, and telephone number of the District contact person who can provide information about the public hearing. Written statements may be submitted by any person prior to or at the public hearing. All timely submitted written statements shall be considered by the District and made part of the rulemaking record.
- (8) Emergency Rule Adoption. The Board may adopt an emergency rule if it finds that it is necessitated by immediate danger to the public health, safety, or welfare exists which requires immediate action, or if the Legislature authorizes the Board to adopt emergency rules. Prior to the adoption of an emergency rule, the District Manager shall make reasonable efforts to notify a newspaper of general circulation in the District. Notice of the emergency rules together with the Board's findings of immediate danger, necessity, and procedural fairness or a citation to the grant of emergency rulemaking authority—shall be published as soon as possible in a newspaper of general circulation in the District. The District may use any procedure which is fair under the circumstances in the adoption of an emergency rule provided that such procedure as long as it protects the public interest and complies with applicable law ands determined by the District and otherwise emplies with these provisions.

- (9) Negotiated Rulemaking. The District may use negotiated rulemaking in developing and adopting rules pursuant to Section 120.54(2)(d) of the Florida Statutes, except that any notices required under Section 120.54(2)(d) of the Florida Statutes, may be published in a newspaper of general circulation in the county in which the District is located.
- (10) <u>Rulemaking Record.</u> In all rulemaking proceedings, the District shall compile and maintain a rulemaking record. The record shall include, if applicable:
 - (a) The texts of the proposed rule and the adopted rule;
 - (b) All notices given for a proposed rule;
 - (c) Any statement of estimated regulatory costs for the rule;
 - (d) A written summary of hearings, if any, on the proposed rule;
 - (e) All written comments received by the District and responses to those written comments; and
 - (f) All notices and findings pertaining to an emergency rule.
- (11) Petitions to Challenge Existing Rules.
 - (a) Any person substantially affected by a rule may seek an administrative determination of the invalidity of the rule on the ground that the rule is an invalid exercise of the District's authority.
 - (b) The petition seeking an administrative determination must state with particularity the provisions alleged to be invalid with sufficient explanation of the facts or grounds for the alleged invalidity and facts sufficient to show that the person challenging a rule is substantially affected by it.
 - (c) The petition shall be filed with the District. Within ten (10) days after receiving the petition, the Chairperson shall, if the petition complies with the requirements of subsection (b) of this section, designate any member of the Board (including the Chairperson), District Manager, District Counsel, or other qualified person as a hearing officer who shall conduct a hearing within thirty (30) days thereafter, unless the petition is withdrawn or a continuance is granted by agreement of the parties. The failure of the District to follow the applicable rulemaking procedures or requirements in this Rule shall be presumed to be material; however, the District may rebut this presumption by showing that the substantial interests of the petitioner and the fairness of the proceedings have not been impaired.

- (d) Within thirty (30) days after the hearing, the hearing officer shall render a decision and state the reasons therefor in writing.
- (e) Hearings held under this section shall be de novo in nature. The petitioner has a burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that the existing rule is an invalid exercise of District authority as to the objections raised. The hearing officer may:
 - (i) Administer oaths and affirmations;
 - (ii) Rule upon offers of proof and receive relevant evidence;
 - (iii) Regulate the course of the hearing, including any pre-hearing matters;
 - (iv) Enter orders; and
 - (v) Make or receive offers of settlement, stipulation, and adjustment.
- (f) The petitioner and the District shall be adverse parties. Other substantially affected persons may join the proceedings as intervenors on appropriate terms which shall not unduly delay the proceedings.
- (12) <u>Variances and Waivers.</u> A "variance" means a decision by the District to grant a modification to all or part of the literal requirements of a rule to a person who is subject to the rule. A "waiver" means a decision by the District not to apply all or part of a rule to a person who is subject to the rule. Variances and waivers from District rules may be granted subject to the following:
 - (a) Variances and waivers shall be granted when the person subject to the rule demonstrates that the purpose of the underlying statute will be or has been achieved by other means by the person, and when application of the rule would create a substantial hardship or would violate principles of fairness. For purposes of this section, "substantial hardship" means a demonstrated economic, technological, legal, safety-related, or other significantor other type of hardship to the person requesting the variance or waiver. For purposes of this section, "principles of fairness" are violated when the literal application of a rule affects a particular person in a manner significantly different from the way it affects other similarly situated persons who are subject to the rule.
 - (b) A person who is subject to regulation by a District Rule may file a petition with the District, requesting a variance or waiver from the District's Rule. Each petition shall specify:
 - (i) The rule from which a variance or waiver is requested;

- (ii) The type of action requested;
- (iii) The specific facts that would justify a waiver or variance for the petitioner; and
- (iv) The reason why the variance or the waiver requested would serve the purposes of the underlying statute.
- (c) The District shall review the petition and may request only that information needed to clarify the petition or to answer new questions raised by or directly related to the petition. If the petitioner asserts that any request for additional information is not authorized by law or by Rule of the District, the District shall proceed, at the petitioner's written request, to process the petition.
- (d) The Board shall grant or deny a petition for variance or waiver and shall announce such disposition at a publicly held meeting of the Board, within ninety (90) days after receipt of the original petition, the last item of timely requested additional material, or the petitioner's written request to finish processing the petition. The District's statement granting or denying the petition shall contain a statement of the relevant facts and reasons supporting the District's action.
- (13) <u>Rates, Fees, Rentals and Other Charges.</u> All rates, fees, rentals, or other charges shall be subject to rulemaking proceedings. Policies adopted by the District which do not consist of rates, fees, rentals or other charges may be, but are not required to be, implemented through rulemaking proceedings.

Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), 190.035, Fla. Stat. Law Implemented: §§ 120.54, 190.011(5), 190.035(2), Fla. Stat.

Rule 3.0 Competitive Purchase.

- (1) <u>Purpose and Scope.</u> In order to comply with Sections 190.033(1) through (3), 287.055 and 287.017 of the Florida Statutes, the following provisions shall apply to the purchase of Professional Services, insurance, construction contracts, designbuild services, goods, supplies, and materials, Contractual Services, and maintenance services.
- (2) <u>Board Authorization.</u> Except in cases of an Emergency Purchase, a competitive purchase governed by these Rules shall only be undertaken after authorization by the Board.

(3) Definitions.

- (a) "Competitive Solicitation" means a formal, advertised procurement process, other than an Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, or Invitation to Negotiate, approved by the Board to purchase commodities and/or services which affords vendors fair treatment in the competition for award of a District purchase contract.
- (b) "Continuing Contract" means a contract for Professional Services entered into in accordance with Section 287.055 of the Florida Statutes, between the District and a firm, whereby the firm provides Professional Services to the District for projects in which the costs do not exceed two million dollars (\$2,000,000), for a study activity when the fee for such Professional Services to the District does not exceed two hundred thousand dollars (\$200,000), or for work of a specified nature as outlined in the contract with the District, with no time limitation except that the contract must provide a termination clause (for example, a contract for general District engineering services). Firms providing Professional Services under Continuing Contracts shall not be required to bid against one another.
- (c) "Contractual Service" means the rendering by a contractor of its time and effort rather than the furnishing of specific commodities. The term applies only to those services rendered by individuals and firms who are independent contractors. Contractual Services do not include auditing services, Maintenance Services, or Professional Services as defined in Section 287.055(2)(a) of the Florida Statutes, and these Rules. Contractual Services also do not include any contract for the furnishing of labor or materials for the construction, renovation, repair, modification, or demolition of any facility, building, portion of building, utility, park, parking lot, or structure or other improvement to real property entered into pursuant to Chapter 255 of the Florida Statutes, and Rules 3.5 or 3.6.
- (d) "Design-Build Contract" means a single contract with a Design-Build Firm for the design and construction of a public construction project.

- (e) "Design-Build Firm" means a partnership, corporation or other legal entity that:
 - (i) Is certified under Section 489.119 of the Florida Statutes, to engage in contracting through a certified or registered general contractor or a certified or registered building contractor as the qualifying agent; or
 - (ii) Is certified under Section 471.023 of the Florida Statutes, to practice or to offer to practice engineering; certified under Section 481.219 of the Florida Statutes, to practice or to offer to practice architecture; or certified under Section 481.319 of the Florida Statutes, to practice or to offer to practice landscape architecture.
- "Design Criteria Package" means concise, performance-oriented drawings (f) or specifications for a public construction project. The purpose of the Design Criteria Package is to furnish sufficient information to permit Design-Build Firms to prepare a bid or a response to the District's Request for Proposals, or to permit the District to enter into a negotiated Design-Build Contract. The Design Criteria Package must specify performancebased criteria for the public construction project, including the legal description of the site, survey information concerning the site, interior space requirements, material quality standards, schematic layouts and conceptual design criteria of the project, cost or budget estimates, design and construction schedules, site development requirements, provisions for utilities, stormwater retention and disposal, and parking requirements applicable to the project. Design Criteria Packages shall require firms to submit information regarding the qualifications, availability, and past work of the firms, including the partners and members thereof.
- (g) "Design Criteria Professional" means a firm who holds a current certificate of registration under Chapter 481 of the Florida Statutes, to practice architecture or landscape architecture, or a firm who holds a current certificate as a registered engineer under Chapter 471 of the Florida Statutes, to practice engineering, and who is employed by or under contract to the District to provide professional architect services, landscape architect services, or engineering services in connection with the preparation of the Design Criteria Package.
- (h) "Emergency Purchase" means a purchase necessitated by a sudden unexpected turn of events (for example, acts of God, riot, fires, floods, hurricanes, accidents, or any circumstances or cause beyond the control of the Board in the normal conduct of its business), where the Board finds that the delay incident to competitive purchase would be detrimental to the interests of the District. This includes, but is not limited to, instances where

the time to competitively award the project will jeopardize the funding for the project, will materially increase the cost of the project, or will create an undue hardship on the public health, safety, or welfare.

- (i) "Invitation to Bid" is a written or electronically posted solicitation for sealed bids with the title, date, and hour of the public bid opening designated specifically and defining the commodity or service involved. It includes printed instructions prescribing conditions for bidding, qualification, evaluation criteria, and provides for a manual signature of an authorized representative. It may include one or more bid alternates.
- (j) "Invitation to Negotiate" means a written or electronically posted solicitation for competitive sealed replies to select one or more vendors with which to commence negotiations for the procurement of commodities or services.
- (k) "Negotiate" means to conduct legitimate, arm's length discussions and conferences to reach an agreement on a term or price.
- (l) "Professional Services" means those services within the scope of the practice of architecture, professional engineering, landscape architecture, or registered surveying and mapping, as defined by the laws of Florida, or those services performed by any architect, professional engineer, landscape architect, or registered surveyor and mapper, in connection with the firm's or individual's professional employment or practice.
- (m) "Proposal (or Reply or Response) Most Advantageous to the District" means, as determined in the sole discretion of the Board, the proposal, reply, or response that is:
 - (i) Submitted by a person or firm capable and qualified in all respects to perform fully the contract requirements, who has the integrity and reliability to assure good faith performance;
 - (ii) The most responsive to the Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation as determined by the Board; and
 - (iii) For a cost to the District deemed by the Board to be reasonable.
- (n) "Purchase" means acquisition by sale, rent, lease, lease/purchase, or installment sale. It does not include transfer, sale, or exchange of goods, supplies, or materials between the District and any federal, state, regional or local governmental entity or political subdivision of the State of Florida.

- (o) "Request for Proposals" or "RFP" is a written or electronically posted solicitation for sealed proposals with the title, date, and hour of the public opening designated and requiring the manual signature of an authorized representative. It may provide general information, applicable laws and rules, statement of work, functional or general specifications, qualifications, proposal instructions, work detail analysis, and evaluation criteria as necessary.
- (p) "Responsive and Responsible Bidder" means an entity or individual that has submitted a bid that conforms in all material respects to the Invitation to Bid and has the capability in all respects to fully perform the contract requirements and the integrity and reliability that will assure good faith performance. "Responsive and Responsible Vendor" means an entity or individual that has submitted a proposal, reply, or response that conforms in all material respects to the Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation and has the capability in all respects to fully perform the contract requirements and the integrity and reliability that will assure good faith performance. In determining whether an entity or individual is a Responsive and Responsible Bidder (or Vendor), the District may consider, in addition to factors described in the Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation, the following:
 - (i) The ability and adequacy of the professional personnel employed by the entity/individual;
 - (ii) The past performance of the entity/individual for the District and in other professional employment;
 - (iii) The willingness of the entity/individual to meet time and budget requirements;
 - (iv) The geographic location of the entity's/individual's headquarters or office in relation to the project;
 - (v) The recent, current, and projected workloads of the entity/individual;
 - (vi) The volume of work previously awarded to the entity/individual, provided that for a public works project as defined in Section 255.0992, Florida Statutes, the District may not penalize a bidder for performing a larger volume of construction work for the District or reward a bidder for performing a smaller volume of construction work for the District;

- (vii) Whether the cost components of the bid or proposal are appropriately balanced; and
- (viii) Whether the entity/individual is a certified minority business enterprise as defined in Section 287.0943, *Florida Statutes*.
- (q) "Responsive Bid," "Responsive Proposal," "Responsive Reply," and "Responsive Response" all mean a bid, proposal, reply, or response which conforms in all material respects to the specifications and conditions in the Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitations to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation document and these Rules, and the cost components of which, if any, are appropriately balanced. A bid, proposal, reply or response is not responsive if the person or firm submitting it fails to meet any material requirement relating to the qualifications, financial stability, or licensing of the bidder.

Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat.

Law Implemented: §§ 190.033, 255.0992, 255.20, 287.055, Fla. Stat.

Rule 3.1 Procedure Under the Consultants' Competitive Negotiations Act.

- (1) Scope. The following procedures are adopted for the selection of firms or individuals to provide Professional Services exceeding the thresholds herein described, for the negotiation of such contracts, and to provide for protest of actions of the Board under this Rule. As used in this Rule, "Project" means that fixed capital outlay study or planning activity when basic construction cost is estimated by the District to exceed the threshold amount provided in Section 287.017 of the Florida Statutes, for CATEGORY FIVE, or for a planning study activity when the fee for Professional Services is estimated by the District to exceed the threshold amount provided in Section 287.017 for CATEGORY TWO, as such categories may be amended or adjusted from time to time.
- (2) <u>Qualifying Procedures.</u> In order to be eligible to provide Professional Services to the District, a consultant must, at the time of receipt of the firm's qualification submittal:
 - (a) Hold all required applicable state professional licenses in good standing;
 - (b) Hold all required applicable federal licenses in good standing, if any;
 - (c) Hold a current and active Florida corporate charter or be authorized to do business in the State of Florida in accordance with Chapter 607 of the Florida Statutes, if the consultant is a corporation; and
 - (d) Meet any qualification requirements set forth in the District's Request for Qualifications.

Evidence of compliance with this Rule may be submitted with the qualifications, if requested by the District. In addition, evidence of compliance must be submitted any time requested by the District.

(3) Public Announcement. Except in cases of valid public emergencies as certified by the Board, the District shall announce each occasion when Professional Services are required for a Project or a Continuing Contract by publishing a notice providing a general description of the Project, or the nature of the Continuing Contract, and the method for interested consultants to apply for consideration. The notice shall appear in at least one (1) newspaper of general circulation in the District and in such other places as the District deems appropriate. The notice must allow at least fourteen (14) days for submittal of qualifications from the date of publication. The District may maintain lists of consultants interested in receiving such notices. These consultants are encouraged to submit annually statements of qualifications and performance data. The District shall make reasonable efforts to provide copies of any notices to such consultants, but the failure to do so shall not give such consultants any bid protest or other rights or otherwise disqualify any otherwise valid procurement process. The Board has the right to reject any and all

qualifications, and such reservation shall be included in the published notice. Consultants not receiving a contract award shall not be entitled to recover from the District any costs of qualification package preparation or submittal.

(4) <u>Competitive Selection.</u>

- (a) The Board shall review and evaluate the data submitted in response to the notice described in section (3) of this Rule regarding qualifications and performance ability, as well as any statements of qualifications on file. The Board shall conduct discussions with, and may require public presentation by consultants regarding their qualifications, approach to the Project, and ability to furnish the required services. The Board shall then select and list the consultants, in order of preference, deemed to be the most highly capable and qualified to perform the required Professional Services, after considering these and other appropriate criteria:
 - (i) The ability and adequacy of the professional personnel employed by each consultant;
 - (ii) Whether a consultant is a certified minority business enterprise;
 - (iii) Each consultant's past performance;
 - (iv) The willingness of each consultant to meet time and budget requirements;
 - (v) The geographic location of each consultant's headquarters, office and personnel in relation to the project;
 - (vi) The recent, current, and projected workloads of each consultant; and
 - (vii) The volume of work previously awarded to each consultant by the District.
- (b) Nothing in these Rules shall prevent the District from evaluating and eventually selecting a consultant if less than three (3) Responsive qualification packages, including packages indicating a desire not to provide Professional Services on a given Project, are received.
- (c) If the selection process is administered by any person or committee other than the full Board, the selection made will be presented to the full Board with a recommendation that competitive negotiations be instituted with the selected firms in order of preference listed.
- (d) Notice of the rankings adopted by the Board, including the rejection of some or all qualification packages, shall be provided in writing to all consultants

by United States Mail, hand delivery, <u>emailelectronic mail</u>, <u>faesimile</u>, or overnight delivery service. The notice shall include the following statement: "Failure to file a protest within the time prescribed in Rule 3.11 of the Rules of the District shall constitute a waiver of proceedings under those Rules," or wording to that effect. Protests of the District's ranking decisions under this Rule shall be in accordance with the procedures set forth in Rule 3.11.

(5) Competitive Negotiation.

- (a) After the Board has authorized the beginning of competitive negotiations, the District may begin such negotiations with the firm listed as most qualified to perform the required Professional Services at a rate or amount of compensation which the Board determines is fair, competitive, and reasonable.
- (b) In negotiating a lump-sum or cost-plus-a-fixed-fee professional contract for more than the threshold amount provided in Section 287.017 of the Florida Statutes, for CATEGORY FOUR, the firm receiving the award shall be required to execute a truth-in-negotiation certificate stating that "wage rates and other factual unit costs supporting the compensation are accurate, complete and current at the time of contracting." In addition, any professional service contract under which such a certificate is required, shall contain a provision that "the original contract price and any additions thereto, shall be adjusted to exclude any significant sums by which the Board determines the contract price was increased due to inaccurate, incomplete, or noncurrent wage rates and other factual unit costs."
- (c) Should the District be unable to negotiate a satisfactory agreement with the firm determined to be the most qualified at a price deemed by the District to be fair, competitive, and reasonable, then negotiations with that firm shall be terminated and the District shall immediately begin negotiations with the second most qualified firm. If a satisfactory agreement with the second firm cannot be reached, those negotiations shall be terminated and negotiations with the third most qualified firm shall be undertaken.
- (d) Should the District be unable to negotiate a satisfactory agreement with one of the top three (3) ranked consultants, additional firms shall be selected by the District, in order of their competence and qualifications. Negotiations shall continue, beginning with the first-named firm on the list, until an agreement is reached or the list of firms is exhausted.
- (6) <u>Contracts; Public Records.</u> In accordance with Florida law, each contract entered into pursuant to this Rule shall include provisions required by law that require the contractor to comply with public records laws.

- (7) Continuing Contract. Nothing in this Rule shall prohibit a Continuing Contract between a consultant and the District.
- Emergency Purchase. The District may make an Emergency Purchase without (8) complying with these Rules. The fact that an Emergency Purchase has occurred or is necessary shall be noted in the minutes of the next Board meeting.

Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. Law Implemented: §§ 119.0701, 190.011(3), 190.033, 287.055, Fla. Stat.

Rule 3.2 Procedure Regarding Auditor Selection.

In order to comply with the requirements of Section 218.391 of the Florida Statutes, the following procedures are outlined for selection of firms or individuals to provide Auditing Services and for the negotiation of such contracts. For audits required under Chapter 190 of the Florida Statutes but not meeting the thresholds of Chapter 218 of the Florida Statutes, the District need not follow these procedures but may proceed with the selection of a firm or individual to provide Auditing Services and for the negotiation of such contracts in the manner the Board determines is in the best interests of the District.

(1) <u>Definitions.</u>

- (a) "Auditing Services" means those services within the scope of the practice of a certified public accounting firm licensed under Chapter 473 of the Florida Statutes, and qualified to conduct audits in accordance with government auditing standards as adopted by the Florida Board of Accountancy.
- (b) "Committee" means the auditor selection committee appointed by the Board as described in section (2) of this Rule.
- (2) Establishment of Auditor Selection Committee. Prior to a public announcement under section (4) of this Rule that Auditing Services are required, the Board shall establish an auditor selection committee ("Committee"), the primary purpose of which is to assist the Board in selecting an auditor to conduct the annual financial audit required by Section 218.39 of the Florida Statutes. The Committee shall include at least three individuals, at least one of which must also be a member of the Board. The establishment and selection of the Committee must be conducted at a publicly noticed and held meeting of the Board. The Chairperson of the Committee must be a member of the Board. An employee, a chief executive officer, or a chief financial officer of the District may not serve as a member of the Committee; provided however such individual may serve the Committee in an advisory capacity.
- (3) Establishment of Minimum Qualifications and Evaluation Criteria. Prior to a public announcement under section (4) of this Rule that Auditing Services are required, the Committee shall meet at a publicly noticed meeting to establish minimum qualifications and factors to use for the evaluation of Auditing Services to be provided by a certified public accounting firm licensed under Chapter 473 of the Florida Statutes, and qualified to conduct audits in accordance with government auditing standards as adopted by the Florida Board of Accountancy.
 - (a) <u>Minimum Qualifications.</u> In order to be eligible to submit a proposal, a firm must, at all relevant times including the time of receipt of the proposal by the District:

- (i) Hold all required applicable state professional licenses in good standing;
- (ii) Hold all required applicable federal licenses in good standing, if any;
- (iii) Hold a current and active Florida corporate charter or be authorized to do business in the State of Florida in accordance with Chapter 607 of the Florida Statutes, if the proposer is a corporation; and
- (iv) Meet any pre-qualification requirements established by the Committee and set forth in the RFP or other specifications.

If requested in the RFP or other specifications, evidence of compliance with the minimum qualifications as established by the Committee must be submitted with the proposal.

- (b) Evaluation Criteria. The factors established for the evaluation of Auditing Services by the Committee shall include, but are not limited to:
 - (i) Ability of personnel;
 - (ii) Experience;
 - (iii) Ability to furnish the required services; and
 - (iv) Such other factors as may be determined by the Committee to be applicable to its particular requirements.

The Committee may also choose to consider compensation as a factor. If the Committee establishes compensation as one of the factors, compensation shall not be the sole or predominant factor used to evaluate proposals.

- (4) <u>Public Announcement.</u> After identifying the factors to be used in evaluating the proposals for Auditing Services as set forth in section (3) of this Rule, the Committee shall publicly announce the opportunity to provide Auditing Services. Such public announcement shall include a brief description of the audit and how interested firms can apply for consideration and obtain the RFP. The notice shall appear in at least one (1) newspaper of general circulation in the District and the county in which the District is located. The public announcement shall allow for at least seven (7) days for the submission of proposals.
- (5) Request for Proposals. The Committee shall provide interested firms with a Request for Proposals ("RFP"). The RFP shall provide information on how proposals are to be evaluated and such other information the Committee determines is necessary for the firm to prepare a proposal. The RFP shall state the time and

place for submitting proposals.

(6) Committee's Evaluation of Proposals and Recommendation. The Committee shall meet at a publicly held meeting that is publicly noticed at least seven (7) daysfor a reasonable time in advance of the meeting to evaluate all qualified proposals and may, as part of the evaluation, require that each interested firm provide a public presentation where the Committee may conduct discussions with the firm, and where the firm may present information, regarding the firm's qualifications. At the public meeting, the Committee shall rank and recommend in order of preference no fewer than three firms deemed to be the most highly qualified to perform the required services after considering the factors established pursuant to subsection (3)(b) of this Rule. If fewer than three firms respond to the RFP or if no firms respond to the RFP, the Committee shall recommend such firm as it deems to be the most highly qualified. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Committee may recommend that any and all proposals be rejected.

(7) Board Selection of Auditor.

- (a) Where compensation was not selected as a factor used in evaluating the proposals, the Board shall negotiate with the firm ranked first and inquire of that firm as to the basis of compensation. If the Board is unable to negotiate a satisfactory agreement with the first ranked firm at a price deemed by the Board to be fair, competitive, and reasonable, then negotiations with that firm shall be terminated and the Board shall immediately begin negotiations with the second ranked firm. satisfactory agreement with the second ranked firm cannot be reached, those negotiations shall be terminated and negotiations with the third ranked firm shall be undertaken. The Board may reopen formal negotiations with any one of the three top-ranked firms, but it may not negotiate with more than one firm at a time. If the Board is unable to negotiate a satisfactory agreement with any of the selected firms, the Committee shall recommend additional firms in order of the firms' respective competence and qualifications. Negotiations shall continue, beginning with the first-named firm on the list, until an agreement is reached or the list of firms is exhausted.
- (b) Where compensation was selected as a factor used in evaluating the proposals, the Board shall select the highest-ranked qualified firm or document in its public records the reason for not selecting the highest-ranked qualified firm.
- (c) In negotiations with firms under this Rule, the Board may allow the District Manager, District Counsel, or other designee to conduct negotiations on its behalf.

- (d) Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Board may reject any or all proposals. The Board shall not consider any proposal, or enter into any contract for Auditing Services, unless the proposed agreed-upon compensation is reasonable to satisfy the requirements of Section 218.39 of the Florida Statutes, and the needs of the District.
- (8) <u>Contract.</u> Any agreement reached under this Rule shall be evidenced by a written contract, which may take the form of an engagement letter signed and executed by both parties. The written contract shall include all provisions and conditions of the procurement of such services and shall include, at a minimum, the following:
 - (a) A provision specifying the services to be provided and fees or other compensation for such services;
 - (b) A provision requiring that invoices for fees or other compensation be submitted in sufficient detail to demonstrate compliance with the terms of the contract;
 - (c) A provision setting forth deadlines for the auditor to submit a preliminary draft audit report to the District for review and to submit a final audit report no later than June 30 of the fiscal year that follows the fiscal year for which the audit is being conducted;
 - (d) A provision specifying the contract period, including renewals, and conditions under which the contract may be terminated or renewed. The maximum contract period including renewals shall be five (5) years. A renewal may be done without the use of the auditor selection procedures provided in this Rule but must be in writing.
 - (e) Provisions required by law that require the auditor to comply with public records laws.
- (9) Notice of Award. Once a negotiated agreement with a firm or individual is reached, or the Board authorizes the execution of an agreement with a firm where compensation was a factor in the evaluation of proposals, notice of the intent to award, including the rejection of some or all proposals, shall be provided in writing to all proposers by United States Mail, hand delivery, electronic mail, faesimile, or overnight delivery service. The notice shall include the following statement: "Failure to file a protest within the time prescribed in Rule 3.11 of the Rules of the District shall constitute a waiver of proceedings under those Rules," or wording to that effect. Protests regarding the award of contracts under this Rule shall be as provided for in Rule 3.11. No proposer shall be entitled to recover any costs of proposal preparation or submittal from the District.

Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. Law Implemented: §§ 119.0701, 218.33, 218.391, Fla. Stat.

Rule 3.3 Purchase of Insurance.

- (1) Scope. The purchases of life, health, accident, hospitalization, legal expense, or annuity insurance, or all of any kinds of such insurance for the officers and employees of the District, and for health, accident, hospitalization, and legal expenses upon a group insurance plan by the District, shall be governed by this Rule. This Rule does not apply to the purchase of any other type of insurance by the District, including but not limited to liability insurance, property insurance, and directors and officers insurance. Nothing in this Rule shall require the District to purchase insurance.
- (2) <u>Procedure.</u> For a purchase of insurance within the scope of these Rules, the following procedure shall be followed:
 - (a) The Board shall cause to be prepared a Notice of Invitation to Bid.
 - (b) Notice of the Invitation to Bid shall be advertised at least once in a newspaper of general circulation within the District. The notice shall allow at least fourteen (14) days for submittal of bids.
 - (c) The District may maintain a list of persons interested in receiving notices of Invitations to Bid. The District shall make reasonable efforts to provide copies of any notices to such persons, but the failure to do so shall not give such consultants any bid protest or other rights or otherwise disqualify any otherwise valid procurement process.
 - (d) Bids shall be opened at the time and place noted in the Invitation to Bid.
 - (e) If only one (1) response to an Invitation is received, the District may proceed with the purchase. If no response to an Invitation to Bid is received, the District may take whatever steps are reasonably necessary in order to proceed with the purchase.
 - (f) The Board has the right to reject any and all bids and such reservations shall be included in all solicitations and advertisements.
 - (g) Simultaneously with the review of the submitted bids, the District may undertake negotiations with those companies that have submitted reasonable and timely bids and, in the opinion of the District, are fully qualified and capable of meeting all services and requirements. Bid responses shall be evaluated in accordance with the specifications and criteria contained in the Invitation to Bid; in addition, the total cost to the District, the cost, if any, to the District officers, employees, or their dependents, relevant business presence and capability to servicethe geographic location of the company's headquarters and offices in relation to the District's needs, and the ability of the company to guarantee premium

stability may be considered. A contract to purchase insurance shall be awarded to that company whose response to the Invitation to Bid best meets the overall needs of the District, its officers, employees, and/or dependents.

(h) Notice of the intent to award, including rejection of some or all bids, shall be provided in writing to all bidders by United States Mail, by hand delivery, or by overnight delivery service. The notice shall include the following statement: "Failure to file a protest within the time prescribed in Rule 3.11 of the Rules of the District shall constitute a waiver of proceedings under those Rules," or wording to that effect. Protests of the District's procurement of insurance under this Rule shall be in accordance with the procedures set forth in Rule 3.11.

Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat.

Law Implemented: § 112.08, Fla. Stat.

Rule 3.4 Pre-qualification

- (1) <u>Scope.</u> In its discretion, the District may undertake a pre-qualification process in accordance with this Rule for vendors to provide construction services, goods, supplies, and materials, Contractual Services, and maintenance services.
- (2) <u>Procedure.</u> When the District seeks to pre-qualify vendors, the following procedures shall apply:
 - (a) The Board shall cause to be prepared a Request for Qualifications.
 - (b) For construction services exceeding the thresholds described in Section 255.20 of the Florida Statutes, the Board must advertise the proposed prequalification criteria and procedures and allow at least seven (7) days' notice of the public hearing for comments on such pre-qualification criteria and procedures. At such public hearing, potential vendors may object to such pre-qualification criteria and procedures. Following such public hearing, the Board shall formally adopt pre-qualification criteria and procedures prior to the advertisement of the Request for Qualifications for construction services.
 - (c) The Request for Qualifications shall be advertised at least once in a newspaper of general circulation within the District and within the county in which the District is located. The notice shall allow at least seven (7) days for submittal of qualifications for goods, supplies and materials, Contractual Services, maintenance services, and construction services under two hundred fifty thousand dollars (\$250,000). The notice shall allow at least twenty-one (21) days for submittal of qualifications for construction services estimated to cost over two hundred fifty thousand dollars (\$250,000) and thirty (30) days for construction services estimated to cost over five hundred thousand dollars (\$500,000).
 - (d) The District may maintain lists of persons interested in receiving notices of Requests for Qualifications. The District shall make a good faith effort to provide written notice, by electronic mail, United States Mail, or hand delivery, or faesimile, to persons who provide their name and address to the District Manager for inclusion on the list. However, failure of a person to receive the notice shall not invalidate any pre-qualification determination or contract awarded in accordance with these Rules and shall not be a basis for a protest of any pre-qualification determination or contract award.
 - (e) If the District has pre-qualified vendors for a particular category of purchase, at the option of the District, only those persons who have been pre-qualified will be eligible to submit bids, proposals, replies or responses in response to the applicable Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation.

- (f) In order to be eligible to submit qualifications, a firm or individual must, at the time of receipt of the qualifications:
 - (i) Hold all required applicable state professional licenses in good standing;
 - (ii) Hold all required applicable federal licenses in good standing, if any;
 - (iii) Hold a current and active Florida corporate charter or be authorized to do business in the State of Florida in accordance with Chapter 607 of the Florida Statutes, if the vendor is a corporation; and
 - (iv) Meet any special pre-qualification requirements set forth in the Request for Qualifications.

Evidence of compliance with these Rules must be submitted with the qualifications if required by the District. Failure to submit evidence of compliance when required may be grounds for rejection of the qualifications.

- (g) Qualifications shall be presented to the Board, or a committee appointed by the Board, for evaluation in accordance with the Request for Qualifications and this Rule. Minor variations in the qualifications may be waived by the Board. A variation is minor if waiver of the variation does not create a competitive advantage or disadvantage of a material nature.
- (h) All vendors determined by the District to meet the pre-qualification requirements shall be pre-qualified. To assure full understanding of the responsiveness to the requirements contained in a Request for Qualifications, discussions may be conducted with qualified vendors. Vendors shall be accorded fair treatment prior to the submittal date with respect to any opportunity for discussion and revision of qualifications. For construction services, any contractor pre-qualified and considered eligible by the Department of Transportation to bid to perform the type of work the project entails shall be presumed to be qualified to perform the project.
- (i) The Board shall have the right to reject all qualifications if there are not enough to be competitive or if rejection is determined to be in the best interest of the District. No vendor shall be entitled to recover any costs of qualification preparation or submittal from the District.
- (j) Notice of intent to pre-qualify, including rejection of some or all qualifications, shall be provided in writing to all vendors by United States Mail, electronic mail, hand delivery, facsimile, or overnight delivery service. The notice

shall include the following statement: "Failure to file a protest within the time prescribed in Rule 3.11 of the Rules of the District shall constitute a waiver of proceedings under those Rules," or wording to that effect. Protests of the District's pre-qualification decisions under this Rule shall be in accordance with the procedures set forth in Rule 3.11; provided however, protests related to the pre-qualification criteria and procedures for construction services shall be resolved in accordance with section (2)(b) of this Rule and Section 255.20(1)(b) of the Florida Statutes.

(3) Suspension, Revocation, or Denial of Qualification

- (a) The District, for good cause, may deny, suspend, or revoke a prequalified vendor's pre-qualified status. A suspension, revocation, or denial for good cause shall prohibit the vendor from bidding on any District construction contract for which qualification is required, shall constitute a determination of non-responsibility to bid on any other District construction or maintenance contract, and shall prohibit the vendor from acting as a material supplier or subcontractor on any District contract or project during the period of suspension, revocation, or denial. Good cause shall include the following:
 - i. One of the circumstances specified under Section 337.16(2), *Florida Statutes*, has occurred.
 - ii. Affiliated contractors submitted more than one proposal for the same work. In this event the pre-qualified status of all of the affiliated bidders will be revoked, suspended, or denied. All bids of affiliated bidders will be rejected.
 - iii. The vendor made or submitted false, deceptive, or fraudulent statements, certifications, or materials in any claim for payment or any information required by any District contract.
 - iv. The vendor or its affiliate defaulted on any contract or a contract surety assumed control of financial responsibility for any contract of the vendor.
 - v. The vendor's qualification to bid is suspended, revoked, or denied by any other public or semi-public entity, or the vendor has been the subject of a civil enforcement proceeding or settlement involving a public or semi-public entity.
 - vi. The vendor failed to comply with contract or warranty requirements or failed to follow District direction in the performance of a contract.
 - vii. The vendor failed to timely furnish all contract documents required by the contract specifications, special provisions, or by any state or federal statutes or regulations. If the vendor fails to furnish any of the subject contract documents by the expiration of the period of suspension,

- revocation, or denial set forth above, the vendor's pre-qualified status shall remain suspended, revoked, or denied until the documents are furnished.
- viii. The vendor failed to notify the District within 10 days of the vendor, or any of its affiliates, being declared in default or otherwise not completing work on a contract or being suspended from qualification to bid or denied qualification to bid by any other public or semi-public agency.
- ix. The vendor did not pay its subcontractors or suppliers in a timely manner or in compliance with contract documents.
- x. The vendor has demonstrated instances of poor or unsatisfactory performance, deficient management resulting in project delay, poor quality workmanship, a history of payment of liquidated damages, untimely completion of projects, uncooperative attitude, contract litigation, inflated claims or defaults.
- xi. An affiliate of the vendor has previously been determined by the District to be non-responsible, and the specified period of suspension, revocation, denial, or non-responsibility remains in effect.
- xii. The vendor or affiliate(s) has been convicted of a contract crime.
 - 1. The term "contract crime" means any violation of state or federal antitrust laws with respect to a public contract or any violation of any state or federal law involving fraud, bribery, collusion, conspiracy, or material misrepresentation with respect to a public contract.
 - 2. The term "convicted" or "conviction" means a finding of guilt or a conviction of a contract crime, with or without an adjudication of guilt, in any federal or state trial court of record as a result of a jury verdict, nonjury trial, or entry of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere.
- xiii. Any other circumstance constituting "good cause" under Section 337.16(2), Florida Statutes, exists.
- (b) The pre-qualified status of a contractor found delinquent under Section 337.16(1), *Florida Statutes*, shall be denied, suspended, or revoked. A denial, suspension, or revocation shall prohibit the vendor from being a subcontractor on District work during the period of denial, suspension, or revocation, except when a prime contractor's bid has used prices of a subcontractor who becomes disqualified after the bid, but before the request for authorization to sublet is presented.

- (c) The District shall inform the vendor in writing of its intent to deny, suspend, or revoke its pre-qualified status and inform the vendor of its right to a hearing, the procedure which must be followed, and the applicable time limits. If a hearing is requested within ten (10) days after the receipt of the notice of intent, the hearing shall be held within thirty (30) days after receipt by the District of the request for the hearing. The decision shall be issued in writing within fifteen (15) business days after the hearing.
- (d) Such suspension or revocation shall not affect the vendor's obligations under any preexisting contract.
- (e) If a contractor's pre-qualified status is revoked, suspended, or denied and the contractor receives an additional period of revocation, suspension, or denial of its pre-qualified status, the time periods will run consecutively.
- (f) In the case of contract crimes, the vendor's pre-qualified status under this Rule shall be revoked indefinitely. For all violations of Rule 3.4(3)(a) other than for the vendor's conviction for contract crimes, the revocation, denial, or suspension of a vendor's pre-qualified status under this Rule shall be for a specific period of time based on the seriousness of the deficiency.

Examples of factors affecting the seriousness of a deficiency are:

- i. Impacts on project schedule, cost, or quality of work;
- ii. Unsafe conditions allowed to exist;
- iii. Complaints from the public;
- iv. Delay or interference with the bidding process;
- v. The potential for repetition;
- vi. Integrity of the public contracting process;
- vii. Effect on the health, safety, and welfare of the public.
- (g) The District shall deny or revoke the pre-qualified status of any contractor and its affiliates for a period of 36 months when it is determined by the District that the contractor has, subsequent to January 1, 1978, been convicted of a contract crime within the jurisdiction of any state or federal court. Any such contractor shall not act as a prime contractor, material supplier, subcontractor, or consultant on any District contract or project during the period of denial or revocation.

(4) Reapplication and Reinstatement

(a) A contractor whose qualification to bid has been revoked or denied because of

contract crime may, at any time after revocation or denial, file a petition for reapplication or reinstatement. However, a contractor may not petition for reapplication or reinstatement for a period of 24 months after revocation or denial for a subsequent conviction occurring within 10 years of a previous denial or revocation for contract crime.

- (b) If the petition for reapplication or reinstatement is denied, the contractor cannot petition for a subsequent hearing for a period of nine months following the date of the final order of revocation or denial.
- (c) If the petition for reapplication or reinstatement is granted, the contractor must file a current Application for Qualification with the Contracts Administration Office. Reinstatement shall not be effective until issuance of a Certificate of Qualification.

(5) Emergency Suspension and Revocation

- (a) The District may summarily issue an emergency suspension of a contractor's qualification to bid if it finds that imminent danger exists to the public health, safety, or welfare.
- (b) The written notice of emergency suspension shall state the specific facts and reasons for finding an imminent danger to the public health, safety, or welfare exists.
- (c) The District, within 10 days of the emergency suspension, shall initiate formal suspension or revocation proceedings in compliance with Rule 3.4(3), except the 10-day notice requirement shall not be construed to prevent a hearing at the earliest time practicable upon request of the aggrieved party.

Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat.

Law Implemented: §§ 190.033, 255.0525, 255.20, Fla. Stat.; §§ 14-22.012, 14-22.0121, 14-22.014, Fla. Admin. Code.

Rule 3.5 Construction Contracts, Not Design-Build.

- (1) Scope. All contracts for the construction or improvement of any building, structure, or other public construction works authorized by Chapter 190 of the Florida Statutes, the costs of which are estimated by the District in accordance with generally accepted cost accounting principles to be in excess of the threshold amount for applicability of Section 255.20 of the Florida Statutes, as that amount may be indexed or amended from time to time, shall be let under the terms of these Rules and the procedures of Section 255.20 of the Florida Statutes, as the same may be amended from time to time. A project shall not be divided solely to avoid the threshold bidding requirements.
- (2) <u>Procedure.</u> When a purchase of construction services is within the scope of this Rule, the following procedures shall apply:
 - (a) The Board shall cause to be prepared an Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation.
 - Notice of the Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to (b) Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation shall be advertised at least once in a newspaper of general circulation in the District and in the county in which the District is located. The notice shall also include the amount of the bid bond, if one is required. The notice shall allow at least twenty-one (21) days for submittal of sealed bids, proposals, replies, or responses, unless the Board, for good cause, determines a shorter period of time is appropriate. Any project projected to cost more than five hundred thousand dollars (\$500,000) must be noticed at least thirty (30) days prior to the date for submittal of bids, proposals, replies, or responses. If the Board has previously pre-qualified contractors pursuant to Rule 3.4 and determined that only the contractors that have been pre-qualified will be permitted to submit bids, proposals, replies, and responses, the Notice of Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation need not be published. Instead, the Notice of Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation shall be sent to the pre-qualified contractors by United States Mail, electronic mail, hand delivery, facsimile, or overnight delivery service.
 - (c) The District may maintain lists of persons interested in receiving notices of Invitations to Bid, Requests for Proposals, Invitations to Negotiate, and Competitive Solicitations. The District shall make a good faith effort to provide written notice, by electronic mail, United States Mail, or hand delivery, or facsimile, to persons who provide their name and address to the District Manager for inclusion on the list. However, failure of a person to receive the notice shall not invalidate any contract awarded in accordance with this Rule and shall not be a basis for a protest of any contract award.

- (d) If the District has pre-qualified providers of construction services, then, at the option of the District, only those persons who have been pre-qualified will be eligible to submit bids, proposals, replies, or responses to Invitations to Bid, Requests for Proposals, Invitations to Negotiate, and Competitive Solicitations.
- (e) In order to be eligible to submit a bid, proposal, reply, or response, a firm or individual must, at the time of receipt of the bids, proposals, replies, or responses:
 - (i) Hold all required applicable state professional licenses in good standing;
 - (ii) Hold all required applicable federal licenses in good standing, if any;
 - (iii) Hold a current and active Florida corporate charter or be authorized to do business in the State of Florida in accordance with Chapter 607 of the Florida Statutes, if the bidder is a corporation; and
 - (iv) Meet any special pre-qualification requirements set forth in the Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation.

Any contractor that has been found guilty by a court of <u>competent</u> <u>jurisdiction of</u> any violation of federal labor or employment tax laws regarding subjects including but not limited to, reemployment assistance, safety, tax withholding, worker's compensation, unemployment tax, social security and Medicare tax, wage or hour, or prevailing rate laws within the past five (5) years <u>shall be deemmay be considered</u> ineligible by the District to submit a bid, response, or proposal for a District project.

Evidence of compliance with these Rules must be submitted with the bid, proposal, reply, or response, if required by the District. Failure to submit evidence of compliance when required may be grounds for rejection of the bid, proposal, reply, or response.

(f) Bids, proposals, replies, and responses, or the portions of which that include the price, shall be publicly opened at a meeting noticed in accordance with Rule 1.3, and at which at least one district representative is present. The name of each bidder and the price submitted in the bid shall be announced at such meeting and shall be made available upon request. Minutes should be taken at the meeting and maintained by the District. Bids, proposals, replies, and responses shall be evaluated in accordance with the respective Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation and these Rules. Minor variations in the bids,

proposals, replies, or responses may be waived by the Board. A variation is minor if waiver of the variation does not create a competitive advantage or disadvantage of a material nature. Mistakes in arithmetic extension of pricing may be corrected by the Board, provided such corrections do not result in a material change to the bid amount or create an unfair advantage. Bids and proposals may not be modified or supplemented after opening; provided however, additional information may be requested and/or provided to evidence compliance, make non-material modifications, clarifications, or supplementations, and as otherwise permitted by Florida law.

- (g) The lowest Responsive Bid submitted by a Responsive and Responsible Bidder in response to an Invitation to Bid shall be accepted. In relation to a Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation, the Board shall select the Responsive Proposal, Reply, or Response submitted by a Responsive and Responsible Vendor which is most advantageous to the District. To assure full understanding of the responsiveness to the solicitation requirements contained in a Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation, discussions may be conducted with qualified vendors. Vendors shall be accorded fair treatment prior to the submittal date with respect to any opportunity for discussion, preparation, and revision of bids, proposals, replies, and responses.
- (h) The Board shall have the right to reject all bids, proposals, replies, or responses because they exceed the amount of funds budgeted for the purchase, if there are not enough to be competitive, or if rejection is determined to be in the best interest of the District. No contractor shall be entitled to recover any costs of bid, proposal, response, or reply preparation or submittal from the District.
- (i) The Board may require potential contractors to furnish bid bonds, performance bonds, and/or other bonds with a responsible surety to be approved by the Board.
- (j) Notice of intent to award, including rejection of some or all bids, proposals, replies, or responses, shall be provided in writing to all contractors by United States Mail, electronic mail, hand delivery, facsimile, or overnight delivery service. The notice shall include the following statement: "Failure to file a protest within the time prescribed in Rule 3.11 of the Rules of the District shall constitute a waiver of proceedings under those Rules," or wording to that effect. Protests of the District's purchase of construction services under this Rule shall be in accordance with the procedures set forth in Rule 3.11.

- (k) If less than three (3) Responsive Bids, Proposals, Replies, or Responses are received, the District may purchase construction services or may reject the bids, proposals, replies, or responses for a lack of competitiveness. If no Responsive Bid, Proposal, Reply, or Response is received, the District may proceed with the procurement of construction services, in the manner the Board determines is in the best interests of the District, which may include but is not limited to a direct purchase of the construction services without further competitive selection processes.
- (3) Sole Source; Government. Construction services that are only available from a single source are exempt from this Rule. Construction services provided by governmental agencies are exempt from this Rule. This Rule shall not apply to the purchase of construction services, which may include goods, supplies, or materials, that are purchased under a federal, state, or local government contract that has been competitively procured by such federal, state, or local government in a manner consistent with the material procurement requirements of these Rules. A contract for construction services is exempt from this Rule if state or federal law prescribes with whom the District must contract or if the rate of payment is established during the appropriation process.
- (4) <u>Contracts; Public Records.</u> In accordance with Florida law, each contract entered into pursuant to this Rule shall include provisions required by law that require the contractor to comply with public records laws.
- (5) Emergency Purchases. The District may make an Emergency Purchase without complying with these rules- only when there exists an immediate and serious need for construction services that cannot be met through normal procurement methods and the lack of such services would seriously threaten: (i) the District's ability to perform essential services; (ii) the preservation or protection of property or improvements; or (iii) the health, safety, or welfare of any person. The fact that an Emergency Purchase has occurred or is necessary, along with a detailed description of the basis for the emergency determination, shall be noted in the minutes of the next Board Meeting.
- (6) <u>Exceptions.</u> This Rule is inapplicable when:
 - (a) The project is undertaken as repair or maintenance of an existing public facility;
 - (b) The funding source of the project will be diminished or lost because the time required to competitively award the project after the funds become available exceeds the time within which the funding source must be spent;
 - (c) The District has competitively awarded a project and the contractor has abandoned the project or the District has terminated the contract; or

(d) The District, after public notice, conducts a public meeting under Section 286.011 of the Florida Statutes, and finds by a majority vote of the Board that it is in the public's best interest to perform the project using its own services, employees, and equipment.

Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat.

Law Implemented: §§ 119.0701, 189.053, 190.033, 255.0518, 255.0525, 255.20, 287.055, Fla. Stat.

Rule 3.6 Construction Contracts, Design-Build.

(1) <u>Scope.</u> The District may utilize Design-Build Contracts for any public construction project for which the Board determines that use of such contract is in the best interest of the District. When letting a Design-Build Contract, the District shall use the following procedure:

(2) <u>Procedure.</u>

- (a) The District shall utilize a Design Criteria Professional meeting the requirements of Section 287.055(2)(k) of the Florida Statutes, when developing a Design Criteria Package, evaluating the proposals and qualifications submitted by Design-Build Firms, and determining compliance of the project construction with the Design Criteria Package. The Design Criteria Professional may be an employee of the District, may be the District Engineer selected by the District pursuant to Section 287.055 of the Florida Statutes, or may be retained pursuant to Rule 3.1. The Design Criteria Professional is not eligible to render services under a Design-Build Contract executed pursuant to the Design Criteria Package.
- (b) A Design Criteria Package for the construction project shall be prepared and sealed by the Design Criteria Professional. If the project utilizes existing plans, the Design Criteria Professional shall create a Design Criteria Package by supplementing the plans with project specific requirements, if any.
- (c) The Board may either choose to award the Design-Build Contract pursuant to the competitive proposal selection process set forth in Section 287.055(9) of the Florida Statutes, or pursuant to the qualifications-based selection process pursuant to Rule 3.1.
 - (i) <u>Qualifications-Based Selection.</u> If the process set forth in Rule 3.1 is utilized, subsequent to competitive negotiations, a guaranteed maximum price and guaranteed completion date shall be established.

- (ii) Competitive Proposal-Based Selection. If the competitive proposal selection process is utilized, the Board, in consultation with the Design Criteria Professional, shall establish the criteria, standards and procedures for the evaluation of Design-Build Proposals based on price, technical, and design aspects of the project, weighted for the project. After a Design Criteria Package and the standards and procedures for evaluation of proposals have been developed, competitive proposals from qualified firms shall be solicited pursuant to the design criteria by the following procedure:
 - 1. A Request for Proposals shall be advertised at least once in a newspaper of general circulation in the county in which the District is located. The notice shall allow at least twenty-one (21) days for submittal of sealed proposals, unless the Board, for good cause, determines a shorter period of time is appropriate. Any project projected to cost more than five hundred thousand dollars (\$500,000) must be noticed at least thirty (30) days prior to the date for submittal of proposals.
 - 2. The District may maintain lists of persons interested in receiving notices of Requests for Proposals. The District shall make a good faith effort to provide written notice, by electronic mail, United States Mail, or hand delivery, or faesimile, to persons who provide their name and address to the District Manager for inclusion on the list. However, failure of a person to receive the notice shall not invalidate any contract awarded in accordance with this Rule and shall not be a basis for a protest of any contract award.
 - 3. In order to be eligible to submit a proposal, a firm must, at the time of receipt of the proposals:
 - a. Hold the required applicable state professional licenses in good standing, as defined by Section 287.055(2)(h) of the Florida Statutes;
 - b. Hold all required applicable federal licenses in good standing, if any;
 - c. Hold a current and active Florida corporate charter or be authorized to do business in the State of Florida in accordance with Chapter 607 of the Florida Statutes, if the proposer is a corporation;

d. Meet any special pre-qualification requirements set forth in the Request for Proposals and Design Criteria Package.

Any contractor that has been found guilty by a court of any violation of federal labor or employment tax laws regarding subjects including but not limited to reemployment assistance, safety, tax withholding, worker's compensation, unemployment tax, social security and Medicare tax, wage or hour, or prevailing rate laws within the past five (5) years may be considered ineligible by the District to submit a bid, response, or proposal for a District project.

Evidence of compliance with these Rules must be submitted with the proposal if required by the District. Failure to submit evidence of compliance when required may be grounds for rejection of the proposal.

- The proposals, or the portions of which that include the 4. price, shall be publicly opened at a meeting noticed in accordance with Rule 1.3, and at which at least one district representative is present. The name of each bidder and the price submitted in the bid shall be announced at such meeting and shall be made available upon request. Minutes should be taken at the meeting and maintained by the In consultation with the Design Criteria District. Professional, the Board shall evaluate the proposals received based on evaluation criteria and procedures established prior to the solicitation of proposals, including but not limited to qualifications, availability, and past work of the firms and the partners and members thereof. The Board shall then select no fewer than three (3) Design-Build Firms as the most qualified.
- 5. The Board shall have the right to reject all proposals if the proposals are too high, or rejection is determined to be in the best interest of the District. No vendor shall be entitled to recover any costs of proposal preparation or submittal from the District.
- 6. If less than three (3) Responsive Proposals are received, the District may purchase design-build services or may reject the proposals for lack of competitiveness. If no Responsive Proposals are received, the District may proceed with the procurement of design-build services in the manner the Board determines is in the best interests of the District,

- which may include but is not limited to a direct purchase of the design-build services without further competitive selection processes.
- 7. Notice of the rankings adopted by the Board, including the rejection of some or all proposals, shall be provided in writing to all consultants by United States Mail, hand delivery, faesimile, electronic mail, or overnight delivery service. The notice shall include the following statement: "Failure to file a protest within the time prescribed in Rule 3.11 of the Rules of the District shall constitute a waiver of proceedings under those Rules," or wording to that effect. Protests of the District's rankings under this Rule shall be in accordance with the procedures set forth in Rule 3.11.
- 8. The Board shall negotiate a contract with the firm ranking the highest based on the evaluation standards and shall establish a price which the Board determines is fair, competitive and reasonable. Should the Board be unable to negotiate a satisfactory contract with the firm considered to be the most qualified at a price considered by the Board to be fair, competitive, and reasonable, negotiations with that firm must be terminated. The Board shall then undertake negotiations with the second most qualified firm, based on the ranking by the evaluation standards. Should the Board be unable to negotiate a satisfactory contract with the firm considered to be the second most qualified at a price considered by the Board to be fair, competitive, and reasonable, negotiations with that firm must be terminated. The Board shall then undertake negotiations with the third most qualified firm. Should the Board be unable to negotiate a satisfactory contract with the firm considered to be the third most qualified at a price considered by the Board to be fair, competitive, and reasonable, negotiations with that firm must be terminated. Should the Board be unable to negotiate a satisfactory contract with any of the selected firms, the Board shall select additional firms in order of their rankings based on the evaluation standards and continue negotiations until an agreement is reached or the list of firms is exhausted.
- 9. After the Board contracts with a firm, the firm shall bring to the Board for approval, detailed working drawings of the project.

- 10. The Design Criteria Professional shall evaluate the compliance of the detailed working drawings and project construction with the Design Criteria Package and shall provide the Board with a report of the same.
- (3) <u>Contracts; Public Records.</u> In accordance with Florida law, each contract entered into pursuant to this Rule shall include provisions required by law that require the contractor to comply with public records laws.
- (4) <u>Emergency Purchase.</u> The Board may, in case of public emergency, declare an emergency and immediately proceed with negotiations with the best qualified Design-Build Firm available at the time. The fact that an Emergency Purchase has occurred shall be noted in the minutes of the next Board meeting.
- (5) <u>Exceptions.</u> This Rule is inapplicable when:
 - (a) The project is undertaken as repair or maintenance of an existing public facility;
 - (b) The funding source of the project will be diminished or lost because the time required to competitively award the project after the funds become available exceeds the time within which the funding source must be spent;
 - (c) The District has competitively awarded a project and the contractor has abandoned the project or the District has terminated the contractor; or
 - (d) The District, after public notice, conducts a public meeting under Section 286.011 of the Florida Statutes, and finds by a majority vote of the Board that it is in the public's best interest to perform the project using its own services, employees, and equipment.

Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat.

Law Implemented: §§ 119.0701, 189.053, 190.033, 255.0518, 255.0525, 255.20, 287.055, Fla. Stat.

Rule 3.7 Payment and Performance Bonds.

- (1) <u>Scope.</u> This Rule shall apply to contracts for the construction of a public building, for the prosecution and completion of a public work, or for repairs upon a public building or public work and shall be construed in addition to terms prescribed by any other Rule that may also apply to such contracts.
- (2) Required Bond. Upon entering into a contract for any of the services described in section (1) of this Rule in excess of \$200,000, the Board should require that the contractor, before commencing the work, execute and record a payment and performance bond in an amount equal to the contract price. Notwithstanding the terms of the contract or any other law, the District may not make payment to the contractor until the contractor has provided to the District a certified copy of the recorded bond.
- (3) <u>Discretionary Bond.</u> At the discretion of the Board, upon entering into a contract for any of the services described in section (1) of this Rule for an amount not exceeding \$200,000, the contractor may be exempted from executing a payment and performance bond.

Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat.

Law Implemented: § 255.05, Fla. Stat.

Rule 3.8 Goods, Supplies, and Materials.

- (1) Purpose and Scope. All purchases of goods, supplies, or materials exceeding the amount provided in Section 287.017 of the Florida Statutes, for CATEGORY FOUR, shall be purchased under the terms of this Rule. Contracts for purchases of "goods, supplies, and materials" do not include printing, insurance, advertising, or legal notices. A contract involving goods, supplies, or materials plus maintenance services may, in the discretion of the Board, be treated as a contract for maintenance services. However, a purchase shall not be divided solely in order to avoid the threshold bidding requirements.
- (2) <u>Procedure.</u> When a purchase of goods, supplies, or materials is within the scope of this Rule, the following procedures shall apply:
 - (a) The Board shall cause to be prepared an Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation.
 - (b) Notice of the Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation shall be advertised at least once in a newspaper of general circulation within the District and within the county in which the District is located. The notice shall also include the amount of the bid bond, if one is required. The notice shall allow at least seven (7) days for submittal of bids, proposals, replies, or responses.
 - (c) The District may maintain lists of persons interested in receiving notices of Invitations to Bid, Requests for Proposals, Invitations to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitations. The District shall make a good faith effort to provide written notice, by electronic mail, United States Mail, or hand delivery, or faesimile, to persons who provide their name and address to the District Manager for inclusion on the list. However, failure of a person to receive the notice shall not invalidate any contract awarded in accordance with this Rule and shall not be a basis for a protest of any contract award.
 - (d) If the District has pre-qualified suppliers of goods, supplies, and materials, then, at the option of the District, only those persons who have been prequalified will be eligible to submit bids, proposals, replies, or responses.
 - (e) In order to be eligible to submit a bid, proposal, reply, or response, a firm or individual must, at the time of receipt of the bids, proposals, replies, or responses:
 - (i) Hold all required applicable state professional licenses in good standing;
 - (ii) Hold all required applicable federal licenses in good standing, if any;

- (iii) Hold a current and active Florida corporate charter or be authorized to do business in the State of Florida in accordance with Chapter 607 of the Florida Statutes, if the vendor is a corporation; and
- (iv) Meet any special pre-qualification requirements set forth in the Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation.

Evidence of compliance with these Rules must be submitted with the bid, proposal, reply or response if required by the District. Failure to submit evidence of compliance when required may be grounds for rejection of the bid, proposal, reply, or response.

Any firm or individual whose principal place of business is outside the State of Florida must also submit a written opinion of an attorney at law licensed to practice law in that foreign state, as to the preferences, if any or none, granted by the law of that foreign state to business entities whose principal places of business are in that foreign state, in the letting of any or all public contracts. Failure to submit such a written opinion or submission of a false or misleading written opinion may be grounds for rejection of the bid, proposal, reply, or response.

- (f) Bids, proposals, replies, and responses shall be publicly opened at the time and place noted on the Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation. Bids, proposals, replies, and responses shall be evaluated in accordance with the respective Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation, and this Rule. Minor variations in the bids, proposals, replies, or responses may be waived by the Board. A variation is minor if waiver of the variation does not create a competitive advantage or disadvantage of a material nature. Mistakes in arithmetic extension of pricing may be corrected by the Board. Bids and proposals may not be modified or supplemented after opening; provided however, additional information may be requested and/or provided to evidence compliance, make non-material modifications, clarifications, or supplementations, and as otherwise permitted by Florida law.
- (g) The lowest Responsive Bid, after taking into account the preferences provided for in this subsection, submitted by a Responsive and Responsible Bidder in response to an Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation shall be accepted. If the lowest Responsive Bid is submitted by a Responsive and Responsible Bidder whose principal place of business is located in a foreign state which does not grant a preference in competitive purchase to businesses whose principal place of business are in that foreign state, the lowest Responsible and Responsive Bidder whose principal place of business is in the State of

Florida shall be awarded a preference of five percent (5%). If the lowest Responsive Bid is submitted by a Responsive and Responsible Bidder whose principal place of business is located in a foreign state which grants a preference in competitive purchase to businesses whose principal place of business are in that foreign state, the lowest Responsible and Responsive Bidder whose principal place of business is in the State of Florida shall be awarded a preference equal to the preference granted by such foreign state.

To assure full understanding of the responsiveness to the solicitation requirements contained in an Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation, discussions may be conducted with qualified vendors. Vendors shall be accorded fair treatment prior to the submittal date with respect to any opportunity for discussion, preparation, and revision of bids, proposals, replies, and responses.

- (h) The Board shall have the right to reject all bids, proposals, replies, or responses because they exceed the amount of funds budgeted for the purchase, if there are not enough to be competitive, or if rejection is determined to be in the best interest of the District. No vendor shall be entitled to recover any costs of bid, proposal, reply, or response preparation or submittal from the District.
- (i) The Board may require bidders and proposers to furnish bid bonds, performance bonds, and/or other bonds with a responsible surety to be approved by the Board.
- (j) Notice of intent to award, including rejection of some or all bids, proposals, replies, or responses shall be provided in writing to all vendors by United States Mail, electronic mail, hand delivery, facsimile, or overnight delivery service. The notice shall include the following statement: "Failure to file a protest within the time prescribed in Rule 3.11 of the Rules of the District shall constitute a waiver of proceedings under those Rules," or wording to that effect. Protests of the District's purchase of goods, supplies, and materials under this Rule shall be in accordance with the procedures set forth in Rule 3.11.
- (k) If less than three (3) Responsive Bids, Proposals, Replies, or Responses are received, the District may purchase goods, supplies, or materials, or may reject the bids, proposals, replies, or responses for a lack of competitiveness. If no Responsive Bid, Proposal, Reply, or Response is received, the District may proceed with the procurement of goods, supplies, and materials, in the manner the Board determines is in the best interests of the District, which may include but is not limited to a direct purchase of the goods, supplies, and materials without further competitive selection processes.

- Goods, Supplies, and Materials included in a Construction Contract Awarded Pursuant to Rule 3.5 or 3.6. There may be occasions where the District has undergone the competitive purchase of construction services which contract may include the provision of goods, supplies, or materials. In that instance, the District may approve a change order to the contract and directly purchase the goods, supplies, and materials. Such purchase of goods, supplies, and materials deducted from a competitively purchased construction contract shall be exempt from this Rule.
- (4) Exemption. Goods, supplies, and materials that are only available from a single source are exempt from this Rule. Goods, supplies, and materials provided by governmental agencies are exempt from this Rule. A contract for goods, supplies, or materials is exempt from this Rule if state or federal law prescribes with whom the District must contract or if the rate of payment is established during the appropriation process. This Rule shall not apply to the purchase of goods, supplies or materials that are purchased under a federal, state, or local government contract that has been competitively procured by such federal, state, or local government in a manner consistent with the material procurement requirements of these Rules.
- (5) <u>Renewal.</u> Contracts for the purchase of goods, supplies, and/or materials subject to this Rule may be renewed for a maximum period of five (5) years.
- (6) <u>Emergency Purchases.</u> The District may make an Emergency Purchase without complying with these rules. The fact that an Emergency Purchase has occurred or is necessary shall be noted in the minutes of the next Board meeting.

Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat.

Law Implemented: §§ 189.053, 190.033, 287.017, 287.084, Fla. Stat.

Rule 3.9 Maintenance Services.

- (1) Scope. All contracts for maintenance of any District facility or project shall be set under the terms of this Rule if the cost exceeds the amount provided in Section 287.017 of the Florida Statutes, for CATEGORY FOUR. A contract involving goods, supplies, and materials plus maintenance services may, in the discretion of the Board, be treated as a contract for maintenance services. However, a purchase shall not be divided solely in order to avoid the threshold bidding requirements.
- (2) <u>Procedure.</u> When a purchase of maintenance services is within the scope of this Rule, the following procedures shall apply:
 - (a) The Board shall cause to be prepared an Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation.
 - (b) Notice of the Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation shall be advertised at least once in a newspaper of general circulation within the District and within the county in which the District is located. The notice shall also include the amount of the bid bond, if one is required. The notice shall allow at least seven (7) days for submittal of bids, proposals, replies, or responses.
 - (c) The District may maintain lists of persons interested in receiving notices of Invitations to Bid, Requests for Proposals, Invitations to Negotiate, and Competitive Solicitations. The District shall make a good faith effort to provide written notice, by electronic mail, United States Mail, or hand delivery, or facsimile, to persons who provide their name and address to the District Manager for inclusion on the list. However, failure of a person to receive the notice shall not invalidate any contract awarded in accordance with this Rule and shall not be a basis for a protest of any contract award.
 - (d) If the District has pre-qualified suppliers of maintenance services, then, at the option of the District, only those persons who have been pre-qualified will be eligible to submit bids, proposals, replies, and responses.
 - (e) In order to be eligible to submit a bid, proposal, reply, or response, a firm or individual must, at the time of receipt of the bids, proposals, replies, or responses:
 - (i) Hold all required applicable state professional licenses in good standing;
 - (ii) Hold all required applicable federal licenses in good standing, if any;

- (iii) Hold a current and active Florida corporate charter or be authorized to do business in the State of Florida in accordance with Chapter 607 of the Florida Statutes, if the vendor is a corporation; and
- (iv) Meet any special pre-qualification requirements set forth in the Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation.

Evidence of compliance with these Rules must be submitted with the bid, proposal, reply, or response if required by the District. Failure to submit evidence of compliance when required may be grounds for rejection of the bid, proposal, reply, or response.

- (f) Bids, proposals, replies, and responses shall be publicly opened at the time and place noted on the Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation. Bids, proposals, replies, and responses shall be evaluated in accordance with the respective Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation, and these Rules. Minor variations in the bids, proposals, replies, and responses may be waived by the Board. A variation is minor if waiver of the variation does not create a competitive advantage or disadvantage of a material nature. Mistakes in arithmetic extension of pricing may be corrected by the Board. Bids and proposals may not be modified or supplemented after opening; provided however, additional information may be requested and/or provided to evidence compliance, make non-material modifications, clarifications, or supplementations, and as otherwise permitted by Florida law.
- (g) The lowest Responsive Bid submitted in response to an Invitation to Bid by a Responsive and Responsible Bidder shall be accepted. In relation to a Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate or Competitive Solicitation the Board shall select the Responsive Proposal, Reply, or Response submitted by a Responsive and Responsible Vendor which is most advantageous to the District. To assure full understanding of the responsiveness to the solicitation requirements contained in a Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation, discussions may be conducted with qualified vendors. Vendors shall be accorded fair treatment prior to the submittal date with respect to any opportunity for discussion, preparation, and revision of bids, proposals, replies, or responses.
- (h) The Board shall have the right to reject all bids, proposals, replies, or responses because they exceed the amount of funds budgeted for the purchase, if there are not enough to be competitive, or if rejection is determined to be in the best interest of the District. No Vendor shall be

- entitled to recover any costs of bid, proposal, reply, or response preparation or submittal from the District.
- (i) The Board may require bidders and proposers to furnish bid bonds, performance bonds, and/or other bonds with a responsible surety to be approved by the Board.
- (j) Notice of intent to award, including rejection of some or all bids, proposals, replies, or responses shall be provided in writing to all vendors by United States Mail, electronic mail, hand delivery, facsimile, or overnight delivery service. The notice shall include the following statement: "Failure to file a protest within the time prescribed in Rule 3.11 of the Rules of the District shall constitute a waiver of proceedings under those Rules," or wording to that effect. Protests of the District's procurement of maintenance services under this Rule shall be in accordance with the procedures set forth in Rule 3.11.
- (k) If less than three (3) Responsive Bids, Proposals, Replies, or Responses are received, the District may purchase the maintenance services or may reject the bids, proposals, replies, or responses for a lack of competitiveness. If no Responsive Bid, Proposal, Reply, or Response is received, the District may proceed with the procurement of maintenance services, in the manner the Board determines is in the best interests of the District, which may include but is not limited to a direct purchase of the maintenance services without further competitive selection processes.
- (3) <u>Exemptions.</u> Maintenance services that are only available from a single source are exempt from this Rule. Maintenance services provided by governmental agencies are exempt from this Rule. A contract for maintenance services is exempt from this Rule if state or federal law prescribes with whom the District must contract or if the rate of payment is established during the appropriation process.
- (4) <u>Renewal.</u> Contracts for the purchase of maintenance services subject to this Rule may be renewed for a maximum period of five (5) years.
- (5) <u>Contracts; Public Records.</u> In accordance with Florida law, each contract entered into pursuant to this Rule shall include provisions required by law that require the contractor to comply with public records laws.
- (6) <u>Emergency Purchases.</u> The District may make an Emergency Purchase without complying with these rules. The fact that an Emergency Purchase has occurred or is necessary shall be noted in the minutes of the next Board meeting.

Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), 190.033, Fla. Stat. Law Implemented: §§ 119.0701, 190.033, 287.017, Fla. Stat.

Rule 3.10 Contractual Services.

- (1) Exemption from Competitive Purchase. Pursuant to Section 190.033(3) of the Florida Statutes, Contractual Services shall not be subject to competitive purchasing requirements. If an agreement is predominantly for Contractual Services, but also includes maintenance services or the purchase of goods and services, the contract shall not be subject to competitive purchasing requirements. Regardless of whether an advertisement or solicitation for Contractual Services is identified as an Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation, no rights or remedies under these Rules, including but not limited to protest rights, are conferred on persons, firms, or vendors proposing to provide Contractual Services to the District.
- (2) <u>Contracts; Public Records.</u> In accordance with Florida law, each contract for Contractual Services shall include provisions required by law that require the contractor to comply with public records laws.

Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. Law Implemented: §§ 119.0701, 190.011(3), 190.033, Fla. Stat.

Rule 3.11 Protests with Respect to Proceedings under Rules 3.1, 3.2, 3.3, 3.4, 3.5, 3.6, 3.8, and 3.9.

The resolution of any protests with respect to proceedings under Rules 3.1, 3.2, 3.3, 3.4, 3.5, 3.6, 3.8, and 3.9 shall be in accordance with this Rule.

(1) <u>Filing.</u>

- (a) With respect to a protest regarding qualifications, specifications, documentation, or other requirements contained in a Request for Qualifications, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Bid, or Competitive Solicitation issued by the District, the notice of protest shall be filed in writing within seventy-two (72) calendar hours (excluding Saturdays, Sundays, and state holidays) after the first advertisement of the Request for Qualifications, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Bid, or Competitive Solicitation. A formal protest setting forth with particularity the facts and law upon which the protest is based shall be filed within seven (7) calendar days (including Saturdays, Sundays, and state holidays) after the initial notice of protest was filed. For purposes of this Rule, wherever applicable, filing will be perfected and deemed to have occurred upon receipt by the District. Failure to file a notice of protest shall constitute a waiver of all rights to protest the District's intended decision. Failure to file a formal written protest shall constitute an abandonment of the protest proceedings and shall automatically terminate the protest proceedings.
- (b) Except for those situations covered by subsection (1)(a) of this Rule, any firm or person who is affected adversely by a District's ranking or intended award under Rules 3.1, 3.2, 3.3, 3.4, 3.5, 3.6, 3.8, or 3.9 and desires to contest the District's ranking or intended award, shall file with the District a written notice of protest within seventy-two (72) calendar hours (excluding Saturdays, Sundays, and state holidays) after receipt of the notice of the District's ranking or intended award. A formal protest setting forth with particularity the facts and law upon which the protest is based shall be filed within seven (7) calendar days (including Saturdays, Sundays, and state holidays) after the initial notice of protest was filed. For purposes of this Rule, wherever applicable, filing will be perfected and deemed to have occurred upon receipt by the District. Failure to file a notice of protest shall constitute a waiver of all rights to protest the District's ranking or intended award. Failure to file a formal written protest shall constitute an abandonment of the protest proceedings and shall automatically terminate the protest proceedings.
- (c) If the requirement for the posting of a protest bond and the amount of the protest bond, which may be expressed by a percentage of the contract to be awarded or a set amount, is disclosed in the District's competitive solicitation documents for a particular purchase under Rules 3.1, 3.2, 3.3,

- 3.4, 3.5, 3.6, 3.8, or 3.9, any person who files a notice of protest must post the protest bond. The amount of the protest bond shall be determined by District staff after consultation with the Board and within the limits, if any, imposed by Florida law. In the event the protest is successful, the protest bond shall be refunded to the protestor. In the event the protest is unsuccessful, the protest bond shall be applied towards the District's costs, expenses, and attorney's fees associated with hearing and defending the protest. In the event the protest is settled by mutual agreement of the parties, the protest bond shall be distributed as agreed to by the District and protestor.
- (d) The District does not accept documents filed by electronic mail or facsimile transmission. Filings are only accepted during normal business hours, which are 9:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m., Monday through Friday, excluding holidays.
- (2) <u>Contract Execution.</u> Upon receipt of a notice of protest which has been timely filed, the District shall not execute the contract under protest until the subject of the protest is resolved. However, if the District sets forth in writing particular facts and circumstances showing that delay incident to protest proceedings will jeopardize the funding for the project, will materially increase the cost of the project, or will create an immediate and serious danger to the public health, safety, or welfare, the contract may be executed.
- (3) <u>Informal Proceeding.</u> If the Board determines a protest does not involve a disputed issue of material fact, the Board may, but is not obligated to, schedule an informal proceeding to consider the protest. Such informal proceeding shall be at a time and place determined by the Board. Notice of such proceeding shall be sent via <u>certified mafacsimile</u>, <u>hand delivery</u>, or <u>email with delivery confirmation United States Mail</u>, or hand delivery to the protestor and any substantially affected persons or parties not less than three (3) calendar days prior to such informal proceeding. Within thirty (30) calendar days following the informal proceeding, the Board shall issue a written decision setting forth the factual, legal, and policy grounds for its decision.
- (4) <u>Formal Proceeding.</u> If the Board determines a protest involves disputed issues of material fact or if the Board elects not to use the informal proceeding process provided for in section (3) of this Rule, the District shall schedule a formal hearing to resolve the protest. The Chairperson shall designate any member of the Board (including the Chairperson), District Manager, District Counsel, or other <u>qualified</u> person as a hearing officer to conduct the hearing. The hearing officer may:
 - (a) Administer oaths and affirmations;
 - (b) Rule upon offers of proof and receive relevant evidence;
 - (c) Regulate the course of the hearing, including any pre-hearing matters;

- (d) Enter orders; and
- (e) Make or receive offers of settlement, stipulation, and adjustment.

The hearing officer shall, within thirty (30) days after the hearing or receipt of the hearing transcript, whichever is later, file a recommended order which shall include a caption, time and place of hearing, appearances entered at the hearing, statement of the issues, findings of fact and conclusions of law, separately stated, and a recommendation for final District action. The District shall allow each party fifteen (15) <u>calendar days from receipt of the recommended order days</u> in which to submit written exceptions to the recommended order. The District shall issue a final order within sixty (60) days after the filing of the recommended order.

- (5) <u>Intervenors.</u> Other substantially affected persons may join the proceedings as intervenors by filing a motion to intervene within 10 calendar days of the initial protest filing, onen appropriate terms that which shall not unduly delay the proceedings.
- Rejection of all Qualifications, Bids, Proposals, Replies and Responses after Receipt of Notice of Protest. If the Board determines there was a violation of law, defect, or an irregularity in the competitive solicitation process, the Bids, Proposals, Replies, and Responses are too high, or if the Board determines it is otherwise in the District's best interest, the Board may reject all qualifications, bids, proposals, replies, and responses and start the competitive solicitation process anew. If the Board decides to reject all qualifications, bids, proposals, replies, and responses and start the competitive solicitation process anew, any pending protests shall automatically terminate.
- (7) <u>Settlement.</u> Nothing herein shall preclude the settlement of any protest under this Rule at any time.

Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat.

Law Implemented: § 190.033, Fla. Stat.

Rule 4.0 Effective Date.

These Rules shall be effective [DATE], except that no election of officers required by these Rules shall be required until after the next regular election for the Board.

Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. Law Implemented: §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat.

SECTION VI

RESOLUTION 2026-03

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE LAKE DEER COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT CONFIRMING AUTHORIZATION TO PAY INVOICES FOR WORK PREVIOUSLY APPROVED; AUTHORIZING THE CHAIR OR VICE CHAIR OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS AND THE DISTRICT MANAGER TO ENTER INTO TIME SENSITIVE **EMERGENCY** CONTRACTS AND DISBURSE FUNDS FOR PAYMENT OF CERTAIN EXPENSES WITHOUT PRIOR APPROVAL OF THE BOARD OF **SUPERVISORS: PROVIDING FOR** A **MONETARY** THRESHOLD: AND PROVIDING FOR THE REPEAL OF PRIOR SPENDING AUTHORIZATIONS; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

WHEREAS, the Lake Deer Community Development District ("District") is a local unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and

WHEREAS, Section 190.011(5), *Florida Statutes*, authorizes the District to adopt resolutions which may be necessary for the conduct of District business; and

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the District ("Board") typically meets on an as needed basis, and in no event more than monthly, to conduct the business of the District, including approval of proposals, authorizing the entering into of agreements or contracts, and authorizing the payment of District operating and maintenance expenses; and

WHEREAS, the Board contracted with the District Manager to timely pay the District's vendors and perform other management functions; and

WHEREAS, the Board desires to confirm that the District Manager is authorized to pay invoices, regardless of the dollar amounts, for work previously approved by the Board and such payments do not need to be approved by the Board prior to payment; and

WHEREAS, the Board recognizes that certain time sensitive or emergency issues may arise from time to time that require approval outside of regular monthly meetings; and

WHEREAS, to conduct the business of the District in an efficient manner, recurring, non-recurring, and other disbursements for goods and services must be processed and paid in a timely manner; and

WHEREAS, the Board has determined that it is in the best interests of the District, and is necessary for the efficient administration of District operations; the health, safety, and welfare of the residents within the District; and the preservation of District assets and facilities, to authorize limited spending authority to the Chair (or Vice Chair, if the Chair is unavailable) of the Board and the District Manager between regular monthly meetings, for work and services that are time sensitive and/or emergency in nature.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE LAKE DEER COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT:

- 1. <u>Authorization to Pay Invoices for Work Previously Approved</u>. The District Manager is authorized to pay invoices, regardless of the dollar amounts, for work previously approved by the Board in accordance with such contracts and such payments do not need to be approved by the Board prior to payment nor do they need to be re-approved by the Board at a future meeting.
- 2. <u>Limited Spending Authorization</u>. The Board hereby authorizes the individuals stated below to exercise their judgment to enter into time sensitive and emergency contracts and disburse funds up to the amounts stated below, without prior Board approval for expenses (1) that are required to provide for the health, safety, and welfare of the residents within the District; (2) for the maintenance, repair, or replacement of a District asset; or (3) to remedy an unforeseen disruption in services relating to the District's facilities or assets, if such disruption would result in significantly higher expenses unless the contract is entered into immediately.
 - a. The District Manager may individually authorize such expense up to \$2,500.00 per proposal and/or event.
 - b. The Chair (or Vice Chair, if the Chair is unavailable) may individually authorize such expenses up to \$10,000.00 per proposal and/or event.
 - c. The District Manager and Chair (or Vice Chair, if the Chair is unavailable) may jointly authorize such expenses up to \$25,000.00 per proposal and/or event.

I AKE DEED

- **3.** Ratification of Spending Authorization at Future Meeting. Any payment made or contract entered into pursuant to this Resolution shall be submitted to the Board at the next scheduled meeting for approval and ratification.
- **4.** Repeal of Prior Spending Authorizations. All prior spending authorizations approved by resolution or motion of the Board are hereby repealed.
- 5. Effective Date. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption.

PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 15TH DAY OF OCTOBER 2025.

ATTEST.

ATTLST.	COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT
Secretary/Assistant Secretary	Chairman, Board of Supervisors

SECTION VII

RESOLUTION 2026-04

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE LAKE DEER COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT ADOPTING THE AMENDED ANNUAL MEETING SCHEDULE FOR FISCAL YEAR 2025/2026; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

WHEREAS, the Lake Deer Community Development District (the "District") is a local unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, *Florida Statutes*, being situated within Polk County, Florida; and

WHEREAS, the District is required by Section 189.015, *Florida Statutes*, to file quarterly, semi-annually, or annually a schedule (including date, time, and location) of its regular meetings with local governing authorities; and

WHEREAS, further, in accordance with the above-referenced statute, the District shall also publish quarterly, semi-annually, or annually the District's regular meeting schedule in a newspaper of general paid circulation in the county in which the District is located; and

WHEREAS, the Board desires to adopt the amended Fiscal Year 2025/2026 annual meeting schedule attached as **Exhibit A**.

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE LAKE DEER COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT:

SECTION 1. The amended Fiscal Year 2025/2026 annual meeting schedule attached hereto and incorporated by reference herein as **Exhibit A** is hereby approved and shall be published in accordance with the requirements of Florida law and also provided to applicable governing authorities.

SECTION 2. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption.

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 15th day of October 2025.

ATTEST:	LAKE DEER COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT
Secretary / Assistant Secretary	Chairperson, Board of Supervisors

Exhibit A: Amended Fiscal Year 2025/2026 Annual Meeting Schedule

Exhibit A: Amended Fiscal Year 2025/2026 Annual Meeting Schedule

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS MEETING DATES LAKE DEER COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT FISCAL YEAR 2025/2026

The Board of Supervisors of the Lake Deer Community Development District will hold their regular meetings for Fiscal Year 2025/2026 at the Offices of Prime Community Management, 375 Avenue A SE, Winter Haven, FL 33880, on the 3rd Wednesday of every month at 11:00 AM unless otherwise indicated as follows:

October 15, 2025
November 19, 2025 (Landowners' Meeting & BOS Meeting)
December 17, 2025
January 21, 2026
February 18, 2026
March 18, 2026
April 15, 2026
May 20, 2026
June 17, 2026
July 15, 2026
August 19, 2026
September 16, 2026

The meetings are open to the public and will be conducted in accordance with the provision of Florida Law for Community Development Districts. The meetings may be continued to a date, time, and place to be specified on the record at the meeting. A copy of the agenda for these meetings may be obtained from Governmental Management Services - Central Florida, LLC, 219 E. Livingston Street, Orlando, Florida 32801 or by calling (407) 841-5524.

There may be occasions when one or more Supervisors or staff will participate by telephone. Pursuant to provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act, any person requiring special accommodations at this meeting because of a disability or physical impairment should contact the District Office at (407) 841-5524 at least three (3) business days prior to the meeting. If you are hearing or speech impaired, please contact the Florida Relay Service by dialing 7-1-1, or 1-800-955-8771 (TTY) / 1-800-955-8770 (Voice), for aid in contacting the District Office.

A person who decides to appeal any decision made at the meeting with respect to any matter considered at the meeting is advised that person will need a record of the proceedings and that accordingly, the person may need to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, including the testimony and evidence upon which such appeal is to be based.

District Manager

SECTION VIII

RESOLUTION 2026-05

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE LAKE DEER COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT RATIFYING THE ACTION OF THE DISTRICT MANAGER AND DISTRICT STAFF IN AMENDING THE LOCATION OF THE LANDOWNER'S MEETING AND ELECTION; AMENDING RESOLUTION 2025-07 DESIGNATING A DATE, TIME, AND LOCATION FOR A LANDOWNER'S MEETING AND ELECTION; PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

WHEREAS, the Lake Deer Community Development District ("**District**") is a local unit of special purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, *Florida Statutes*, being situated in Polk County, Florida; and

WHEREAS, the District's Board of Supervisors ("**Board**") adopted Resolution 2025-07, on July 8, 2025, scheduling the public hearing of the landowners to elect Board Supervisors of the District on November 19, 2025, at 11:00 a.m. at the Holiday Inn—Winter Haven, 200 Cypress Gardens Blvd., Winter Haven, Florida 33880; and

WHEREAS, the Board now desires to ratify the District Manager's and District Staff's actions in amending the meeting location of the landowners meeting and election on November 19, 2025, at 11:00 a.m., to the offices of <u>PRIME Community Management</u>, 375 Avenue A SE, <u>Winter Haven</u>, Florida 33880, and causing notice thereof to be provided pursuant to Florida law; and

WHEREAS, the Board further desires to amend Resolution 2025-07 to reflect the same.

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE LAKE DEER COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT:

SECTION 1. Resolution 2025-07, as amended on the record, is hereby amended to reflect the change of meeting location of the meeting and election of the landowners for the following date, time, and location:

DATE: Wednesday, November 19, 2025

HOUR: 11:00 a.m.

LOCATION: Offices of PRIME Community Management

375 Avenue A SE.

Winter Haven, Florida 33880

SECTION 2. The actions of the District Manager and District Staff in re-noticing the public hearing on the landowner meeting and election are hereby ratified and approved.

SECTION 3. Notice of this public hearing shall be published in the manner prescribed in Florida law.

SECTION 4. Except as otherwise provided herein, all of the provisions of Resolution 2025-07 continue in full force and effect.

SECTION 5. If any provision of this Resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the other provisions shall remain in full force and effect.

SECTION 6. This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall remain in effect unless rescinded or repealed.

PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 15TH DAY OF OCTOBER 2025.

ATTEST:	LAKE DEER COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT
Secretary / Assistant Secretary	Chair / Vice Chair, Board of Supervisors

SECTION IX

AGREEMENT FOR HOLIDAY LIGHTING

THIS AGREEMENT ("**Agreement**") is made and entered into this 10th day of October 2025, by and between:

LAKE DEER COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT, a local unit of special-purpose government established pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, being located in Polk County, Florida, with a mailing address of c/o Governmental Management Services – Central Florida, LLC, 219 East Livingston Street, Orlando, Florida 32801 ("**District**"); and

SPARKING POOLS AND LIGHTS, LLC D/B/A FESTIVE GLOW, a Florida limited liability company, with a mailing address of 6333 Southwest 46th Drive, Gainesville, Florida 32608 ("**Contractor**" and, together with the District, the "**Parties**").

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the District was established for the purpose of planning, financing, constructing, installing, operating and/or maintaining certain infrastructure improvements within the boundaries of the District; and

WHEREAS, the District has a need to retain an independent contractor to provide for the installation and maintenance of seasonal lighting and decorations ("Lighting"); and

WHEREAS, Contractor represents that it is qualified to perform such services and has agreed to provide to the District those services identified in this Agreement and in **Exhibit A** attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference ("Services"); and

WHEREAS, the District and Contractor warrant and agree that they have all right, power and authority to enter into and be bound by this Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the recitals, agreements, and mutual covenants contained herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged by the Parties, the Parties agree as follows:

SECTION 1. RECITALS. The recitals so stated are true and correct and by this reference are incorporated into and form a material part of this Agreement.

SECTION 2. SCOPE OF SERVICES; TERM.

- A. Contractor will provide the Services, which include but are not limited to the provision of materials and labor, and installation services. Contractor shall be solely responsible for the means, manner and methods by which its duties, obligations and responsibilities are met to the satisfaction of the District. While providing the Services, Contractor shall assign such staff as may be required, and such staff shall be responsible for coordinating, expediting, and controlling all aspects to assure completion of the Services.
- **B.** Contractor shall perform the Services in a neat and workmanlike manner. In the event the District, in its sole determination, finds that the work of Contractor is not satisfactory to the District, the District shall have the right to immediately terminate this Agreement and will only be responsible for payment of Services satisfactorily completed.

- C. Contractor shall use all due care to protect the property of the District, its residents and landowners from damage. Contractor agrees to commence repair of any damage resulting from Contractor's activities within twenty-four (24) hours.
- **D.** This Agreement shall be effective upon execution of this Agreement and shall continue through September 30, 2026 ("**Initial Term**"). Thereafter, this Agreement shall be automatically renewed for additional one (1) year periods unless, unless terminated earlier in accordance with the terms herein.

SECTION 3. COMPENSATION.

- A. The District agrees to pay Contractor Seven Thousand Four Hundred Sixty Dollars and Zero Cents (\$7,460.00), as set forth in Exhibit A.
- **B.** All invoices are due and payable in accordance with Florida's Local Government Prompt Payment Act, Sections 218.70 through 218.80, *Florida Statutes*.
- C. Contractor agrees that the District shall not be liable for payment for any additional services or amounts unless the District, through an authorized representative of the District, authorizes Contractor, in writing, to perform such additional services.
- D. Contractor shall promptly and properly pay for all labor employed, materials purchased, and equipment hired by it to perform under this Agreement. Contractor shall keep the District's property free from any materialmen's or mechanic's liens and claims or notices in respect to such liens and claims, which arise by reason of Contractor's performance under this Agreement, and Contractor shall immediately discharge any such claim or lien. In the event that Contractor does not pay or satisfy such claim or lien within three (3) business days after the filing of notice thereof, the District, in addition to any and all other remedies available under this Agreement, may terminate this Agreement to be effective immediately upon the giving of notice of termination.

SECTION 4. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR. In all matters relating to this Agreement, Contractor shall be acting as an independent contractor. Neither Contractor nor employees of Contractor, if there are any, are employees of the District under the meaning or application of any Federal or State Unemployment or Insurance Laws or Old Age Laws or otherwise. Contractor agrees to assume all liabilities or obligations imposed by any one or more of such laws with respect to employees of Contractor, if there are any, in the performance of this Agreement. Contractor shall not have any authority to assume or create any obligation, express or implied, on behalf of the District and Contractor shall have no authority to represent the District as an agent, employee, or in any other capacity, unless otherwise set forth in this Agreement.

SECTION 5. INSURANCE.

- A. Contractor shall, at its own expense, maintain insurance during the performance of its services under this Agreement, with limits of liability not less than the following:
 - 1. Workers' Compensation Insurance, or Contractor's certificate of exemption, in accordance with the laws of the State of Florida.

- 2. Commercial General Liability Insurance covering the Contractor's legal liability for bodily injuries, with limits of not less than One Million Dollars (\$1,000,000.00) combined single limit bodily injury and property damage liability, and covering at least the following hazards:
 - i. Independent Contractors Coverage for bodily injury and property damage in connection with any subcontractors' operation, if any.
- **3.** Employer's Liability Coverage with limits of at least One Million Dollars (\$1,000,000.00) per accident or disease.
- 4. Automobile Liability Insurance for bodily injuries in limits of not less than One Million Dollars (\$1,000,000.00) combined single limit bodily injury and for property damage, providing coverage for any accident arising out of or resulting from the operation, maintenance, or use by the Contractor of any owned, non-owned, or hired automobiles, trailers, or other equipment required to be licensed.
- B. The District and the District's staff, employees, consultants, officers, representatives, agents, and supervisors shall be named as additional insureds on the above listed policies, except Workers' Compensation and Employer's Liability. All above-referenced insurance policies shall be considered primary and non-contributory with respect to the additional insureds, and all such required insurance policies shall be endorsed to provide for a waiver of underwriter's rights of subrogation in favor of the additional insureds. The Contractor shall furnish the District with the Certificate of Insurance evidencing compliance with this requirement. No certificate shall be acceptable to the District, unless it provides that any change or termination within the policy periods of the insurance coverages, as certified, shall not be effective within thirty (30) days of prior written notice to the District. Insurance coverage shall be from a reputable insurance carrier, licensed to conduct business in the State of Florida.
- C. If Contractor fails to have secured and maintained the required insurance, the District has the right but not the obligation to secure such required insurance in which event Contractor shall pay the cost for that required insurance and shall furnish, upon demand, all information that may be required in connection with the District's obtaining the required insurance.

SECTION 6. INDEMNIFICATION.

- A. Obligations under this section shall include the payment of all settlements, judgments, damages, liquidated damages, penalties, forfeitures, back pay awards, court costs, arbitration and/or mediation costs, litigation expenses, attorney fees, and paralegal fees (incurred in court, out of court, on appeal, or in bankruptcy proceedings) as ordered.
- **B.** Contractor agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless the District and its officers, agents and employees from any and all liability, claims, actions, suits or demands by any person, corporation or other entity for injuries, death, property damage or of any nature, arising out of, or in connection with, the work to be performed by Contractor, including litigation or any appellate proceedings with respect thereto. Contractor further agrees that nothing herein shall constitute or be construed as a waiver of the District's sovereign

immunity or limitations on liability contained in Section 768.28, *Florida Statutes*, or other statute.

- **SECTION 7. AGREEMENT; AMENDMENTS.** This instrument shall constitute the final and complete expression of the agreement between the Parties relating to the subject matter of this Agreement. Amendments to and waivers of the provisions contained in this Agreement may be made only by an instrument in writing which is executed by both Parties.
- **SECTION 8. AGREEMENT CONTROLS.** To the extent that any of the provisions in the attached **Exhibit A** and this Agreement conflict, the terms of this Agreement control.
- **SECTION 9. WARRANTY.** Contractor warrants to the District that all materials furnished under this Agreement shall be new, and that all services and materials shall be of good quality, free from faults and defects. In addition to all manufacturer warranties for materials purchased for purposes of this Agreement, all Services provided by Contractor pursuant to this Agreement shall be warranted for one (1) year from the date of the final acceptance by the District of the Services. Contractor shall commence to repair and/or replace any lighting covered by this warranty within twenty-four (24) hours of being informed of any lighting outage and/or necessary repairs or replacement of the Lighting.
- **SECTION 10. AUTHORIZATION.** The execution of this Agreement has been duly authorized by the appropriate body or official of the Parties, the Parties have complied with all the requirements of law, and the Parties have full power and authority to comply with the terms and provisions of this instrument.
- **SECTION 11. TERMINATION.** Contractor may terminate this Agreement with cause by providing thirty (30) days' written notice of termination to the District stating a failure of the District to perform according to the terms of this Agreement; provided, however, that the District shall be provided a reasonable opportunity to cure any failure under this Agreement. The District may terminate this Agreement immediately for cause by providing written notice of termination to Contractor. The District shall provide thirty (30) days' written notice of termination without cause. Upon any termination of this Agreement, Contractor shall be entitled to payment for all work and/or services rendered up until the effective termination of this Agreement, subject to whatever claims or off-sets the District may have against Contractor, as its sole recourse for termination.
- **SECTION 12. COMPLIANCE WITH GOVERNMENTAL REGULATION.** Contractor shall keep, observe, and perform all requirements of applicable local, state, and federal laws, rules, regulations, or ordinances. If Contractor fails to notify the District in writing within five (5) days of the receipt of any notice, order, required to comply notice, or a report of a violation or an alleged violation, made by any local, state, or federal governmental body or agency or subdivision thereof with respect to the services being rendered under this Agreement or any action of Contractor or any of its agents, servants, employees, or materialmen, or with respect to terms, wages, hours, conditions of employment, safety appliances, or any other requirements applicable to provision of services, or fails to comply with any requirement of such agency within five (5) days after receipt of any such notice, order, request to comply notice, or report of a violation or an alleged violation, the District may terminate this Agreement, such termination to be effective immediately upon the giving of notice of termination.
- **SECTION 13. ENFORCEMENT OF AGREEMENT.** In the event that either the District or Contractor is required to enforce this Agreement by court proceedings or otherwise, then the substantially prevailing party shall be entitled to recover all fees and costs incurred, including reasonable attorneys' fees, expert witness fees, paralegal fees and costs for trial, alternative dispute resolution, or appellate proceedings.

SECTION 14. NOTICES. All notices, requests, consents, and other communications under this Agreement ("**Notice**" or "**Notices**") shall be in writing and shall be hand delivered, mailed by First Class Mail, postage prepaid, or sent by overnight delivery service, to the Parties, as follows:

A. If to District: Lake Deer Community Development District

c/o Governmental Management Services - Central Florida, LLC

219 East Livingston Street Orlando, Florida 32801 Attn: District Manager

With a copy to: Kilinski | Van Wyk, PLLC

517 East College Avenue Tallahassee, Florida 32301

Attn: Lake Deer CDD, District Counsel

B. If to Contractor: Sparking Pools and Lights, LLC d/b/a Festive Glow

6333 Southwest 36th Drive Gainesville, Florida 32608 Attn: Jeb Bennett

Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, any Notice shall be deemed received only upon actual delivery at the address set forth above. Notices delivered after 5:00 p.m. (at the place of delivery) or on a non-business day, shall be deemed received on the next business day. If any time for giving Notice contained in this Agreement would otherwise expire on a non-business day, the Notice period shall be extended to the next succeeding business day. Saturdays, Sundays, and legal holidays recognized by the United States government shall not be regarded as business days. Counsel for the District and counsel for Contractor may deliver Notices on behalf of the District and Contractor. Any party or other person to whom Notices are to be sent or copied may notify the other Parties and addressees of any change in name or address to which Notices shall be sent by providing the same on five (5) days' written notice to the Parties and addressees set forth in this Agreement.

SECTION 15. ASSIGNMENT. Neither the District nor Contractor may assign this Agreement or any monies to become due under this Agreement without the prior written approval of the other, and such approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.

SECTION 16. CONTROLLING LAW AND VENUE. This Agreement and the provisions contained in this Agreement shall be construed, interpreted, and controlled according to the laws of the State of Florida. Venue shall be in Polk County, Florida.

SECTION 17. PUBLIC RECORDS. Contractor understands and agrees that all documents of any kind provided to the District in connection with this Agreement may be public records, and, accordingly, Contractor agrees to comply with all applicable provisions of Florida law in handling such records, including but not limited to Section 119.0701, *Florida Statutes*. Contractor acknowledges that the designated public records custodian for the District is **Jill Burns** ("**Public Records Custodian**"). Among other requirements and to the extent applicable by law, Contractor shall 1) keep and maintain public records required by the District to perform the service; 2) upon request by the Public Records Custodian, provide the District with the requested public records or allow the records to be inspected or copied within a reasonable time period at a cost that does not exceed the cost provided in Chapter 119, Florida Statutes; 3) ensure that public records which are exempt or confidential, and exempt from public records disclosure

requirements, are not disclosed except as authorized by law for the duration of the contract term and following the contract term if Contractor does not transfer the records to the Public Records Custodian of the District; and 4) upon completion of the contract, transfer to the District, at no cost, all public records in Contractor's possession or, alternatively, keep, maintain and meet all applicable requirements for retaining public records pursuant to Florida laws. When such public records are transferred by Contractor, Contractor shall destroy any duplicate public records that are exempt or confidential and exempt from public records disclosure requirements. All records stored electronically must be provided to the District in a format that is compatible with Microsoft Word or Adobe PDF formats.

IF CONTRACTOR HAS QUESTIONS REGARDING THE APPLICATION OF CHAPTER 119, FLORIDA STATUTES, TO CONTRACTOR'S DUTY TO PROVIDE PUBLIC RECORDS CONTRACT, CONTACT RELATING TO THIS CUSTODIAN OF PUBLIC RECORDS AT GOVERNMENTAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES – CENTRAL FLORIDA, LLC, 219 EAST LIVINGSTON STREET, ORLANDO, FLORIDA 32801, PHONE **(407)** 841-5524, OR BY EMAIL AT JBURNS@GMSCFL.COM.

SECTION 18. SEVERABILITY. The invalidity or unenforceability of any one or more provisions of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining portions of this Agreement, or any part of this Agreement not held to be invalid or unenforceable.

SECTION 19. HEADINGS FOR CONVENIENCE ONLY. The descriptive headings in this Agreement are for convenience only and shall neither control nor affect the meaning or construction of any of the provisions of this Agreement.

SECTION 20. COUNTERPARTS. This instrument may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which, when executed and delivered, shall constitute an original, and such counterparts together shall constitute one and the same instrument. Signature and acknowledgment pages, if any, may be detached from the counterparts and attached to a single copy of this document to physically form one document.

SECTION 21. E-VERIFY. Contractor shall comply with and perform all applicable provisions of Section 448.095, *Florida Statutes*. Accordingly, to the extent required by Florida Statute, Contractor shall register with and use the United States Department of Homeland Security's E-Verify system to verify the work authorization status of all newly hired employees and shall comply with all requirements of Section 448.095, *Florida Statutes*, as to the use of subcontractors. The District may terminate the Agreement immediately for cause if there is a good faith belief that the Contractor has knowingly violated Section 448.091, *Florida Statutes*. By entering into this Agreement, the Contractor represents that no public employer has terminated a contract with the Contractor under Section 448.095(5)(c), *Florida Statutes*, within the year immediately preceding the date of this Agreement.

SECTION 22. FOREIGN INFLUENCE. Contractor understands that under Section 286.101, *Florida Statutes*, that Contractor must disclose any current or prior interest, any contract with, or any grant or gift form a foreign country of concern as that term is defined within the above referenced statute.

SECTION 23. SCRUTINIZED COMPANIES STATEMENT. In accordance with Section 287.135, Florida Statutes, Contractor represents that in entering into this Agreement, neither it nor any of its officers, directors, executives, partners, shareholders, members, or agents is on the Scrutinized Companies with Activities in Sudan List, the Scrutinized Companies with Activities in the Iran Terrorism Sectors List, or the Scrutinized Companies that Boycott Israel List created pursuant to Sections 215.4725 and 215.473, Florida Statutes, and in the event such status changes, Contractor shall immediately notify the District. If Contractor is found to have submitted a false statement, has been placed on the Scrutinized Companies with Activities in Sudan List, the Scrutinized Companies with Activities in the Iran Terrorism Sectors List, or has been engaged in business operations in Cuba or Syria, or is now or in the future on the Scrutinized Companies that Boycott Israel List, or engaged in a boycott of Israel, the District may immediately terminate this Agreement.

SECTION 24. ANTI-HUMAN TRAFFICKING REQUIREMENTS. Contractor certifies, by acceptance of this Agreement, that neither it nor its principals utilize coercion for labor or services as defined in Section 787.06, *Florida Statutes*. Contractor agrees to execute the affidavit, in a form acceptable to the District, in compliance with Section 787.06(13), *Florida Statutes*.

[Signature page follows]

[Signature page to Agreement by and between Lake Deer Community Development District and Sparking Pools and Lights, LLC d/b/a Festive Glow for Holiday Lighting]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have executed this Agreement on the day and year first written above.

> LAKE DEER COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT Rennie Heatle Chairperson, Board of Supervisors

SPARKING POOLS AND LIGHTS, LLC D/B/A FESTIVE GLOW, a Florida limited liability company

By: Jeb Bennett

EXHIBIT A: Contractor's Proposal

EXHIBIT A Contractor's Proposal

Festive Glow

PROPOSAL

Checks payable to: Festive Glow 6333 SW 46th Drive Gainesville, FL. 32608 P: (561) 329-3356 Festive Glow Lighting.com



Residential • Commercial • Community Supplies • Installation • Removal FestiveGlow@outlook.com

Customer: Lake Deer CDD - Attn: Joel Blanco	Date: 10 / 06	/2025
Address: 3331 Pine Lily Avenue	City: Poinciana	Zip: 34759
Phone W: (407) 841-5524 C:	E-mail: jblanco@gmscfl.com	

Lake Deer - 2025 Holiday Lighting Proposal

Two main entrance monuments (Marigold Avenue & Cottontail Blvd; Marigold Avenue & Broadwing Blvd)

24" wreaths lit with warm white LED mini lights will be hung on the front two pillars of the entrance sign in the center median (2 per side; 4 per sign (double sided); 8 total). Wreaths will be adorned with a Red/Gold Nylon UV protected bow. Garland lit with warm white LED mini lights will be hung across top of entrance sign. Red/Gold UV protected Nylon bows will be hung at the top.

→ Cost - \$1,800/per sign (double sided) - (x 2 signs) = \$3,600



- *Marigold Avenue & Cottontail Blvd has power available, but needs an outlet installed before installation.
- * Marigold Avenue & Broadwing Blvd will utilize commercial grade battery operated materials

Amenity Center

Warm White LED C9 bulbs along the roof profile of the front, left, and right side (3 sides) of the amenity center. Two Red/Gold UV protected Nylon bows hung on either side of main entry sign. Six Palm trees will be trunk wrapped with warm white LED mini lights.



*Price includes design, lease of commercial grade products, installation, removal, and storage

→ Cost - \$3,860.00

Proposal Total - \$7,460.00

Festive Glow - Proposal

2024 Photos Thank you for the opportunity to earn your business!

Lake Deer - 2025 Holiday Lighting Proposal - Page 2 of 2 - Our Work

Festive Glow

Deposit Invoice – Invoice # 4178

Checks payable to: Festive Glow

6333 SW 46th Drive Gainesville, FL. 32608

P: (561) 329-3356

FestiveGlowLighting.com



Residential • Commercial • Community Supplies • Installation • Removal FestiveGlow@outlook.com

Customer: <u>Lake Deer CDD – Attn: Joel Blanco</u>	Date: <u>10</u> / <u>10</u>	_/2025
Address: 3331 Pine Lily Avenue	City: <u>Poinciana</u>	Zip:34759
Phone W: <u>(407) 841- 5524</u> C:	E-mail: <u>jblanco@gmscfl.com</u>	

Lake Deer - 2025 Holiday Lighting - 50% Deposit Invoice - Invoice # 4178

Two main entrance monuments (Marigold Avenue & Cottontail Blvd; Marigold Avenue & Broadwing Blvd)

24" wreaths lit with warm white LED mini lights will be hung on the front two pillars of the entrance sign in the center median (2 per side; 4 per sign (double sided); 8 total). Wreaths will be adorned with a Red/Gold Nylon UV protected bow. Garland lit with warm white LED mini lights will be hung across top of entrance sign. Red/Gold UV protected Nylon bows will be hung at the top.

\rightarrow Cost - \$1,800/per sign (double sided) - (x 2 signs) = \$3,600



*Marigold Avenue & Cottontail Blvd has power available, but needs an outlet installed before installation.

* Marigold Avenue & Broadwing Blvd will utilize commercial grade battery operated materials

Amenity Center

Warm White LED C9 bulbs along the roof profile of the front, left, and right side (3 sides) of the amenity center. Two Red/Gold UV protected Nylon bows hung on either side of main entry sign. Six Palm trees will be trunk wrapped with warm white LED mini lights.



*Price includes design, lease of commercial grade products, installation, removal, and storage

→ Cost - \$3,860.00

Accepted Proposal Total - \$7,460.00

50% Deposit - \$3,730.00 Due Immediately

Remaining Balance of \$3,730.00 due to completion of installation



CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE

DATE (MM/DD/YYYY) 10/10/2025

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

IMPORTANT: If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be

						ns and conditions of the ficate holder in lieu of su				uire an endorse	ement. A	s s	tatement on
PRODUCER			CONTACT THIMBLE https://support.thimble.com/										
		y Insurance Services,		Insura	ance S	Services	PHONE				FAX		
		West 4th Street, Suite	204				(A/C, No E-MAIL		ort@thimble	com	(A/C, No):		
		York, NY 10014	,				ADDRE						
'	nups	://support.thimble.com	I						. ,	RDING COVERAGE			NAIC #
							INSURE	RA: Nation	al Specialty I	nsurance Compa	any		22608
INSU		kling Pools and Lights	LLC DBA Festive	Glow			INSURE	RB:					
(6333	SW 46th Dr, Gainesvi					INSURE						
	Festi	veglow@outlook.com					INSURER D:						
							INSURE	RE:					
							INSURE	RF: https:/	/www.thimb	le.com/check-ړ	oolicy-sta	atus/	
CO	VER	RAGES	CER	TIFIC	CATE	NUMBER:				REVISION NUI	MBER:		
IN CI EX	IDIC/ ERTI	ATED. NOTWITHSTA FICATE MAY BE ISS	ANDING ANY REC	QUIRE RTAII POLI	EMEN N, THI CIES.	NCE LISTED BELOW HAVE T, TERM OR CONDITION OF E INSURANCE AFFORDED E LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE	ANY C	CONTRACT OF POLICIES DE REDUCED BY	R OTHER DOC SCRIBED HER PAID CLAIMS	UMENT WITH RE REIN IS SUBJECT	SPECT T	O WHIC	CH THIS
INSR LTR		TYPE OF INSUR	RANCE		SUBR WVD	POLICY NUMBER		POLICY EFF (MM/DD/YYYY)	POLICY EXP (MM/DD/YYYY)		LIMIT	s	
	Х	COMMERCIAL GENER	AL LIABILITY					09/18/2025	01/17/2026	EACH OCCURREN		\$	1,000,000
		CLAIMS-MADE	X OCCUR					12:00 AM	11:59 PM	DAMAGE TO RENT PREMISES (Ea occ		\$	100.000
		02,0						EDT	EST*	MED EXP (Any one		\$	5,000
Α				Υ	Υ	IBL-F3XDHHRTJC			See note	PERSONAL & ADV		\$	1,000,000
	CEN	I N'L AGGREGATE LIMIT A	ADDI IES DED:						on	GENERAL AGGRE		\$	1,000,000
	X	PRO-							expiration date below.			\$	1,000,000
	<u> </u>		LOC							PRODUCTS - COM	P/OP AGG	\$	1,000,000
	ALIT	OTHER:								COMBINED SINGLE	E LIMIT	\$	
	AU	1								(Ea accident)			
		ANY AUTO OWNED	SCHEDULED							BODILY INJURY (P		\$	
		AUTOS ONLY	AUTOS NON-OWNED							BODILY INJURY (P		\$	
		HIRED AUTOS ONLY	AUTOS ONLY							PROPERTY DAMA((Per accident)	JE	\$	
												\$	
		UMBRELLA LIAB	OCCUR							EACH OCCURREN	CE	\$	
		EXCESS LIAB	CLAIMS-MADE							AGGREGATE		\$	
		DED RETENTION	ON \$									\$	
		RKERS COMPENSATION EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY								PER STATUTE	OTH- ER		
	ANY	PROPRIETOR/PARTNER	VEXECUTIVE TIME							E.L. EACH ACCIDE		\$	
		ICER/MEMBER EXCLUDE ndatory in NH)	ED?	N/A						E.L. DISEASE - EA			
	If yes	s, describe under CRIPTION OF OPERATION	ONS below							E.L. DISEASE - PO		\$	
	DEG	ONI HONOI OI EIVAN	SIVO DCIOW							E.E. BIOLINGE TO	LIOT LIMIT	\$	
												\$	
												\$	
DES	CPIPT	TION OF OPERATIONS /	I OCATIONS / VEHIC	IFS (ACORD	 101, Additional Remarks Schedu	la may h	e attached if mo	re enace iereguir	ad)		\$	
	WARNING: THE GL POLICY IS NOT A COMPLETION BOND. IT PROVIDES COVERAGE FOR BODILY INJURY, PROPERTY DAMAGE, AND PERSONAL AND ADVERTISING INJURY. IT DOES NOT GUARANTEE THE COMPLETION OF WORK BY A CONTRACTOR. *Please note that the insured has purchased a monthly policy that will automatically extend upon												
											(0	on't on	form Acord 101)
CEI	RTIF	ICATE HOLDER					CANO	CELLATION					<u> </u>
		eer CDD					<u></u>						
3331 Pine Lily Avenue Poinciana, FL 34759			SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.										

© 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION. All rights reserved.

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

GENCY CUSTOMER ID:	F	Festiveglow@) (out	tlo	o	k.	СО	m

LOC #: 1



ADDITIONAL REMARKS SCHEDULE

Page 1 of 1

Verifly Insurance Services, LLC DBA Thimble Insurance	NAMED INSURED Sparkling Pools and Lights LLC DBA Festive Glow 6333 SW 46th Dr. Gainesville, FL, 32608		
POLICY NUMBER IBL-F3XDHHRTJC	Festiveglow@outlook.com		
RIER NAIC CODE lational Specialty Insurance Company 22608		EFFECTIVE DATE: 09/18/2025 12:00 AM EDT	

CARRIER	NAIC CODE					
National Specialty Insurance Company	22608	EFFECTIVE DATE: 09/18/2025 12:00 AM EDT				
ADDITIONAL REMARKS						
THIS ADDITIONAL REMARKS FORM IS A SCHEDULE TO ACORD FORM,						
FORM NUMBER: Acord 25 FORM TITLE: Certificate of Liability Insurance						
Description of Operations (con't)						

Certificate of Liability Insurance, evidencing such extension.

expiration of the policy if the insured pays the appropriate premium. At that time, you will receive a new

Episodic Coverage (THSN CG 02 03 02 21) for policy number IBL-F3XDHHRTJC until 01/17/2027 11:59 PM EST

ACORD 101 (2008/01)

DESIGNATED ADDITIONAL INSURED

This endorsement modifies insurance provided under the following:
COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY COVERAGE FORM
PROFESSIONAL LIABILITY COVERAGE FORM

SCHEDULE

Name of Designated Person or Organization (including its departments and attached agencies, its directors, officers, officials, employees, representatives and agents):

Any person(s) or organization(s) for whom you have agreed in writing in a contract or agreement that such person(s) or organization(s) be added as an additional insured on your policy.

E-Mail Address:

- A. SECTION II WHO IS AN INSURED is amended to include as an additional insured the person(s) or organization(s) shown in the SCHEDULE above, but only with respect to liability for "bodily injury", "property damage", "personal and advertising injury" or "wrongful acts" caused, in whole or in part, by your acts or omissions or the acts or omissions of those acting on your behalf:
 - 1. In the performance of your ongoing operations; or
 - 2. In connection with your premises owned by or rented to you.

However:

- 1. The insurance afforded to such additional insured only applies to the extent permitted by law; and
- 2. If coverage provided to the additional insured is required by a contract or agreement, the insurance afforded to such additional insured will not be broader than that which you are required by the contract or agreement to provide for such additional insured.
- **B.** With respect to the insurance afforded to these additional insureds, the following is added to **LIM-ITS OF INSURANCE** section of the coverage form

If coverage provided to the additional insured is required by a contract or agreement, the most we will pay on behalf of the additional insured is the amount of insurance:

- 1. Required by the contract or agreement; or
- 2. Available under the applicable limits of insurance shown in the Declarations;

whichever is less.

- **C.** If this policy is cancelled or nonrenewed for any reason, we will deliver notice of the cancellation or non-renewal to any Designated Person or Organization shown in the **SCHEDULE** above at the email address shown above.
- **D.** This endorsement shall not increase the applicable limits of insurance shown in the Declaration All other terms and conditions remain unchanged.

POLICY NUMBER: IBL-F3XDHHRTJC

THIS ENDORSEMENT CHANGES THE POLICY. PLEASE READ IT CAREFULLY.

WAIVER OF TRANSFER OF RIGHTS OF RECOVERY AGAINST OTHERS TO US (WAIVER OF SUBROGATION)

This endorsement modifies insurance provided under the following:

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY COVERAGE PART
ELECTRONIC DATA LIABILITY COVERAGE PART
LIQUOR LIABILITY COVERAGE PART
POLLUTION LIABILITY COVERAGE PART DESIGNATED SITES
POLLUTION LIABILITY LIMITED COVERAGE PART DESIGNATED SITES
PRODUCTS/COMPLETED OPERATIONS LIABILITY COVERAGE PART
RAILROAD PROTECTIVE LIABILITY COVERAGE PART
UNDERGROUND STORAGE TANK POLICY DESIGNATED TANKS

SCHEDULE

Name Of Person(s) Or Organization(s):

Any person(s) or organization(s) for whom you have agreed in writing in a contract or agreement that such person(s) or organization(s) be added as an additional insured on your policy.

Information required to complete this Schedule, if not shown above, will be shown in the Declarations.

The following is added to Paragraph 8. Transfer Of Rights Of Recovery Against Others To Us of Section IV – Conditions:

We waive any right of recovery against the person(s) or organization(s) shown in the Schedule above because of payments we make under this Coverage Part. Such waiver by us applies only to the extent that the insured has waived its right of recovery against such person(s) or organization(s) prior to loss. This endorsement applies only to the person(s) or organization(s) shown in the Schedule above.

DESIGNATED ADDITIONAL INSURED

This endorsement modifies insurance provided under the following:
COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY COVERAGE FORM
PROFESSIONAL LIABILITY COVERAGE FORM

SCHEDULE

Name of Designated Person or Organization (including its departments and attached agencies, its directors, officers, officials, employees, representatives and agents):

Lake Deer CDD

E-Mail Address:

jblanco@gmscfl.com

- A. SECTION II WHO IS AN INSURED is amended to include as an additional insured the person(s) or organization(s) shown in the SCHEDULE above, but only with respect to liability for "bodily injury", "property damage", "personal and advertising injury" or "wrongful acts" caused, in whole or in part, by your acts or omissions or the acts or omissions of those acting on your behalf:
 - 1. In the performance of your ongoing operations; or
 - 2. In connection with your premises owned by or rented to you.

However:

- 1. The insurance afforded to such additional insured only applies to the extent permitted by law; and
- 2. If coverage provided to the additional insured is required by a contract or agreement, the insurance afforded to such additional insured will not be broader than that which you are required by the contract or agreement to provide for such additional insured.
- **B.** With respect to the insurance afforded to these additional insureds, the following is added to **LIM-ITS OF INSURANCE** section of the coverage form

If coverage provided to the additional insured is required by a contract or agreement, the most we will pay on behalf of the additional insured is the amount of insurance:

- 1. Required by the contract or agreement; or
- **2.** Available under the applicable limits of insurance shown in the Declarations; whichever is less.
- **C.** If this policy is cancelled or nonrenewed for any reason, we will deliver notice of the cancellation or non-renewal to any Designated Person or Organization shown in the **SCHEDULE** above at the email address shown above.
- **D.** This endorsement shall not increase the applicable limits of insurance shown in the Declaration

All other terms and conditions remain unchanged.

PRIMARY AND NONCONTRIBUTORY – OTHER INSURANCE CONDITION

This endorsement modifies insurance provided under the following:

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY COVERAGE PART LIQUOR LIABILITY COVERAGE PART PRODUCTS/COMPLETED OPERATIONS LIABILITY COVERAGE PART

The following is added to the **Other Insurance** Condition and supersedes any provision to the contrary:

Primary And Noncontributory Insurance

This insurance is primary to and will not seek contribution from any other insurance available to an additional insured under your policy provided that:

(1) The additional insured is a Named Insured under such other insurance; and

(2) You have agreed in writing in a contract or agreement that this insurance would be primary and would not seek contribution from any other insurance available to the additional insured. POLICY NUMBER: IBL-F3XDHHRTJC

THIS ENDORSEMENT CHANGES THE POLICY. PLEASE READ IT CAREFULLY.

WAIVER OF TRANSFER OF RIGHTS OF RECOVERY AGAINST OTHERS TO US (WAIVER OF SUBROGATION)

This endorsement modifies insurance provided under the following:

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY COVERAGE PART
ELECTRONIC DATA LIABILITY COVERAGE PART
LIQUOR LIABILITY COVERAGE PART
POLLUTION LIABILITY COVERAGE PART DESIGNATED SITES
POLLUTION LIABILITY LIMITED COVERAGE PART DESIGNATED SITES
PRODUCTS/COMPLETED OPERATIONS LIABILITY COVERAGE PART
RAILROAD PROTECTIVE LIABILITY COVERAGE PART
UNDERGROUND STORAGE TANK POLICY DESIGNATED TANKS

SCHEDULE

Name Of Person(s) Or Organization(s): Lake Deer CDD
jblanco@gmscfl.com
Information was in the consolidation of the first shows the consolidation of the state of the st
Information required to complete this Schedule, if not shown above, will be shown in the Declarations.

The following is added to Paragraph 8. Transfer Of Rights Of Recovery Against Others To Us of Section IV – Conditions:

We waive any right of recovery against the person(s) or organization(s) shown in the Schedule above because of payments we make under this Coverage Part. Such waiver by us applies only to the extent that the insured has waived its right of recovery against such person(s) or organization(s) prior to loss. This endorsement applies only to the person(s) or organization(s) shown in the Schedule above.

SECTION X

SECTION B

SECTION 1





Sent Via Email: jburns@gmscfl.com

August 21, 2025

Ms. Jillian Burns, District Manager Lake Deer Community Development District c/o Governmental Management Services 219 East Livingston Street Orlando, Florida 32801

Subject: **Work Authorization 2026-1**

> **Lake Deer Community Development District District Engineering Services - FY 2026**

Polk County, Florida

Dear Ms. Burns:

Dewberry Engineers Inc. is pleased to submit this Work Authorization to provide general engineering services for the Lake Deer Community Development District (District). We will provide these services pursuant to our current agreement ("District Engineering Agreement") as follows.

I. **General Engineering Services**

The District will engage the services of Dewberry Engineers Inc. (Engineer) as District Engineer to perform those services as necessary, pursuant to the District Engineering Agreement, including attendance at Board of Supervisors meetings, review and approval of requisitions, or other activities as directed by the District's Board of Supervisors.

Our fee for this task will be based on time and materials, in accordance with the enclosed Schedule of Charges. The referenced Schedule of Charges is valid for fiscal year 2026 only. We estimate a budget of \$12,500, plus other direct costs.

II. **Other Direct Costs**

Other direct costs include items such as printing, drawings, travel, deliveries, et cetera. This does not include any of the application fees for the various agencies, which are the owner's responsibility and have not been accounted for in this proposal. We estimate a budget of \$100.

This Work Authorization, together with the referenced Engineering Agreement, represents the entire understanding between the District and the Engineer with regard to the referenced work authorization. If you wish to accept this work authorization, please sign where indicated and return one complete copy to Aimee Powell, Senior Office Administrator, in our Orlando office at 800 N. Magnolia Avenue, Suite 1000, Orlando, Florida 32803 (or via email at apowell@dewberry.com). Upon receipt, we will promptly schedule our services.

Ms. Jillian Burns Lake Deer CDD Work Authorization 2026-1 August 21, 2025

Thank you for choosing Dewberry Engineers Inc. We look forward to continuing to work with you and your staff.

Sincerely,

Joey V. Duncan, PE
Principal Engineer

Associate Vice President

JD:RM:ap
Q:\Lake Deer CDD_50137546\Adm\Correspondence\AAS\Lake Deer CDD FY 2026 District Engineering Services - 08-21-2025
Enclosures

APPROVED AND ACCEPTED

By:
Authorized Representative of
Lake Deer Community Development District

Date: _____



STANDARD HOURLY BILLING RATE SCHEDULE

Professional/Technical/Construction/Surveying Services

LABOR CLASSIFICATION	HOURLY RATES
Professional	
Engineer I, II, III	\$125.00, \$140.00, \$160.00
Engineer IV, V, VI	\$185.00, \$210.00, \$240.00
Engineer VII, VIII, IX	\$270.00, \$300.00, \$335.00
Environmental Specialist I, II, III	\$110.00, \$135.00, \$160.00
Senior Environmental Scientist IV, V, VI	\$175.00, \$195.00, \$220.00
Planner I, II, III	\$110.00, \$135.00, \$160.00
Senior Planner IV, V, VI	\$175.00, \$195.00, \$220.00
Landscape Designer I, II, III	\$110.00, \$135.00, \$160.00
Senior Landscape Architect IV, V, VI	\$175.00, \$195.00, \$220.00
Principal	\$375.00
Technical	
CADD Technician I, II, III, IV, V	\$90.00, \$110.00, \$130.00, \$145.00, \$190.00
Designer I, II, III	\$110.00, \$140.00, \$170.00
Designer IV, V, VI	\$190.00, \$210.00, \$245.00
Construction	
Construction Professional I, II, III	\$125.00, \$160.00, \$190.00
Construction Professional IV, V, VI, VII	\$225.00, \$255.00, \$305.00, \$340.00
Survey	
Surveyor I, II, III	\$70.00, \$85.00, \$110.00
Surveyor IV, V, VI	\$130.00, \$145.00, \$160.00
Surveyor VII, VIII, IX	\$180.00, \$210.00, \$255.00
Senior Surveyor IX	\$310.00
Fully Equipped 1, 2, 3 Person Field Crew	\$160.00, \$200.00, \$270.00
Administration	
Administrative Professional I, II, III, IV	\$72.00, \$105.00, \$125.00, \$155.00
Other Direct Costs (Printing, Postage, Etc.)	Cost + 15%

SECTION C

Lake Deer CDD

Field Management Report



October 15th, 2025
Joel Blanco
Field Manager
GMS

Site Item

Landscaping & Pond Review

- Field Staff has reviewed both landscaping and ponds throughout the district.
- Sabal Palms remain uniformed at both entrances and median on Cottontail Blvd.
- During review, both monument signs were found with mildew stains.
 Maintenance has since pressure washed both signs.
- Pond remain clear and free heavy weeds with minor pond cleanings completed addressing debris from the ongoing construction sites.
- Midge activity has significantly declined since the vendor started applying the larvicide treatment on all the ponds.
- Beware of Alligator signs have been installed in all (13) locations throughout



Site Item

Landscaping & Pond Review Cont'd









Site Item

Amenity Review

Field Staff has conducted reviews of the district amenities.

Pool motor was repaired around the last meeting and has been functioning smoothly since then.

Pool area,
playground, and dog
parks were found
consistently mowed,
clean and
maintained for
resident use.

During reviews, staff identified (2) holes in the dog park. Both holes were filled in.

Several gate handles were found bent and have been straightened.

Minor bathroom



Completed

Maintenance Items

Field Staff has noted and completed several maintenance items during reviews.

Several
damaged sidewalks
were noted at the
entrance of Cottontail
Blvd. and corner of
Swallowtail Ave.
Both areas were
repaired.

(10) Panels of PVC fence were noted down from recent storms. Maintenance has since repaired all sections.

(4) Street signs were found leaning and have since been



Conclusion

For any questions or comments regarding the above information, please contact me by phone at 786-238-9473, or by email at jblanco@gmscfl.com. Thank you.

Respectfully,

Joel Blanco

SECTION D

SECTION 1

Community Development District

Summary of Check Register

August 1, 2025 to September 30, 2025

Bank	Date	Check No.'s	Amount
General Fund			
	8/6/25	462-466	\$ 22,461.03
	8/21/25	467-470	\$ 9,025.78
	9/24/25	471-476	\$ 27,636.23
			\$ 59,123.04
		Total Amount	\$ 59,123.04

PAGE 1

AP300R *** CHECK NOS. 000462-000476 YEAR-TO-DATE ACCOUNTS PAYABLE PREPAID/COMPUTER CHECK REGISTER RUN 10/06/25 LAKE DEER CDD GENERAL FUND

cillett 1005.	300102 000170	BANK A GENERAL	FUND			
CHECK VEND# DATE	INVOICEEXPENSED TO. DATE INVOICE YRMO DPT ACCT	 ‡ SUB SUBCLASS	VENDOR NAME	STATUS	AMOUNT	CHECK AMOUNT #
8/06/25 00067	5/27/25 19722 202505 320-53800 LAKE MAINTENANCE MAY25	0-47000		*	1,400.00	
	6/30/25 19825 202506 320-53800 LAKE MAINTENANCE JUN25	0-47000		*	1,400.00	
	7/25/25 20077 202507 320-53800	0-47000		*	1,400.00	
	LAKE MAINTENANCE JUL25	AQUATIC WEE	D MANAGEMENT, INC			4,200.00 000462
9/06/25 00060					930.00	
0/00/25 00000	CLEANING SVCS MAY25	7 10200				
	6/25/25 15338-A 202505 330-57200 ADDITIONAL DOGGIE BAGS			*	10.00	
	6/25/25 15338-B 202506 330-57200 CLEANING SVCS JUN25			*	900.00	
	7/24/25 15576-A 202506 330-57200			*	20.00	
	ADDITIONAL DOGGIE BAGS 7/24/25 15576-B 202507 330-57200	0-48200		*	900.00	
	CLEANING SVCS JUL25	CSS CLEAN S'	TAR SERVICES OF CENTR	RAL		2,760.00 000463
8/06/25 00056					2,600.00	
0,00,23 00030	POOL MAINTENANCE JUN25			4	,	
	7/01/25 28078 202507 330-57200 POOL MAINTENANCE JUL25			*	2,600.00	
		MCDONNELL C	ORPORATION DBA RESORT	[5,200.00 000464
8/06/25 00048	6/20/25 18575 202506 320-53800 LABOR/REPLC BROKN SPRAYS	0-47300		*	238.52	
	7/01/25 18780 202507 320-53800			*	7,032.00	
	LANDSCAPE MAINT JUL25	PRINCE & SO	NS, INC.			7,270.52 000465
8/06/25 00050	8/05/25 08052025 202508 300-15500			*	3.030.51	
	PLAYGROUND LEASE-SEP25				•	2 020 51 000466
			, шс 			3,030.51 000466
8/21/25 00001	8/01/25 88 202508 320-53800 FIELD MANAGEMENT-AUG25	0-34000		*	1,250.00	
	8/01/25 89 202508 310-51300 MANAGMENT FEES-AUG25			*	3,541.67	
	8/01/25 89 202508 310-51300 WEBSITE MANAGEMENT-AUG2	0-35200		*	105.00	
	8/01/25 89 202508 310-51300)-35100		*	157.50	
	INFORMATION TECH-AUG25 8/01/25 89 202508 310-51300 DISSEMINATION SVCS-AUG29			*	463.72	

LKDR LAKE DEER HHENRY

YEAR-TO-DATE ACCOUNTS PAYABLE PREPAID/COMPUTER CHECK REGISTER RUN 10/06/25 PAGE 2 LAKE DEER CDD GENERAL FUND BANK A GENERAL FUND

	Б	ANK A GENERAL FOND			
CHECK VEND# DATE	INVOICEEXPENSED TO DATE INVOICE YRMO DPT ACCT#	VENDOR NAME SUB SUBCLASS		AMOUNT	CHECK AMOUNT #
	8/01/25 89 202508 330-57200-	48300	*	1,041.67	
	AMENITY ACCESS MGMT-AUG25 8/01/25 89 202508 310-51300-		*	4.00	
	OFFICE SUPPLIES 8/01/25 89 202508 310-51300-	42000	*	43.56	
	POSTAGE	GOVERNMENTAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES-C	CF .		6,607.12 000467
	8/08/25 12877 202507 310-51300-		*	1,297.86	
	ATTORNEY SVCS-JUL25	KILINSKI VAN WYK PLLC		•	1,297.86 000468
8/21/25 00069	6/30/25 97760 202506 330-57200-	34500	*	223.60	
	SECURITY SER-06/23-06/29 7/28/25 98151 202507_330-57200-	34500	*	447.20	
	SECURITY SER-07/21-07/27	NATION SECURITY SERVICES LLC			670.80 000469
8/21/25 00048	7/15/25 19047 202507 330-57200-	49000	*	450.00	
	FILL HOLES IN DOG PARK	PRINCE & SONS, INC.			450.00 000470
9/24/25 00013	8/21/25 22459776 202507 310-51300- ENGINEERING SVCS-JUL25	31100	*	1,065.00	
	ENGINEERING SVCS-JUL25	DEWBERRY ENGINEERS INC.			1,065.00 000471
9/24/25 00003	9/18/25 29521 202509 300-15500- FY26 INSURANCE POLICY	10000	*	15,947.00	
	FIZO INSURANCE POLICI	EGIS INSURANCE ADVISORS, LLC			15,947.00 000472
9/24/25 00042	8/31/25 00073029 202508 310-51300-	48000	*	292.19	
	NOT OF BOS MTG-8/13/25	GANNETT MEDIA CORP DBA GANNETT			292.19 000473
	9/01/25 96 202509 320-53800-	34000		1,250.00	
	FIELD MANAGEMENT-SEP25 9/01/25 97 202509 310-51300-	34000	*	3,541.67	
	9/01/25 97 202509 310-51300-	35200	*	105.00	
	WEBSITE MANAGEMENT-SEP25 9/01/25 97 202509 310-51300-	35100	*	157.50	
	INFORMATION TECH-SEP-25 9/01/25 97 202509 310-51300-	31300	*	463.72	
	DISSEMINATION SVCS-SEP25 9/01/25 97 202509 330-57200- AMENITY ACCESS MGMT	48300	*	1,041.67	

LKDR LAKE DEER HHENRY AP300R *** CHECK NOS. 000462-000476

YEAR-TO-DATE ACCOUNTS PAYABLE PREPAID/COMPUTER CHECK REGISTER RUN 10/06/25 LAKE DEER CDD GENERAL FUND

PAGE 3

BANK A GENERAL FUND

CHECK VEND# DATE	INVOICEEXPENSED TO DATE INVOICE YRMO DPT ACCT# S	VENDOR SUB SUBCLASS	NAME ST	TATUS	AMOUNT	CHECK
	9/01/25 97 202509 310-51300-5 OFFICE SUPPLIES	51000		*	3.04	
	9/01/25 97 202509 310-51300-4 POSTAGE	12000		*	13.37	
	TODINGE	GOVERNMENTAL MANAG	EMENT SERVICES-CF			6,575.97 000474
9/24/25 00006	9/14/25 13132 202508 310-51300-3 ATTORNEY SVCS-AUG25	31500		*	725.82	
	1121012121 5005 110020	KILINSKI VAN WYK P	LLC			725.82 000475
9/24/25 00050	9/01/25 09012025 202509 300-15500-1 PLAYGROUND LEASE-OCT25	10000		*	3,030.25	
		THM LEASING, LLC				3,030.25 000476
			TOTAL FOR BANK A	5	9,123.04	
			TOTAL FOR REGISTER	5	9,123.04	

LKDR LAKE DEER

HHENRY

SECTION 2

Community Development District

Unaudited Financial Reporting August 31, 2025



Table of Contents

Balance Sheet	1
General Fund	2-3
Debt Service Fund Series 2022	4
Capital Project Fund Series 2022	5
Month to Month	6-7
Long Term Debt Report	8
Assessment Receipt Schedule	9

Community Development District Combined Balance Sheet August 31, 2025

	General	Debt Service	Capital Project		Totals
	Fund	Fund	Fund	(Governmental Funds
Assets:					
Cash:					
Operating Account-Wells Fargo	\$ 276,264	\$ -	\$ -	\$	276,264
Due from Developer	-	-	-		-
Due from General Fund	-	5,422	-		5,422
Investments:					
<u>Series 2022</u>					
Reserve	-	270,238	-		270,238
Revenue	-	730,294	-		730,294
Prepayment	-	494	-		494
Construction	-	-	588		588
Prepaid Expenses	3,031	-	-		3,031
Total Assets	\$ 279,295	\$ 1,006,447	\$ 588	\$	1,286,331
Liabilities:					
Accounts Payable	\$ 21,722	\$ -	\$ -	\$	21,722
Accrued Expenses	-	-	-		-
Retainage Payable	-	-	-		-
Due to Debt Service	5,422	-	-		5,422
Total Liabilites	\$ 27,144	\$ -	\$ -	\$	27,144
Fund Balance:					
Nonspendable:					
Prepaid Items	\$ 3,031	\$ -	\$ -	\$	3,031
Restricted for:					
Debt Service	-	1,006,447	-		1,006,447
Capital Project			588		588
Assigned for:					
Unassigned	249,120	-	-		249,120
Total Fund Balances	\$ 252,151	\$ 1,006,447	\$ 588	\$	1,259,186
Total Liabilities & Fund Balance	\$ 279,295	\$ 1,006,447	\$ 588	\$	1,286,331

Community Development District

General Fund

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance

		Adopted	Pro	rated Budget		Actual		
		Budget		u 08/31/25	Thr	ru 08/31/25		Variance
Revenues:								
Special Assessments - Tax Roll	\$	477,399	\$	477,399	\$	479,238	\$	1,839
Interest Income	•	-	,	-	,	-	•	-
Total Revenues	\$	477,399	\$	477,399	\$	479,238	\$	1,839
		177,077		111,022	4	177,200	Ψ	2,007
Expenditures:								
General & Administrative:								
Supervisor Fees	\$	12,000	\$	11,000	\$	2,800	\$	8,200
FICA Expense		-		-		153		(153
Engineering		12,500		11,458		4,016		7,442
Attorney		25,000		22,917		7,618		15,299
Annual Audit		6,000		5,500		5,800		(300
Assessment Administration		5,250		4,813		5,250		(438
Arbitrage Rebate		450		413		450		(38
Dissemination Agent		5,565		5,101		5,801		(700
Trustee Fees		4,500		4,125		-		4,125
Management Fees		42,500		38,958		38,958		(0
Information Technology		1,890		1,733		1,733		-
Website Maintenance		1,260		1,155		1,155		-
Postage & Delivery		1,000		917		1,426		(509)
Insurance General Liability		6,429		5,893		6,435		(542)
Printing & Binding		500		458		4		455
Legal Advertising		2,500		2,292		3,487		(1,195
Administrative Contingency		2,000		1,833		607		1,226
Office Supplies		625		573		24		549
Dues, Licenses & Subscriptions		175		160		175		(15
Total General & Administrative	\$	130,144	\$	119,298	\$	85,891	\$	33,407
Operations & Maintenance								
Field Expenditures								
Property Insurance	\$	10,000	\$	10,000	\$	8,878	\$	1,122
Field Management	•	15,000	,	13,750	•	13,750	•	-,
Landscape Maintenancce		55,580		50,948		77,352		(26,404
Landscape Replacement		10,000		9,167		7,675		1,492
Lake Maintenance		12,600		11,550		14,450		(2,900
Streetlights		45,000		41,250		22,218		19,032
Electric		3,500		3,208		255		2,954
Water & Sewer		10,000						2,954 (17,241
Sidewalk & Asphalt Maintenance				9,167		26,407		•
•		2,500		2,292		1 5 6 0		2,292
Irrigation Repairs		7,500		6,875		1,560		5,315
General Repairs & Maintenance Field Contingency		15,000 7,500		13,750 6,875		2,438 43,164		11,312 (36,289)

Community Development District

General Fund

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance

	Adopted	Pror	ated Budget		Actual	
	Budget	Thr	u 08/31/25	Thr	u 08/31/25	Variance
Amenity Expenditures						
Amenity - Electric	\$ 14,400	\$	13,200	\$	13,150	\$ 50
Amenity - Water	4,500		4,125		13,079	(8,954)
Playground Lease	36,375		33,344		33,336	8
Internet	2,500		2,292		805	1,487
Pest Control	1,300		1,192		920	272
Janitorial Services	15,000		13,750		8,843	4,907
Security Services	34,000		31,167		14,953	16,214
Pool Maintenance	15,000		13,750		26,848	(13,098)
Amenity Management	12,500		11,458		11,458	(0)
Amenity Repairs & Maintenance	10,000		9,167		-	9,167
Amenity Contingency	7,500		6,875		4,141	2,734
Capital Outlay	-		-		57,406	(57,406)
Total Amenity Expenditures	\$ 153,075	\$	140,319	\$	184,938	\$ (44,619)
Total Operations & Maintenance	\$ 347,255	\$	319,150	\$	403,086	\$ (83,935)
Total Expenditures	\$ 477,399	\$	438,449	\$	488,976	\$ (50,528)
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues over Expenditures	\$ -	\$	38,950	\$	(9,739)	\$ (48,689)
Other Financing Sources/(Uses):						
Lease Proceeds	\$ -	\$	-	\$	-	\$ -
Total Other Financing Sources/(Uses)	\$ -	\$	-	\$	-	\$ -
Net Change in Fund Balance	\$	\$	38,950	\$	(9,739)	\$ (48,689)
Fund Balance - Beginning	\$ -			\$	261,889	
Fund Balance - Ending	\$ -			\$	252,151	

Community Development District

Debt Service Fund Series 2022

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance

	Adopted		Proi	Prorated Budget		Actual	
		Budget	Thr	u 08/31/25	Th	ru 08/31/25	Variance
Revenues:							
Assessments - On Roll	\$	636,656	\$	636,656	\$	639,026	\$ 2,370
Assessments - Prepayments		-		-		1,236,255	1,236,255
Assessments - Lot Closing		-		-		-	-
Interest Income		90,784		83,218		58,601	(24,617)
Total Revenues	\$	727,439	\$	719,874	\$	1,933,882	\$ 1,214,008
Expenditures:							
Interest - 11/1	\$	249,303	\$	249,303	\$	249,303	\$ -
Special Call - 11/1		-		-		10,000	(10,000)
Special Call - 2/1		-		-		1,335,000	(1,335,000)
Interest - 2/1		-		-		18,267	(18,267)
Principal - 5/1		135,000		135,000		115,000	20,000
Interest - 5/1		249,303		249,303		212,506	36,797
Special Call - 5/1		-		-		15,000	(15,000)
Total Expenditures	\$	633,606	\$	633,606	\$	1,955,077	\$ (1,321,470)
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues over Expenditures	\$	93,833	\$	86,268	\$	(21,195)	\$ (107,462)
Other Financing Sources/(Uses):							
Transfer In/(Out)	\$	-	\$	-	\$	(270,664)	\$ (270,664)
Total Other Financing Sources/(Uses)	\$	-	\$	-	\$	(270,664)	\$ (270,664)
Net Change in Fund Balance	\$	93,833	\$	86,268	\$	(291,859)	\$ (378,126)
Fund Balance - Beginning	\$	249,601			\$	1,298,306	
Fund Balance - Ending	\$	343,434			\$	1,006,447	

Community Development District

Capital Projects Fund Series 2022

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance

	Adopted		Prorate	Prorated Budget		Actual	
	Budget		Thru 0	8/31/25	Thr	ru 08/31/25	Variance
Revenues							
Developer Contribution	\$	-	\$	-	\$	15,907	\$ 15,907
Interest Income	\$	-	\$	-	\$	1,263	\$ 1,263
Total Revenues	\$	-	\$	-	\$	17,170	\$ 17,170
Expenditures:							
Capital Outlay	\$	-	\$	-	\$	287,302	\$ (287,302)
Total Expenditures	\$	-	\$	-	\$	287,302	\$ (287,302)
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues over Expenditures	\$	-	\$	-	\$	(270,132)	\$ (270,132)
Other Financing Sources/(Uses)							
Transfer In/(Out)	\$	-	\$	-	\$	270,664	\$ 270,664
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)	\$	-	\$	-	\$	270,664	\$ 270,664
Net Change in Fund Balance	\$	-	\$		\$	532	\$ 532
Fund Balance - Beginning	\$	-			\$	57	
Fund Balance - Ending	\$	-			\$	588	

Lake Deer

Community Development District

Month to Month

	Oct	Nov	Dec	Jan	Feb	March	April	May	June	July	Aug	Sept	Total
Revenues:													
Special Assessments - Tax Roll	\$ (5,133) \$	106,556	\$ 364,127 \$	954 \$	2,676 \$	973 \$	2,960 \$	2,060 \$	4,066 \$	- \$	- \$	- \$	479,238
Interest Income	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Total Revenues	\$ (5,133) \$	106,556	\$ 364,127 \$	954 \$	2,676 \$	973 \$	2,960 \$	2,060 \$	4,066 \$	- \$	- \$	- \$	479,238
Expenditures:													
General & Administrative:													
Supervisor Fees	\$ - \$	800	- \$	- \$	- \$	800 \$	600 \$	- \$	- \$	600 \$	- \$	- \$	2,800
FICA Expense	-	-	-	-	-	61	46	-	-	46	-	-	153
Engineering	-	650	-	-	759	-	673	180	690	1,065	-	-	4,016
Attorney	155	565	248	280	1,765	449	1,109	598	426	1,298	726	-	7,618
Annual Audit	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	5,800	-	-	-	-	5,800
Assessment Administration	5,250	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	5,250
Arbitrage Rebate	-	450	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	450
Dissemination Agent	564	464	464	964	464	464	564	464	464	464	464	-	5,801
Trustee Fees	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Management Fees	3,542	3,542	3,542	3,542	3,542	3,542	3,542	3,542	3,542	3,542	3,542	-	38,958
Information Technology	158	158	158	158	158	158	158	158	158	158	158	-	1,733
Website Maintenance	105	105	105	105	105	105	105	105	105	105	105	-	1,155
Postage & Delivery	97	54	102	234	60	79	51	201	471	33	44	-	1,426
Insurance General Liability	5,981	-	-	-	-	-	-	454	-	-	-	-	6,435
Printing & Binding	-	-	-	-	-	4	-	-	-	-	-	-	4
Legal Advertising	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	3,194	-	292	-	3,487
Administrative Contingency	59	71	56	56	79	49	107	64	67	-	-	-	607
Office Supplies	3	1	4	1	1	3	2	3	1	0	4	-	24
Dues, Licenses & Subscriptions	175	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	175
Total General & Administrative	\$ 16,088 \$	6,859	\$ 4,678 \$	5,338 \$	6,931 \$	5,713 \$	6,955 \$	11,569 \$	9,118 \$	7,310 \$	5,333 \$	- \$	85,891

Lake Deer

Community Development District

Month to Month

		Oct		Nov	Dec		Jan	Feb	Ma	rch	April		May	June		July		Aug		Sept		Total
Operations & Maintenance																						
Field Expenditures																						
Property Insurance	\$	8,878	\$	- \$	-	\$	- \$	-	\$	- \$	-	\$	- \$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	8,878
Field Management		1,250	1,	250	1,250	1	,250	1,250	1,2	50	1,250		1,250	1,250		1,250		1,250		-		13,750
Landscape Maintenancce		7,032		032	7,032	7	,032	7,032	7,0		7,032		7,032	7,032		7,032		7,032		-		77,352
Landscape Replacement		-		600	-		-	-		75	1,000		-	-		-		-		-		7,675
Lake Maintenance		1,050	1,	050	1,050	1	,050	1,050	2,2	00	1,400		1,400	1,400		1,400		1,400		-		14,450
Streetlights		-		-	-		-	-			7,359		3,715	3,715		3,715		3,715		-		22,218
Electric		21		21	21		23	-		45	22		22	22		28		29		-		255
Water & Sewer		2,718	2,	642	5,273	2	,408	5,707	3,1	43	898		405	653		712		1,849		-		26,407
Sidewalk & Asphalt Maintenance		-		-	-		-	-			-		-	-		-		-		-		-
Irrigation Repairs		109		80	231		-	297			605		-	239		-		-		-		1,560
General Repairs & Maintenance		-		-	-	1	,403	-			-		-	-		-		1,035		-		2,438
Field Contingency		-	10,	534	-		-	25,228			-		420	-		-		6,982		-		43,164
Total Field Expenditures	\$	21,058	\$ 29,	209 \$	14,857	\$ 13	,166 \$	40,564	\$ 13,7	45 \$	19,566	\$	14,244 \$	14,311	\$	14,137	\$ 2	3,293	\$	-	\$	218,147
Amenity Expenditures																						
Amenity - Electric	\$		\$ 1.	421 \$		\$ 2	,734 \$	_	\$ 2.5	88 \$	1,332	¢	1,222 \$	1,456	¢	1,242	¢	1,156	¢	_	\$	13,150
Amenity - Water	Ψ		Ψ 1,	,721 J	1,258		,580	1,320	2,1		1,956	Ψ	1,428	1,024	Ψ	1,093		1,270	Ψ	_	Ψ	13,079
Playground Lease		3,031	3	031	3,031		,031	3,031	3,0		3,031		3,031	3,031		3,031		3,031		-		33,336
Internet		85	3,	-	160	3	80	-		60	80		80	80		80		-				805
Pest Control		-		110	90		90	90		90	90		90	90		90		90		_		920
Janitorial Services		_		659	800		944	910		30	920		940	920		900		920		_		8,843
Security Services		_		-	-		-	-	3,4		1,971		6,232	1,685		1,462		120		_		14,953
Pool Maintenance		848	2.	600	2.600	2	.600	2.600	2.6		2.600		2,600	2,600		2.600		2.600		_		26,848
Amenity Management		1,042		042	1,042		,042	1.042	1,0		1,042		1,042	1,042		1,042		1,042		_		11,458
Amenity Repairs & Maintenance		-,	-,	-	-		-	-,	-,-		-,		-,	-,		-,		-,		_		,
Amenity Contingency		2,756		_	-		_	-	1	60	775		-	_		450		_		_		4,141
Capital Outlay		-		-	57,406			-			-		-	-		-						57,406
- · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·																						
Total Amenity Expenditures	\$	7,761	\$ 8,	862 \$	66,386	\$ 12	,100 \$	8,993	\$ 16,2	32 \$	13,797	\$	16,663 \$	11,927	\$	11,989	\$ 1	0,228	\$	-	\$	184,938
Total Operations & Maintenance	\$	28,819	\$ 38,	071 \$	81,243	\$ 25	,265 \$	49,556	\$ 29,9	77 \$	33,362	\$	30,908 \$	26,238	\$	26,126	\$ 3	3,521	\$	-	\$	403,086
Total Expenditures	\$	44,906	\$ 44,	929 \$	85,921	\$ 30	,604 \$	56,488	\$ 35,6	90 \$	40,317	\$	42,476 \$	35,355	\$	33,435	\$ 3	8,854	\$	-	\$	488,976
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues over Expenditures	\$ ((50,040)	\$ 61,	627 \$	278,206	\$ (29	,650) \$	(53,812)	\$ (34,7	17) \$	(37,358)	\$	(40,417) \$	(31,290)	\$	(33,435)	\$ (3	8,854)	\$	•	\$	(9,739)
Other Financing Sources/Uses:																						
Lease Proceeds	\$	-	\$	- \$	-	\$	- \$	-	\$	- \$	-	\$	- \$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-
Total Other Financing Sources/Uses	\$	-	\$	- \$	-	\$	- \$	-	\$	- \$	-	\$	- \$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-

Community Development District

Long Term Debt Report

Series 2022	2, Special Assessment Revenue Bonds							
Maturity Date:	5/1/53							
Optional Redemption Date:	5/1/37 Max Annual Debt Service							
Reserve Fund Definition								
Reserve Fund Requirement	\$270,238							
Reserve Fund Balance	270,238							
Bonds Outstanding - 08/24/2022	\$	17,750,000						
Special Call - 11/01/23	\$	(1,955,000)						
Special Call - 02/01/24	\$	(3,520,000)						
Principal Payment - 05/01/24	\$	(175,000)						
Special Call - 05/01/24	\$	(1,635,000)						
Special Call - 08/01/24	\$	(1,360,000)						
Special Call - 11/01/24	\$	(10,000)						
Special Call- 02/01/25	\$	(1,335,000)						
Principal Payment - 05/01/25	\$	(115,000)						
Special Call- 05/01/25	\$	(15,000)						
Current Bonds Outstanding	\$	7,630,000						

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

Special Assessment Receipts - Polk County

Fiscal Year 2025

NOLL ACCECCMENTS

Gross Assessments \$ 513,333.82 \$ 684,576.03 \$ 1,197,909.85 Net Assessments \$ 477,400.45 \$ 636,655.71 \$ 1,114,056.16

1	N	١	J	R	n	I (L	Δ	16	3	3	FS	5	Λ	1	FI	V	7	٦(١

							allocation in %	42.85%	57.1	5%	100.00%
Date	Distribution	635118.76	Gross Amount	Commissions	Discount/Penalty	Interest	Net Receipts	O&M Portion	2022 Deb	t Service	Total
10/28/24	CHK#335	1 % Fee	(\$11,979.10)	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	(\$11,979.10)	\$ (5,133.34)	\$ (6,845.76)	\$ (11,979.10)
11/26/24	ACH	11/8-11/15/24	\$189,573.61	(\$3,639.83)	(\$7,582.28)	\$0.00	\$178,351.50	\$ 76,428.00	\$ 10	1,923.50	\$ 178,351.50
11/26/24	ACH	11/8-11/15/24	\$74,731.44	(\$1,434.84)	(\$2,989.56)	\$0.00	\$70,307.04	\$ 30,128.30	\$ 4	0,178.74	\$ 70,307.04
12/06/24	ACH	11/16-11/26/24	\$306,291.82	(\$5,880.80)	(\$12,251.61)	\$0.00	\$288,159.41	\$ 123,483.39	\$ 16	4,676.02	\$ 288,159.41
12/06/24	ACH	11/16-11/26/24	\$322,946.58	(\$6,200.55)	(\$12,918.88)	\$0.00	\$303,827.15	\$ 130,197.40	\$ 17	3,629.75	\$ 303,827.15
12/20/24	ACH	11/27-11/30/24	\$36,476.06	(\$700.34)	(\$1,459.19)	\$0.00	\$34,316.53	\$ 14,705.48	\$ 1	9,611.05	\$ 34,316.53
12/20/24	ACH	11/27-11/30/24	\$59,516.42	(\$1,142.72)	(\$2,380.46)	\$0.00	\$55,993.24	\$ 23,994.48	\$ 3	1,998.76	\$ 55,993.24
12/27/24	ACH	12/01-12/15/24	\$110,323.12	(\$2,118.50)	(\$4,398.14)	\$0.00	\$103,806.48	\$ 44,483.63	\$ 5	9,322.85	\$ 103,806.48
12/27/24	ACH	12/01-12/15/24	\$67,614.16	(\$1,298.36)	(\$2,695.94)	\$0.00	\$63,619.86	\$ 27,262.67	\$ 3	6,357.19	\$ 63,619.86
01/10/25	ACH	12/16-12/31/24	\$1,451.62	(\$28.16)	(\$43.54)	\$0.00	\$1,379.92	\$ 591.33	\$	788.59	\$ 1,379.92
01/10/25	ACH	12/16-12/31/24	\$889.66	(\$17.26)	(\$26.69)	\$0.00	\$845.71	\$ 362.41	\$	483.30	\$ 845.71
02/03/25	ACH	Interest	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$970.01	\$970.01	\$ 415.67	\$	554.34	\$ 970.01
02/03/25	ACH	Interest	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$730.83	\$730.83	\$ 313.18	\$	417.65	\$ 730.83
02/10/25	ACH	01/01-01/31/25	\$2,961.30	(\$57.48)	(\$87.09)	\$0.00	\$2,816.73	\$ 1,207.04	\$	1,609.69	\$ 2,816.73
02/10/25	ACH	01/01-01/31/25	\$1,814.91	(\$35.23)	(\$53.37)	\$0.00	\$1,726.31	\$ 739.77	\$	986.54	\$ 1,726.31
03/07/25	ACH	02/01-02/28/25	\$1,451.61	(\$28.74)	(\$14.52)	\$0.00	\$1,408.35	\$ 603.51	\$	804.84	\$ 1,408.35
03/07/25	ACH	02/01-02/28/25	\$889.66	(\$17.62)	(\$8.90)	\$0.00	\$863.14	\$ 369.88	\$	493.26	\$ 863.14
04/11/25	ACH	03/01-03/31/25	\$2,668.98	(\$53.38)	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$2,615.60	\$ 1,120.85	\$	1,494.75	\$ 2,615.60
04/11/25	ACH	03/01-03/31/25	\$4,354.86	(\$87.10)	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$4,267.76	\$ 1,828.84	\$	2,438.92	\$ 4,267.76
04/30/25	ACH	03/01-03/31/25	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$8.75	\$8.75	\$ 3.75	\$	5.00	\$ 8.75
04/30/25	ACH	03/01-03/31/25	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$14.27	\$14.27	\$ 6.12	\$	8.15	\$ 14.27
05/09/25	ACH	04/01-04/30/25	\$2,930.50	(\$59.81)	\$0.00	\$59.82	\$2,930.51	\$ 1,289.98	\$	1,640.53	\$ 2,930.51
05/09/25	ACH	04/01-04/30/25	\$1,832.70	(\$36.65)	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$1,796.05	\$ 769.65	\$	1,026.40	\$ 1,796.05
06/13/25	ACH	05/01-05/30/25	\$4,485.47	(\$89.71)	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$4,395.76	\$ 1,883.69	\$	2,512.07	\$ 4,395.76
06/13/25	ACH	05/01-05/30/25	\$2,749.05	(\$54.98)	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$2,694.07	\$ 1,154.48	\$	1,539.59	\$ 2,694.07
06/23/25	ACH	Tax Receipt	\$1,516.96	(\$30.34)	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$1,486.62	\$ 637.05	\$	849.57	\$ 1,486.62
06/23/25	ACH	Tax Receipt	\$929.69	(\$18.59)	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$911.10	\$ 390.43	\$	520.67	\$ 911.10
							·				
		TOTAL	\$ 1,186,421.08	\$ (23,030.99)	\$ (46,910.17)	\$ 1,783.68	\$ 1,118,263.60	\$ 479,237.64	\$ 63	9,025.96	\$ 1,118,263.60

Net Percent Collected	100.38%	
Balance Remaining to Collect	0	